DISSERTATION

THE COLORADO GOLF CARBON PROJECT

Submitted by

Katrina Gillette

Department of Horticulture and Landscape Architecture

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Fall 2014

Doctoral Committee:

Advisor: Yaling Qian Co-Advisor: Ronald Follett

Stephen Delgrosso Anthony Koski Rich Conant Copyright by Katrina Gillette 2014

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

THE COLORADO GOLF CARBON PROJECT

There is concern regarding the rise of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and the impending effects of global climate change. Soils are the largest pool of C on earth with small changes having potentially significant effects on atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO₂) concentrations. Soil emits a substantial portion of nitrous oxide (N₂O), and is an important sink for balancing atmospheric methane (CH₄) through microbial oxidation. Anthropogenic management of soil is therefore critical in mitigating the effect of climate change by increasing biological sinks and reducing GHG emissions. Due to recent rapid urban expansion and the common use of turfgrass as ground cover and its associated management, these areas are becoming increasingly important for regional accounting of GHG budgets. Golf courses in particular are important economical green spaces that are intensively managed with common practices that include frequent irrigation, mowing and fertilization. Such management practices increase biogeochemical cycling of C and N fine quality turfgrass system and may therefore help mitigate atmospheric CO_2 through increase soil organic carbon (SOC) sequestration. However, intensive management of turfgrass may also increase emissions of N₂O and reduce CH₄ oxidation potentials, and therefore it is critical to have a complete account of GHG fluxes in the system.

The objective of this dissertation was to estimate the carbon balance of golf courses using a multifaceted approach that included survey data, ecosystem modelling of C and N dynamics in turfgrass, and a two year field study measuring trace gas fluxes from a golf course using different urea fertilizers. Survey information was collected from Colorado golf courses regarding energy use from clubhouses, management facilities, and fertilizer and irrigation management, and land use. Further calculations were made from published literature for fertilizer production, N₂O emissions and C offsets through SOC sequestration in regards to land use type. Survey information was also used to evaluate the effects of different management scenarios reported by turfgrass managers in order to simulate SOC accumulation and N₂O fluxes using the DAYCENT biogeochemical model on a near (25 yr) and long (50 yr) term time scale. Finally, soil GHG fluxes were monitored using a modified version of the closed chamber method over the course of a two year field study, where the effects of fertilizer treatment, turfgrass site, and soil drainage potential were evaluated. Soil organic C and N were also measured for future analysis from all field plots. Through these efforts we have encompassed critical components required to calculate an overall C balance of golf course facilities maintained in the state of Colorado.

Energy consumption from clubhouse and maintenance facilities and irrigation pumping stations were the largest sources of emissions, therefore increasing energy efficiency may significantly reduce annual emissions from golf courses. Of the twenty-two golf courses around the state of Colorado that participated in the survey, most had similar areas of managed turfgrass and nearly all maintained alternative land use types apart from turfgrass. Increasing the area of natural grassland and trees that have minimal management inputs is important to offset the C intensive management required to maintain the aesthetics of fine quality turfgrass. Alternative land use types contributed to C offsets through SOC accumulation not only for turf management, but offset approximately 40% of CO_2 emissions from building and irrigation systems. In our second analysis we used the DAYCENT model to make projections of SOC and N₂O emission

iii

over several periods of time; simulations were based on fertilizer rates reported in the survey to evaluate different management scenarios. The model projected rapid SOC sequestration rates when turfgrass was newly established, but these rates decreased and N_2O emissions substantially increased after 25 yr if best management practices were not used. Field trials were the third and final part of our study, and we observed greater N_2O emissions from fairways than from the rough turfgrass sections for all fertilizer treatments; a likely result of taller mowing height that increased plant water transpiration as well as from an increased layer of thatch on the Kentucky Bluegrass rough that partially immobilized N applications. Of the fertilizer treatments, Polyon with advanced coated technology was the most effective in restricting N substrate to control N_2O emissions, especially following summer fertilizer applications. Using fertilizer technologies that reduce the risk of loss is important both economically and environmentally. Soil water and temperature were important abiotic variables affecting N₂O and CH₄ emissions, with emissions increasing as high soil water content depleted soil oxygen and rising summer temperatures reduced C3 turfgrass physiological activity. Observations collected in the field signify important GHG mitigation strategies in managing turf irrigation and fertilizer, as well as effective fertilizer technologies to reduce N₂O emissions. If turfgrass managers are to employ the best GHG mitigation strategies to fine quality turf, there must be a complete understanding of the variables effecting soil GHG emissions that include N substrate availability, soil water and temperature, and plant physiology.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It was a complete honor to have worked with such renowned professionals as my committee members, Dr.'s Yaling Qian, Ronald Follett, Steven Delgrosso, Anthony Koski, and Rich Conant. I hold them all in the highest regard for the amazing work they have all done in the fields of soil science, greenhouse gas emissions and mitigation strategies, climate change, ecosystem modelling, and urban soils. Dr. Yaling Qian has worked so diligently on this study to make this my best work possible. Dr. Follett gave me the biggest vote of confidence in allowing me an opportunity to advance into a PhD by working on this study. Without him and his amazing team at the United States Department of Agriculture this work would not have been possible. He also conveniently located me next door to Dr. Delgrosso, who is an expert in ecosystem modeling, and who gave me an open door every day to ask questions in order to generate the simulations needed for this study; I am not sure I would have gotten the modelling chapter done without him and his astounding technician, Melissa Reyes-Fox. Also, thank you to the U.S. Golf Association for financial support.

I have also been fortunate enough to have an amazing support system at Colorado State University that has stemmed primarily from the Native American Cultural Center. Tyrone Smith, Teresa Rice and Leslee Lovato were instrumental in providing the perfect extra-curriculum activities and making me feel like I always had a place to turn to in Fort Collins. Another group of faculty also connected to the NACC office, were the committee members for the Native Women in Science Scholarship who provided unwavering support over the last four years. In honor of their work, and my heritage, I will always uphold the standards of cultural diversity and competence at institutes of education and research that these organizations and scholarships were

intended for. Participating with NACC and Native American Women in Science has made me a better person in every fashion.

But no career or education would be important without those who we call family. My beautiful sister Ashley Gillette is the most caring compassionate person, and I am grateful that she is my corner, no matter what. My amazing and extremely loving partner Tassilo Thoma, who demonstrates to me every day that he is my biggest fan, will always put a smile on my face, and makes sure we get to enjoy life together. He has also given me the greatest gift of love, and together we will be welcoming our first son into the world this fall. I could not be more fortunate than to spend my life with two wonderful men. I would like to conclude by thanking my angels up above for looking over me, my Aunt Sue and Uncle Chauncey Knapp. From the time I was a little girl they always encouraged me to work hard and take my education seriously, and I feel that by listening to them they may have just pulled some strings for me up there, because my life and the opportunity to complete my PhD feels truly blessed.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
CHAPTER 1
CO2e BALANCE OF COLORADO GOLF COURSES BASED ON REPORTED SURVEY RESULTS FOR ENERGY AND LAND USE
SYNOPSIS1
INTRODUCTION2
MATERIAL AND METHODS5
Golf Course Survey5
Statistical Analysis
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
Golf Course Energy Consumption7
Golf Course Land Use11
Golf Course Water Sources and Use14
CONCLUSION15
TABLES AND FIGURES17
REFERENCES
CHAPTER 2
DAYCENT MODEL EVALUATION OF MANAGEMENT IMPACTS ON SOIL CARBON AND NITROGEN ON TURFGRASS
SYNOPSIS
INTRODUCTION
MATERIAL AND METHODS
DAYCENT Model Simulation for Saddle Rock Golf Course
Turfgrass Management Scenarios

CO ₂ Equivalent Coefficients	37
Statistical Methods	
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
DAYCENT SOC Simulation of Golf Course Turf	38
Turfgrass CO ₂ e Balances from DAYCENT Model Simulations	40
DAYCENT and IPCC Emission Factors	43
CONCLUSION	45
TABLES AND FIGURES	46
REFERENCES	50
CHAPTER 3	56
NITROUS OXIDE EMISSIONS FROM A COLORADO GOLF COURSE USING DIFFERENT NITROGEN RELEASE MECHANISMS	56
SYNOPSIS	56
INTRODUCTION	57
MATERIAL AND METHODS	59
Site Description and Fertilizer Applications	59
Soil Processing	61
Soil Inorganic Nitrogen	62
Measurement of Trace Gas Fluxes	63
Ancillary Measurements	65
Statistical Analysis	65
RESULTS and DISCUSSION	66
Annual Cumulative Emissions	66
N ₂ O flux Rates from Fertilizer Treatments	68
Non-Fertilized Periods	74
Soil WFPS, Temperature and CO ₂ Emissions	74
Soil Inorganic N	76
CONCLUSION	77

TABLES AND FIGURES	79
REFERENCES	85
CHAPTER 4	95
METHANE EMISSIONS FROM A COLORADO GOLF COURSE: EFFECTS OF SOIL DRAINAGE	L 95
SYNOPSIS	95
INTRODUCTION	96
MATERIAL AND METHODS	99
Study Site and Experimental Design	99
Soil Analysis	101
Trace Gas Collection and Analysis	102
Soil Water Filled Pores Space	104
Statistical Analysis	105
RESULTS	106
Soil Methane Emissions	106
Soil Water Filled Space and Temperature	108
DISCUSSION	109
CONCLUSION	113
TABLES AND FIGURES	115
REFERENCES	120
CHAPTER 5	127
SOIL DRAINAGE EFFECTS ON N2O EMISSIONS FROM A COLORADO GOLF CO USING CONTROLLED RELEASED FERTILIZERS	OURSE 127
SYNOPSIS	127
INTRODUCTION	128
MATERIAL AND METHODS	131
Site and Experimental Design	131
Soil Analysis	133

Trace gas Collection and Analysis	134
Ancillary Variables	136
Statistical Analysis	137
RESULTS	139
N ₂ O Flux from Fertilizer Treatments	139
Regression Analysis of Soil N_2O and WFPS and Temperature	141
Cumulative N ₂ O Emissions	142
DISCUSSION	143
Soil N ₂ O flux, Drainage, and WFPS	143
Cumulative N ₂ O Emissions	147
CONCLUSION	147
TABLES AND FIGURES	149
REFERENCES	155

CHAPTER 1:

CO₂e BALANCE OF COLORADO GOLF COURSES BASED ON REPORTED SURVEY RESULTS FOR ENERGY AND LAND USE

SYNOPSIS

Carbon dioxide (CO₂) is the primary greenhouse gas (GHG) emitted through fossil fuel combustion, and nitrous oxide (N₂O) is the primary GHG emitted from agricultural soils. Turfgrass is a common and important feature in urban landscapes that can potentially mitigate atmospheric CO₂; however more research is needed to better understand ecosystem functions of urban soils. Golf courses emit GHGs to accommodate golfer amenities and intensive management of fine quality turfgrass, yet alternative land uses such as restored native rangeland and forest help offset emissions. Energy use from facilities and land use and management was compiled from twenty-two Colorado golf courses. We used statistical methods to identify two groups of golf courses based on annual energy consumption. Annual emissions from energy consumption for the low and the high group emitted on average 255 and 512 Mg CO₂e from, respectively. Soil C sequestration from turfgrass and alternative land uses types, such as native and forest area, were important offsets to C intensive management of turfgrass. Land based C sequestration offsets accounted for approximately 40% of CO₂ emission from fossil fuel use, and CO₂ emission intensity from one 18-hole round of golf may be as high a 13 kg CO₂. However, it critical to recognize that these offsets are diminished over time as C pools reach equilibrium; simultaneously as turfgrass age increases indices for greater N losses also increase, making best

management practices critical to environmental stewardship. Increasing energy use efficiency from irrigation systems and buildings will further offset emissions from golf courses.

INTRODUCTION

Carbon dioxide (CO₂) and nitrous oxide (N₂O) are important greenhouse gases (GHG) that have substantially increased since the onset of the industrial era, leading to a strong interest in stabilizing human induced GHG to mitigate the risk of climate change (FAO, 2012). Carbon dioxide is the primary GHG emitted through human activities, accounting for 84% of all U.S. GHG emissions in 2011 (EPA, 2011). Fossil fuel combustion to generate electricity is the most important source of CO₂ emissions, accounting for nearly 40% of all CO₂ emitted in the U.S. (EPA, 2011). Building related energy costs accounts for substantial shares of global energy consumption (EIA, 2010). Land and oceans, however, provide important offsets to fossil fuel combustion by absorbing approximately half of the CO₂ emissions, thereby also slowing the rise of atmospheric CO₂ concentrations (Poulter et al., 2014). However terrestrial biological cycling of C can only offset fossil fuel emissions on a decadal or century time scale (IGBP, 1998).

Soils can act as a net sink or source of CO_2 , however unlike CO_2 , there are no significant sinks for N₂O. Soil emits over half of the atmospheric N₂O from both natural and managed systems combined (Skiba and Smith, 2000), with being the primary GHG emitted from nonflooded agricultural soils (Del Grosso et al., 2008). In fact, due to unchecked emissions and rapid increase in atmospheric concentration, N₂O has been deemed the single most important ozone depleting emission in the 21st century (Ravishankara, et al., 2009). The production of N₂O is regulated through two soil microbial processes, nitrification and denitrification, that may occur simultaneously or individually in the soil environment. Microbial processes that produce soil N_2O are primarily controlled through N substrate availability (NH_4^+ for nitrification and NO_3^- for denitrification), and soil temperature and moisture.

Greenhouse gas emissions from agricultural soils in temperate regions have been well documented (Mosier et al., 1991; Dobbie and Smith, 2003; Syakila and Kroeze, 2011). More recently, due to rapid urban expansion, turfgrass systems have been recognized as an important part of regional GHG budgets (Kaye et al., 2004; Bremer, 2006; Zhang et al., 2013). Turfgrass is a common and important landscape feature in urban areas (Bandaranyake et al., 2003) with an estimated 16 Mha of turf in the United States (Milesi et al., 2005). Turfgrass is an excellent ground cover in urban areas because it promotes ground water infiltration and filtration, and dissipates the urban heating effect through plant transpiration (Beard, 1973). Fertilizer and irrigation water inputs accelerate soil biogeochemical processes in turfgrass, thereby accelerating C sequestration rates (Qian and Follett, 2002; Lal, 2004: Huh et al., 2008). In combination with sustained ground cover from its perennial nature, turfgrass systems have potential for long term SOC storage, and have therefore been promoted as a potential CO₂ mitigation strategy (Lal, 2004a; Smith et al. 2007b; Qian and Follett, 2002).

While fertilization and irrigation increase SOC accumulation in turfgrass systems, emissions of other soil GHGs may also be accelerated (Townsend-Small and Czimczik, 2011; Kaye et al., 2004). Understanding the effects of land use management on soil C and N dynamics is a critical part of GHG mitigation, and maximizing benefit of urban green spaces. Nitrogen fertilizer is the most limiting nutrient factor in turfgrass systems (Hull and Lui, 2005) and a critical management component for maintaining aesthetically appealing urban landscapes (Qian et al., 2003). Because of the high N fertilizer and irrigation inputs for fine quality turf, it is a challenge to reduce environmental impacts (Huh et al., 2008).

Golf courses may be an important component in regional C and N biogeochemical cycling. Turf management inputs may equal or exceed agriculture croplands (Law et al., 2004); therefore environmental impacts from management could be substantial. Golf courses maintain some of the finest quality turf in the world, and intensive turf cultural practices are common to maintain the high quality standards required for the game. Golf courses are not only important green spaces in urban communities (Tanner and Gange, 2005), but are also one of the most economically profitable land use types on a per hectare basis, generating billions of \$USD to the international economy (Rodriguez-Diaz et al., 2007).

Nonetheless determining the C cost of golf courses is complicated because the CO₂ balance of the system is not only dependent upon land management inputs, but also the associated energy costs of golfer amenities and other turf management facilities. In order to estimate the scale of the various CO_2 sources and sinks from golf courses, we compiled survey data from twenty-two golf courses in Colorado to quantify annual energy consumption from clubhouse and maintenance facilities, electricity for pumping irrigation water, liquid fuel usage, and annual fertilization rates to greens, tees, fairways and roughs. Other data reported in the survey pertained to the number of 18-hole rounds played per golf course, and the various land us types maintained at golf course allowing estimates of soil organic carbon (SOC) sequestration rates. The objective of our study was to evaluate the CO₂ equivalents (CO₂e) balance of Colorado golf courses through energy consumption and land use management obtained from survey data. This information will not only provide important estimates to land use and potential soil C cycling within the confinements of golf courses, but also allow for better local and regional estimates of CO₂e emission from these facilities. Furthermore we will also be able to calculate the CO₂e emission intensity per round of golf played in Colorado.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Colorado Golf Course Survey

A survey was collected from golf courses in the state of Colorado for the years 2008 and 2009 using the online survey, Survey Monkey. Twenty-two courses participated in the survey; the names of participants, location, year of construction, golf course type (public or private), total golf course area, and total area of irrigated turf are presented in Table 1. Golf courses reported electric and natural gas use from clubhouse and maintenance facilities, electricity for irrigation, fuel usage, and the number of 18-hole equivalent rounds played per year. Land use and management information regarding fertilization rates per managed section of turf, annual irrigation water use by source, and hectares of alternative land use types such as restored native rangeland, unmaintained, wetlands and forest were also provided.

In order to calculate a CO_2 balance, CO_2 coefficients were used to convert energy use and land management from the survey into CO_2 equivalents (CO_2e) to estimate sources and sinks (offset). Coefficient conversions for CO_2e sinks and sources are referenced from published journals and defined in Table 2. A CO_2e coefficient of 0.9 kg kWh⁻¹ was used for electricity consumption in Colorado based from the EIA (2001). Coefficient of 5.3 kg CO_2 therm⁻¹ and 1.3 kg CO_2 kg⁻¹ propane were used for CO_2e emissions for natural gas and propane, respectively (EPA, 2012). Unleaded and diesel fuel CO_2e coefficient are estimated at 8.8 and 10.1 kg CO_2 liter⁻¹, respectively (EPA, 2012). Means of 4.8, 0.7, and 0.6 kg CO_2 kg⁻¹ were used for production and transportation costs of nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K) fertilizers, respectively (Lal, 2004). Soil N₂O emission factors are based from IPCC (2006) emission factors that assume 1.0% of applied fertilizer will be directly emitted as N₂O. Global warming potential of 298 were estimated for N₂O emissions from Forster et al. (2007) over a 100 year time period. Land based CO₂e sinks from SOC sequestration from greens, tees, and fairways turfgrass were estimated at 3.2 Mg CO₂ ha⁻¹ (Qian and Follett, 2002). A slightly lower SOC sequestration rate of 2.8 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ was used for the rough and clubhouse lawns (Zhang et al., 2013). Land base CO₂e sinks from golf course unmaintained were estimated from Derner et al. 1997 who measured SOC sequestration rates from native rangeland in Colorado to be 1.4 Mg CO₂ ha⁻¹. We used a slightly greater number for restored native rangeland of 1.7 Mg CO₂ ha⁻¹ based on estimates from Zirkle et al. (2011) and Lal et al. (2003). Carbon dioxide sinks from wetlands were from assessments made by Euliss Jr. et al. (2005) who estimated 2.9 Mg CO₂ ha⁻¹, and finally, CO₂e sinks from forests were taken from an urban tree density that sequesters an estimated 25 Mg CO₂ ha⁻¹ (Nowak and Crane, 2002).

Statistical analysis

PROC CLUSTER (SAS Institute, 2008, Cary, NC, USA) analysis was used to group golf courses based off specific variables reported in the survey. The Ward clustering method was used in order to base clustering decisions on ANOVA sum of squares which are predicted hierarchically on the data set. Reported values for energy use and land management are based off of the two year mean of data for 2008 and 2009. The first cluster analysis was based on reported energy consumption from clubhouse and maintenance facilities and pumping irrigation. Land management practices were then assessed based on group rankings for energy consumption. By ranking golf course by the major sources of energy consumption first, land based CO₂e sinks (offsets) were then calculated to estimate the total CO₂e balance of our data set. Only sixteen golf courses completed information for energy consumption, therefore our first cluster analysis only includes energy consumption values reported by these courses alone.

Using similar analytical procedures, a second cluster analysis was performed to estimate CO₂e balances from land management alone, with energy consumption from clubhouse and maintenance being excluded. The data set for land management was the most complete, totaling twenty-two golf courses. The second cluster analysis for land management was based on total area of fairway, rough, irrigated turf, wetland, native, and unmaintained, and turf N fertilization rates (tees, greens, fairway and rough). CO₂e emissions from pumping irrigation water, fuel usage, and fertilizer production were also accounted for based on group rankings for land management to further estimate the CO₂e balance of the second cluster analysis.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Golf Course Energy Consumption

PROC Cluster analysis identified two distinct groups of golf courses based on energy consumption from clubhouse and maintenance facilities and pumping irrigation water. In group 1 (G1) there were six golf courses, and in group 2 (G2) there was eight golf courses (two courses were in different group rankings and are discussed further below). Carbon dioxide equivalents emissions from energy consumption in the G1 and G2 group of golf courses are presented in Figure 1. Average CO₂e emissions from energy consumption at clubhouse and maintenance facilities for G1 group totaled 255 Mg CO₂e per year, with clubhouse electricity and natural gas making up 130 ^{+/-}30 and 25 ^{+/-}5 Mg CO₂e of the total, respectively. The only two mountain courses that completed the energy consumption information were also in this smaller CO₂e emission group, and may indicate that mountain courses, because they are opened for shorter periods of time during of the year, have lower annual CO₂e emissions than courses that are opened for longer periods of time, such as those located on the Front Range.

All golf courses that were in the G2 group are located on the Front Range area of Colorado. Average CO₂e emissions from energy consumption were 512 Mg CO2e for the G2 group of golf courses, nearly double of the first group (G1). Clubhouse electricity and natural gas consumption from golf courses grouped in G2 totaled 288 ^{+/-}46 and 93 ^{+/-}13 Mg CO₂e, respectively. Emissions from unleaded and diesel fuel use was fairly similar between the two groups of golf courses, totaling 20 ^{+/-} 3 and 39 ^{+/-}9 Mg CO₂e for G1, and 32 ^{+/-}3 and 38 ^{+/-}8 Mg CO₂e yr⁻¹ for G2, respectively.

Two golf courses were excluded in our statistical model due to significantly greater energy consumption. Total clubhouse electricity and natural gas from the first course was 18348 and 5310 Mg CO₂e yr⁻¹, respectively that is over one-hundred times the consumption of the first two groups. Clubhouse electricity and natural gas consumption at the second golf course was 1015 and 437 Mg CO₂e, respectively (data not shown). Both of these courses maintain spa facilities with lap pools which significantly increased energy use for maintenance and heating. In an energy use analysis of a University in Mexico, Escobedo et al. (2014) suggested using solar panels and electric pumps for heating pool water as an alternative energy sources. Furthermore, electricity for irrigation pumping was nearly five times greater at the second golf course, averaging 586 Mg CO₂e across 2008 and 2009; this is curious because total irrigated turf area was similar to other courses. However, pumping irrigation water is a major source of energy consumption involved in turf maintenance (Schlesinger, 1999). Therefore irrigation audits to improve system efficiency may contribute substantially to CO₂e emissions decreases.

Importantly, reported electricity used in clubhouse may also include electricity used to charge golf carts. Seventy percent of golf courses that participated in the survey reported that

electric golf carts accounted for 100% of their fleet, and only 30% of golf courses reported that golf cart fleets were gas engine or a combination of gas and electric.

Based on group rankings for energy consumption, we evaluated land use types and fertilization rates for the two statistical groups, G1 and G2. The area (ha) of each land use type and N fertilizer applications in which calculations are based on are presented in Table 3. Due to large scale differences between CO₂e sources from energy consumption and land use, we present CO₂e sinks and sources from land use and management separately in Figure 2. Total CO₂e emissions from electricity used to pump irrigation water, fertilizer production, and N₂O emissions were 177 and 206 Mg CO₂e yr⁻¹ for G1 and G2 groups; electricity used for pumping irrigation water was the largest CO₂e cost, totaling138 and 167 Mg CO₂e yr⁻¹ for G1 and G2, respectively. Carbon dioxide equivalent offsets from land use exceeded emissions from land management for both groups, with land based offsets totaling 191 and 271 Mg CO₂e yr⁻¹ for G1 and G2, respectively. The G1 and G2 groups had a negative net balance of 14 and 69 Mg CO₂e based on sources and sinks associated with land management, offsetting approximately 40% of building related costs, respectively. In Table 4 we present estimates for CO₂e emission intensity for each 18-hole round of golf played based on the CO₂e balance of energy use and SOC offsets, which totaled 8.7 and 13.3 kg CO₂e per round for the G1 and G2, respectively.

There was little difference in fertilization rates between the two statistical groups and emissions from production and transportation of N, P, and K fertilizers totaled 25 Mg CO₂e the two statistical groups. Colorado golf course turf managers reported application rates phosphorus (P) application of 60 kg P ha¹ yr⁻¹. Potassium (K) fertilization rates for G1 and G2 averaged 175^{+/-}31 and 200^{+/-}20 kg K ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for turf greens respectively, and 100^{+/-}10 kg K ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ tees. Production and transportation of N, P, and K fertilizers are sited as producing net CO₂ emissions

(Schlesinger, 1999; Lal, 2004b). Nitrogen fertilizer was the soil amendment applied in the greatest quantities to all sections of managed turf, and is the most C intensive fertilizer input, thereby generating the majority of the CO₂ emissions from fertilizer production. Based on nitrogen fertilization rates, we used the IPCC (2007) emission factor of 1% to estimate N₂O emissions from golf course turfgrass. Managed turfgrass N₂O emissions accounted for 14 Mg $CO_2e \text{ yr}^{-1}$ for both statistical groups.

On average, G2 golf courses were 10 hectares larger than courses in the G1 group, therefore land based offsets were more significant. Based on sequestration potentials of 3.2 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ reported by Qian and Follett (2002), soil organic C sequestration from fairways accounted for 57 and 50 Mg CO₂e offsets for G2 and G1 groups, respectively. Turf SOC sequestration from the roughs was based on Zhang et al. (2013) estimates of 2.7 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, accounting for a total of 44 and 71 Mg CO₂e offsets for G2 and G1 groups, respectively. Potential CO₂e sinks for land managed as unmaintained areas were estimated at 44 and 47 Mg CO₂e for the G1 and G2 groups, respectively. A slightly greater SOC sequestration rate of 1.7 Mg CO2e ha⁻¹ was used for restored native rangelands, with estimated sequestration potentials of 33.8 and 44.5 Mg CO₂e for G1 and G2 groups, respectively. Carbon offsets from wetland management are large, sequestering up to 2.9 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Euliss Jr. et al., 2005). Offsets from wetlands were estimated to be 23.0 and 8.2 Mg CO₂e for G1 and G2 groups, respectively; however we recognize that methane emissions from wetlands affect CO₂e but are unaccounted for in our estimates. Due to the large sequestration potential of trees stands, the small area of tree stands (0.45 ha) in the LUG2 group accounted for 41 Mg CO₂e. Carbon dioxide offsets from golf course trees were based on an urban tree density of 25 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ (Nowak and Crane, 2001).

Trees on golf courses are excellent C offsets because trees have 10 times greater sequestration potentials than turfgrass (Bartlett and James, 2011).

Golf Course Land Use

Turfgrass nutrient management and area per land use type was the most complete set of data collected in our survey (complete data all twenty-two courses). Therefore we performed a second cluster analysis based on N turf fertilization rates, and area of fairway, rough, total irrigated turf, native, wetland, and unmaintained hectares, and excluded energy use from facilities. Of the twenty-two golf courses, statistical analysis identified two groups of golf courses based on the previous land use areas and N fertilization rates. There were fifteen golf courses within the first group (LUG1), and seven golf courses in the second group (LUG2) based on the above variables. Presumably the LUG1 group is the more common scenario for land management for golf courses in Colorado since nearly two-thirds of golf courses were in this cluster group. Also, CO₂e emissions were calculated using similar methods for liquid fuel use, electricity for pumping irrigation water, fertilizer production, and soil N₂O emissions based variables in the second group of clustering variables.

The CO₂e balance for land management and SOC rates is presented in Figure 3. The land use area and fertilization rates used for CO2e balances are presented in Table 3 for LUG1 and LUG2 groups. Average CO₂e emissions from turfgrass maintenance were similar between the two LUG1 and LUG2 groups, totaling 290 and 232 Mg CO₂e, respectively. Emissions from diesel use totaled 33 and 28 Mg CO₂e for LUG1 and LUG2 groups, and emissions from unleaded fuel use totaled 48 and 34 Mg CO₂e, respectively. Electricity used for golf irrigation

water pumping generated the greatest CO₂e cost and totaled 168 and 138 Mg CO₂e for LUG1 and LUG2 groups, respectively.

CO₂e offsets from turfgrass SOC sequestration compensated for less than half of total emissions from turfgrass management, with total turf SOC sequestration totaling 120 Mg CO₂e for each statistical group. It was only after including SOC sequestration from other land use types (ie native, forest, and unmaintained) that LUG2 golf courses were a net sink for CO₂e emissions, totaling 88 Mg CO₂e (Fig. 3). However, even with other land use types included, the CO₂e balances for golf courses in the LUG1 group were a net source of emissions, totaling 72.5 Mg CO₂e. Calculations for CO₂e intensity based on land use are also presented in Table 4 for LUG1 and LUG2 groups, and are based on the average number of 18-hole rounds played and CO₂e balances for each group. The LUG2 group was the only data set that estimated each round of golf to contribute to CO₂e offsets, with each 18-hole round of golf played contributing to nearly 3 kg CO₂e being sequestered.

The greater area of unmaintained and restored native rangeland increased the average size of golf courses in the LUG2 group by approximately 30% compared to courses in the LUG1 group. However, total CO₂e sinks from turf fairway and rough SOC sequestration were fairly similar between the two groups, with an estimated 45 Mg and 63 Mg CO₂e offsets for LUG1 group, and 52 and 58 Mg CO₂e for LUG2 group, respectively. Carbon dioxide equivalent balances were further affected by fertilizer rates, where LUG1 had slightly lower N fertilization rates for greens and tees, and the second group, LUG2, had lower N fertilization rates on fairways and roughs. Because fairways and roughs have substantially larger areas than greens and tees, the lower N applications not only reduced the CO₂e emissions from fertilizer production but also slightly reduced N₂O emissions for the LUG2 group.

Ultimately, it was the greater area of unmaintained, native, and wetland areas that allowed LUG2 courses to be a net sink for atmospheric CO₂ based on land management. The LUG2 group had nearly three times the area of unmaintained and native areas as the LUG1 group of golf courses. Bartlett and James (2011) identified non-playing areas of golf courses, such as unmanaged areas and trees stands, to be important C offsets to intensive turfgrass management. However it is important to remember that SOC sequestration follows a sigmoidal curve (Lal, 2004), and is only sustained until the soil reaches an equilibrium, typically within the first 20 to 50 yr (Sauerbeck, 2001). As for turfgrass systems specifically, accumulation of SOC is the most rapid after initially establishment, with variable decomposition rates depending on nitrogen and irrigation inputs (Qian and Follett, 2002). On average, golf courses in our study were less than 30 years old, therefore justifying using a high sequestration rate, but these potential SOC rates diminish as soils reach equilibrium. Nonetheless, it may be best to view terrestrial sinks as significant but provisional reservoirs because the C which is initially sequestered may be vulnerable to return to the atmosphere in less than a century and therefore may not be permanent (IGBP, 1998).

We would like to complete our discussion on soil GHG emissions by briefly comparing measured N_2O emissions from turfgrass and the emission factors used by the IPCC (2006). The IPCC (2006) report assumes that 1.0% of applied fertilizer will be directly emitted as N_2O , however this value does not take into account land use, soil type, or precipitation gradients (Lesschen et al., 2011). Annual N_2O emissions reported from turfgrass field studies have a fairly wide range of variability, measuring from 2.5 to 6.4 kg N_2O -N ha ⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Kaye et al., 2004; Guilbault and Mathias, 1998). Soil N_2O emissions from turf depend on turfgrass age, soil water status, and fertilization practices (Mancino et al., 1988; Qian et al., 2003; Zhang et al. 2013).

Zhang et al. (2013) demonstrated with the DAYCENT ecosystem model that in as little time as ten yr following turfgrass establishment N₂O emissions may double if best turf grass management practices are not followed. Turfgrass age is an important factor that determines the fate of applied N due to the high internal N cycling (Bouldin and Lathwell, 1998; Qian et al., 2003; Frank et al., 2006). Nitrogen fertilization should be reduced as the age of the grass stand increases when clippings are returned (Qian et al., 2003), or the chances of losing N from the system are greatly increased (Porter et al., 1980; Petrovic, 1990) from gaseous losses or leaching.

Golf Course Water Sources and Use

Golf courses also reported water used for irrigation by source (well, potable surface or reuse effluent). Total irrigation water use was averaged for the years 2008 and 2009, of this, 9.5, 19.5, 44.2, and 26.8% was drawn from potable, well, surface, and effluent water sources, respectively. Total irrigated area of turf was similar for LUG1 and LUG2 golf course groups, averaging 39 ^{+/-} 2.8 ha. According to reported annual water use for irrigation and total irrigated hectares of turfgrass, an average of 82 cm of irrigation water per hectare of turfgrass was applied to golf courses in Colorado. However the reported amount of total water used for irrigation was probably not all used for turfgrass, but also cleaning maintenance facilities and equipment. Regardless, globally irrigation is responsible for approximately 70% of anthropogenic water consumption (FAO, 2010). Water demand from turfgrass varies by region, and the semi-arid environment in Colorado increases plant water use through high evapotranspiration rates. There is a large interest in conserving water use in turfgrass systems. Batug and Buyuktas (2002) demonstrated that high quality turfgrass can be obtained with irrigation water inputs that equal 75% ET, with no difference in turf quality when irrigation water was applied at 100% ET.

Reducing water application rates to meet lower ET demands coupled with precipitation accounting could potentially reduce water use from golf courses in Colorado.

Additionally, energy intensity for turf irrigation is substantially greater than previous estimates for irrigated agriculture (Follett 2011; Schlesinger, 1999). Based on electricity used for pumping irrigation water and total irrigated hectares, energy consumed per irrigated hectare of turfgrass equates to 4.4 and 3.6 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ for LUG1 and LUG2 groups, respectively. Our survey results concluded that electricity was the only source used to generate energy for pumping irrigation. West and Marland (2002) determined that when electricity was the primary source of energy pumping irrigation water produced 0.95 Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Follett (2001) calculated 0.72 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ of energy required for the 15.5 Mha of US irrigated agricultural land from pumping irrigation, but his calculations were based on a mix of energy sources, with only 52.6% of electricity from coal fired sources. Regardless, due to the C intensity of pumping irrigation water, increased efficiency in irrigation systems and power sources could help to substantially offset CO₂e emissions from pumping irrigation water.

CONCLUSION

Electricity consumed at clubhouses facilities and pumping irrigation water were major sources of CO_2e emissions from Colorado golf courses, with natural gas and fuel use making up other important CO_2e emission sources. Soil organic sequestration from fairway and rough turfgrass together with other alternative land use types such as native and forests areas were important sinks that offset C intensive land management at golf courses. However it is important to recognize spatial and temporal variability of SOC, and that SOC reaches equilibrium over time, diminishing CO_2 offsets from sequestration. As SOC levels reach equilibrium as the age of

the turfgrass stand increases, N inputs should also be adjusted to avoid losses to the environment. Contrary to SOC sequestration, CO₂e emissions from anthropogenic energy consumption will steadily continue every year. This gives our CO₂e balance estimates for golf courses a fairly high degree of uncertainty because calculations for land based CO₂e offsets greatly depend on baseline soil C pools, longevity and vegetation type, land management practices, fertilizer and irrigation inputs, soil texture, and climatic factors. Increasing energy use efficiency at clubhouses and irrigation pumping systems will greatly contribute to mitigating CO₂e emission from golf course facilities, along with land management practices that include best turfgrass practices and increasing areas that have low inputs costs and a high potential to sequester atmospheric CO₂, such as forests and/or restored native rangeland.

TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1.1. List of Colorado golf courses that participated in the survey, year of construction, course type (public, private or semi-private), and region of the state where they are located. Total hectares (ha) and total area of maintained turfgrass are also provided.

Golf course name	Year Construct	Туре	Colorado region	Total area (ha)	Irrigated turf (ha)
Glacier Golf	1970	Private	Southern	60	36
Club Haymaker Golf	1997	Public	Mountains Northern	96	31
Beaver Creek	1981	Semi-Private	Central	32	26
Golf Club Tiara Rado Golf Course	1975	Public	Mountains Western Slope	72	35
Ironbridge Golf Club	2003	Semi-Private	Western Slope	95	40
Ptarmigan Country Club	1988	Private	Front Range	64	49
Legacy Ridge Golf Course	1993	Public	Front Range	69	40
Heather Gardens	1972	Semi-Private	Front Range	16	14
Denver Country	1901	Private	Front Range	41	36
Lone Tree Golf	1985	Public	Front Range	112	56
West Woods Golf	1992	Public	Front Range	85	44
Heritage at Westmoor Golf	1998	Public	Front Range	86	34
Murphy Creek	1999	Public	Front Range	92	65
Lakewood	1908	Private	Front Range	42	42
Lake Arbor Golf	1973	Public	Front Range	38	31
The Meadows	1983	Public	Front Range	41	17
The Homestead	2001	Public	Front Range	48	32
The Broadlands	1998	Private	Front Range	82	36
Shadow Creek	1995	Private	Front Range	12	2
Saddle Rock Golf	1996	Semi-Private	Front Range	96	42
The Club at	2005	Private	Front Range	84	36
Common Ground Golf Course	2007	Public	Front Range	141	52

Table 1.2. Estimates for carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions: electric kilogram (kg) of CO₂ per kilowatt hour (kwh); natural gas kg CO₂ per thermal unit (therm); and propane kg CO₂ per kg. Emissions caused by the manufacturing and transportation of nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P) and potassium (K) fertilizers in kg CO₂ per kg of fertilizer. Estimates of soil carbon (C) sequestration are measured in megagrams of CO₂ per hectare (ha).

Parameter	Value	Units	Reference
description			
Electricity	0.9	kg CO_2 kwh ⁻¹	U.S. EIA, 2001
Natural gas	5.3	kg CO ₂ therm ⁻¹	U.S. EPA, 2012
Propane	1.3	kg CO_2 kg ⁻¹	U.S. EPA, 2012
Diesel fuel	10.1	kg CO ₂ liter ⁻¹	U.S. EPA, 2012
Unleaded fuel	8.8	kg CO ₂ liter-1	U.S. EPA, 2012
Nitrogen fertilizer production	4.8 +/-5.9	$kg CO_2 kg^{-1} N$	Lal, 2004
Phosphorus fertilizer production	0.7 +/- 1.3	$kg CO_2 kg^{-1} P$	Lal, 2004
Potassium fertilizer	0.6 +/- 0.6	$kg \operatorname{CO}_2 kg^{1} K$	Lal, 2004
Soil N ₂ O emission	1.0	% of fertilizer	IPCC, 2006 Direct
factor		applied	emissions
N ₂ O global warming	298	$O_2 GWP$	Forster et al., 2007
potential (GWP)		-	<i>,</i>
Greens, tees, fairway	3.2 +/-1.8	Mg CO ₂ ha ⁻¹	Qian and Follett, 2002
turfgrass soil C		-	
sequestration			
Rough turfgrass	2.7	$Mg CO_2 ha^{-1}$	Zhang et al., 2013
SOC sequestration			
Restored native	0.48	$Mg CO_2 ha^{-1}$	Zirkle et., 2011; Lal et
grassland SOC			al., 2003
sequestration		1	
Unmaintained SOC	0.4	$Mg CO_2 ha^{-1}$	Derner et al., 1997
sequestration		1	
Wetland soil C	2.9	$Mg CO_2 ha^{-1}$	Euliss Jr. et al., 2005
sequestration			
Forest soil C	25+21	Mg CO ₂ ha ⁻¹	Nowak and Crane,
sequestration			2002

Table 1.3. Hectares (ha) of each land use type and N fertilizer application rate (kg N ha-1) for the two energy statistical groups (G1 and G2), and the two Land Use statistical groups (LUG1 and LUG2).

	G1	G2	LUG1	LUG2
Total ha	68	84	67	98
Green ha	1	1	1	1
Tees ha	1	2	1	1
Fairway ha	17	15	14	15
Rough ha	15	25	23	21
Native ha	20	32	12	38
Unmaintained ha	31	43	18	46
Wetland ha	2	3	2	6
Forest ha	0	0.5	0.6	0.6
Green kg N ha ⁻¹	200	210	195	230
Tees kg N ha ⁻¹	180	200	175	220
Fairway kg N ha ⁻¹	150	135	160	110
Rough kg N ha ⁻¹	115	90	110	80

*G1 and G2 groups are based on 16 golf courses that provided information building energy use; LUG1 and LUG2 are based on land management only.

Table 1.4. Energy intensity (kg CO₂e per round) calculated from the average annual number of rounds played and total CO₂e balance (Megagrams CO₂e) for the energy statistical groups (G1 and G2) and the land use statistical groups (LUG1 and LUG2).

Group	Rounds Played (18 hole equivalent)	CO ₂ e Balance Mg CO ₂ e	Intensity kg CO ₂ e per round
G1	27839	241	8.7
G2	33337	443	13.3
LUG1	26931	72	2.7
LUG2	29724	-88	-3.0

*Calculations for G1 and G2 groups are inlcude emission from energy use and land use for 16 golf courses; calculations for LUG1 and LUG2 are for land use only and include 22 golf courses.



Figure 1.1. Carbon dioxide equivalents (CO₂e) emissions from fossil fuel combustion for clubhouse and maintenance building electricity and natural gas use, and diesel and unleaded fuel measured in megagrams (Mg) of CO₂e per year (yr) for two statistical groups of golf courses G1 and G2.



Figure 1.2. Carbon dioxide equivalents emissions for turf maintenance and land management based on two statistical groups G1 and G2 for energy consumption. Positive emissions represent estimates from land management inputs such as turf irrigation, turf fertilization (N, P, and K), and soil nitrous oxide (N2O) emissions. Negative values represent estimates for carbon dioxide equivalents offsets from land carbon (C) sequestration (sequ) for the various land use types reportedly maintained at golf courses.



Figure 1.3. Carbon dioxide equivalents (CO₂e) balance for the second cluster analysis based on land management and land use type only. Positive values represent emissions from irrigation water pumping, fuel use, turf fertilization (total of N, P, and K) production, and soil nitrous oxide (N2O) emissions. Negative values represent estimated carbon dioxide equivalents offsets from soil carbon (C) sequestration (sequ) for the various land use types at golf courses.

REFERENCES

- Adler, P.R., S.J, Del Grosso, and D. Inman. 2012. Mitigation opportunities for life cycle greenhouse gas emissions during feedstock production across heterogeneous landscapes.
 In: Leibig, M., A.J. Franzluebbers, R.F. Follett (Eds.) Managing agriculture research through GRACEnet to address our changing climate. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Bandaranayake, W., Y.L. Qian, W.J. Parton, D.S. Ojima, and R.F. Follett, 2003. Estimation of soil organic carbon changes in turfgrass systems using the CENTURY model. Agron. J. 95: 558-563.
- Bastug, R. and D. Buyuktas. 2003. The effects of different irrigation levels applied in golf courses on some characteristics of turfgrass. Irri. Sci. 22: 87-93.
- Beard, J.B. 1973. Turfgrass: science and culture. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- Beard, J.B. and R.L. Green. 1994. The Role of turfgrass in environmental protection and their benefits to human. J. Environ. Qual. 23: 452-460.
- Bouldin, D.R. and D.J. Lathwell. 1968. Behavior of soil organic nitrogen. Bell. 1023, Cornell Univ. Agric. Ext. Stn. Ithica, NY.
- Bremer, D. 2006. Nitrous Oxide fluxes in turfgrass: Effects of nitrogen fertilization rates and types. J. of Environ. Qual. 35(5): 1678-1685.
- Escobedo, A., S, Briceño, H. Juárez, D. Castillo, M. Imaz, and C. Sheinbaum. 2014. Energy consumption and GHG emission scenarios of a university campus in Mexico. Energy of Sustain. Devel. 18:49-57.

- FAO: AQUASTAT FAO's global information system on water and agriculture, FAO, http://www.fao.org/nr/aquastat, last access: 09 June 2014, Rome, Italy, 2010.
- Follett, R.F. 2001. Soil management concepts and carbon sequestration in cropland soils, Soil Till. Res. 61, 77 (2001).
- Follett, R.F. 2001a. Nitrogen transformation and transportation processes. In: Follett, R.F., M.J. Hatfield (Eds.) Nitrogen in the Environment. Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, pp.17-44.

Forster, P., V. Ramaswamy, P. Artaxo, T. Berntsen, R. Betts, D.W. Fahey, J. Haywood, J. Lean,
D.C. Lowe, G. Myhre, J. Nganga, R. Prinn, G. Raga, M. Schulz and R. Van Dorland,
2007: Changes in Atmospheric Constituents and in Radiative Forcing. In: *Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* [Solomon,
S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M.Tignor and H.L. Miller
(eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY,
USA.

- Frank, K.W., K.M. O'Reilly, J.R. Crum, and R.N. Calhoun. 2006. The fate of nitrogen applied to a mature Kentucky Bluegrass turf. Crop Sci. 46: 2009-215.
- Guillard, K. and K.L. Kopp. 2004. Nitrogen fertilizer form and associated nitrate leaching from coo-season lawn tur. J. Environ. Qual. 22:119-125.
- Huh, Y.H., M. Deurer, S. Sivakumaran, K. McAuliffe, and N.S. Bolan. 2008. Carbon sequestration in urban landscapes: the example of a turfgrass in New Zealand. Aust. J. Soil Res. 46:610-616.
- Hull, R.J., and H. Liu. 2005. Turfgrass nitrogen: Physiology and environmental impacts. Int. Turfgrass Soc. Res. J. 10:962–975.
- Lal, R. R.F. Follett, and J.M. Kimble. 2003. Achieving soil C sequestration in the United States: A challenge to policy makers. Soil Sci. 168:827-845.
- Lal, R. 2004a. Soil carbon sequestration to mitigate climate change. Geoderma. 123: 1-22.
- Lal, R. 2004b. Carbon emissions from farm operations. Environ. Int. 30:981-990.
- Ravishankara A.R., J.S. Daniel, and R.W. Portmann. 2009. Nitrous oxide (N₂O): the dominant ozone-depleting substance emitted in the 21st century. Science 326: 123–25.
- Rodiguaz-Diaz, J.A., J.W. Knox, and E.K. Weatherhead. 2007. Competing demands for irrigation water: golf and agriculture in Spain. Irri. Drainage.5: 541-549.
- Sauerbeck, D.R. 2001. CO₂ emissions and C sequestration by agriculture perspectives and limitations. Nutrient Cycl. Agroecosyst. 60: 253-266.
- Schlesinger, W.H. 1999. Carbon sequestration in soils. Science, 284: 2095.
- Skiba U. and K. Smith. 2000. The control of nitrous oxide emissions from agriculture and natural sources. Chemosphere- Global Change Science 2. 379-386.
- Smith, R.D., D, Martino, Z. Cai, D. Gwery, H. Hanzen, P. Kumar, B. McCarrl, S. Ogle, F.
 O'Mara, C. Rince, B. Scholeo, and O. Sirotnko. 2007b. Agriculture, p. 499-532, In:
 Metz, B., O.R. Davidson, P.R. Boach, R. Dave and L.A. Meyers (eds.) Contribution of working group III to the fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

- Star, J.L. and H.C. DeRoo. 1981. The fate of nitrogen fertilizer applied to turfgrass. Crop Sci. 21: 531- 539.
- Syakila and C. Koeze. 2011. The global nitrous oxide budget revisited. Greenhouse gas Measurement and Mgmt. 1: 17-26.
- Tanner, R.A., and A.C. Gange. 2010. Effects of golf course on local biodiversity. Landscape Urban Plann. 71: 137-146.
- U.S.EIA. 2001. Updated state level greenhouse gas emission factors for electricity generation. Energy Information Administration. http:// tonto.eia.doe.gov/FTPROOT/environment/esupdoc.pdf (accessed 10 June, 2014).

U.S.EIA. International Energy Outlook 2010 – Highlights. In: EPA, editor. Washington; 2010.

- USEPA. 2012. Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2010. Annex 2 (Methodology for estimating CO₂ emissions from fossil fuel combustion), P. A-75. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC. U.S. EPA #430-R-12-001 (PDF) (389 pp, 10.6MB, About PDF).
- West, T.O., and G. Marland. 2001.A synthesis of carbon sequestration, carbon emissions, and net carbon flux in agriculture: Comparing tillage practices in the United States. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 91:217–232.
- Zhang, Y., Y. Qian, B. Mecham and W.J. Parton. 2013. Development of best turfgrass management practices using the DAYCENT model. Agron. J. 105(4):1151-1159.

- Zhang, Y., Y. Qian, D.J. Bremer and J.P. Kaye. 2013. Simulation of nitrous oxide emission and estimation of global warming potential in turfgrass systems using the DAYCENT model.J. Environ. Qual. Technical Report: Environ. Models, Modules and Datasets. 1-9.
- Zirkle, G., L. Rattan and B. Augustin. 2011 Modeling carbon sequestration in home lawns. Hort Sci. 46(5): 808-814.

CHAPTER 2:

DAYCENT MODEL EVALUATION OF MANAGEMENT IMPACTS ON SOIL CARBON AND NITROGEN ON TURFGRASS

SYNOPSIS

Rising greenhouse gas emissions are of great concern due to the associated impacts of global climate change. It is important to further asses C and N dynamic in urban areas due to rapid expansion and the associated land cover of turfgrass systems that often require nitrogen and irrigation management to maintain aesthetic quality. Unfortunately it is impossible to directly measure changes in SOC or soil trace gas emissions from turfgrass on a regional or national scale. Therefore process based models such DAYCENT are useful tools to help estimate these changes and their associated uncertainties. DAYCENT has been validated for turfgrass systems and was used to simulate soil C and N for one golf course that participated in the survey. In order to simulate typical management scenarios of fairway, rough and greens, survey information was collected from eighteen golf courses on the Front Range of Colorado. Model outputs of soil C, nitrous oxide, and N leaching were convert CO₂ equivalents (CO₂e). CO₂e associated costs of irrigation and fertilizer production were also used to generate an overall CO₂e balance for each section of turf. The model simulated rapid SOC accumulation and increased N₂O emissions from turf fairway and rough shortly after turf establishment. Model outputs for leaching were only significant for treatments that were over watered. Simulations of N₂O emissions from putting greens remained steady, but leaching was high. Total CO₂e balances were a net source of emissions for all sections of turfgrass, averaging 1.6, 0.95, and 2.1 Mg CO2e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ from the

fairway, rough and greens, respectively, after 50 yr of turfgrass establishment. Reducing N inputs after turf is established and increasing irrigation system energy use efficiency could substantially decrease emissions from highly managed turf.

INTRODUCTION

Rising atmospheric concentration of greenhouse gases are caused by anthropogenic activity and increase the risk associated with global climate change. Nitrous oxide (N₂O) is one of the most important ozone depleting emission in the 21st century (Ravishankara, et al., 2009), because of it high global warming potential of 298 and the lack of natural sinks to mitigate concentration (Forster et al., 2007). Nitrous oxide is the primary GHG emitted from agricultural soils (Del Grosso et al., 2008), with both natural and managed soils combined emitting over half of the total atmospheric N₂O (Skiba and Smith, 2000). The production of soil N₂O is regulated through two soil microbial processes, nitrification and denitrification. Microbial processes that produce soil N₂O are primarily controlled through N substrate availability (NH₄⁺ for nitrification and NO₃⁻ for denitrification), and soil temperature and moisture.

Land and oceans, provide important offsets to fossil fuel combustion by absorbing approximately half of the CO_2 emissions, thereby also slowing the rise of atmospheric CO_2 concentrations (Poulter et al., 2014). Changes in soil C could therefore have a significant impact on atmospheric CO_2 concentrations. Conversion from natural systems to agricultural tends to decrease soil organic carbon (SOC) pools (Lal and Bruce, 1999), but soil restoration through conversion to grassland combined with intensive management can greatly increase SOC pools of that were once depleted in soils (Conant, 2001). However terrestrial biological cycling of C may only offset fossil fuel emission on a decadal or century time scale (IGBP, 1998). Furthermore, C accumulation may only be sustained as long as management practices are maintained (Smith, 2004), but if SOC enhancing activity is terminated C accumulated during enhanced management may be subject to rapid loss (Smith et al., 1996).

Due to rapid urban expansion, turfgrass systems have been recognized as an important part of regional GHG budgets (Kaye et al., 2004; Bremer, 2006; Zhang et al., 2013). Turfgrass is a common landscape urban areas(Bandaranyake et al., 2003; Milesi et al., 2005) that provides a suite of benefits that include urban heat dissipation and increased ground infiltration and filtration (Beard, 1973). Fertilizer and irrigation water inputs accelerate soil biogeochemical processes in turfgrass, thereby accelerating C sequestration rates (Qian and Follett, 2002; Lal, 2004: Huh et al., 2008). The rapid increase in SOC level in turfgrass systems has potential for long term SOC storage, and has therefore been promoted as a potential CO₂ mitigation strategy (Lal, 2004a; Smith et al. 2007b; Qian and Follett, 2002). However it is important to recognize the sustained C cost of managing turf with N fertilizer and irrigation. Furthermore, while fertilization and irrigation increase SOC accumulation in turfgrass systems, emissions of other soil GHGs may also be accelerated (Townsend-Small and Czimczik, 2011; Kaye et al., 2004). Therefore it is critical to assess the effects of land use management on soil C and N dynamics and the impact of GHG sinks and sources, in doing so the benefits of urban green spaces can be maximized.

A better understanding of the ecosystem functioning from turfgrass management is needed (Racitti, et al., 2009; Pouyat et al., 2009), yet it is impossible to directly measure changes in SOC or soil trace gas emissions from turfgrass on a regional or national scale. Therefore process based models such as CENTURY or DAYCENT are useful tools to help estimate these changes and their associated uncertainties. CENTURY is a multi-compartmental ecosystem model developed to simulate long term SOC sequestration through soil organic carbon and nitrogen dynamics, nutrient cycling and plant production (Parton et al., 1987; Parton et al., 1993), and has been well validated for a variety of ecosystems (Parton et al., 1993; Parton and Rassmusen, 1994) including turfgrass systems (Qian et al., 2003; Bandaranayake et al., 2003). More recently, an improved daily version of the model, DAYCENT, was developed and validated for various ecosystems (Del Grosso, et al., 2002; Del Grosso et al., 2005; Del Grosso et al., 2006; Li et al., al 2006; Del Grosso et al., 2008). Like the previous version, DAYCENT uses nutrient availability, land management practices, specific soil properties and daily weather information as key drivers to the biogeochemical model. DAYCENT allows daily outputs of terrestrial and atmospheric C and N exchanges, allowing an opportunity to evaluate daily fluxes of soil trace gas emissions in turf ecosystems (Zhang et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013).

Turf management inputs may equal or exceed agriculture croplands (Law et al., 2004). Finely managed turfgrass at golf courses requires C intensive management; therefore environmental impacts from management could be substantial. Importantly, in semi-arid environments such as Colorado, turf systems are limited by water availability and irrigation may pose a substantial cost to production. The objective of our study was to simulate soil C and N dynamics of fairways, greens, and rough at golf course using the biogeochemical model DAYCENT under different management scenarios. In order to get the most realistic management practices used by turf managers we gathered information using a survey collected from 18 golf courses on the Front Range of Colorado. DAYCENT simulations were carried for different management scenarios and model outputs of SOC sequestration, N₂O emission, and N leaching were used to calculate CO₂ equivalents for near term (25yr) and long term (50 yr) periods. We also used other published data to estimate the CO₂e emissions of pumping irrigation water and producing fertilizer. This research will provide information for typical turf management practices

used on highly managed golf courses and provide estimates of CO₂e emissions of turfgrass in this region of Colorado based on near term and long term ecosystem model simulations.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

DAYCENT Model Simulation for Saddle Rock Golf Course

The 4.2 version of DAYCENT was used to simulate long term SOC and soil N dynamics from Saddle Rock Golf Course. DAYCENT uses nutrient flows, soil water and temperature on a daily time scale. Information on soil texture, and soil mineral fractions (% sand, clay and silt), daily weather of minimum and maximum air temperatures, plant type, monthly precipitation and irrigation, and management inputs are needed to run the model. Further details on DAYCENT model are offered by Del Grosso et al. (2008). Turfgrass parameters were based from previous studies (Qian et al., 2003; Bandaranayake et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2013) that included above and belowground C allocation, lignin content, and thatch damping factors.

In order to have information on specific historic land information, management practices, and weather data, we collected detailed information from one golf course that participated in the golf course survey. Daily weather information for years 1980 to 2012 was obtained from DayMet weather station near Saddle Rock Golf Course, CO (39.35°N, 104.44 °W). Soil bulk density for the fairways and rough was 1.15 g cm⁻³. Similar soil minerals fractions were used for the fairway and rough, with estimates of 35, 15, and 50 % of sand, silt and clay, respectively, and 1% organic matter in the 0-20 cm. Soil bulk density was estimated at 1.7 g cm⁻³ for putting greens. Soil fraction estimates for the greens were 80.0, 10.0, 10.0 % for sand, silt, and clay, respectively, and 1.0% organic matter.

Model outputs are influenced by SOC and mineral N levels; therefore historic land management was obtained from Saddle Rock Golf course. In order to establish the initial soil C baseline prior to golf course establishment, simulations were ran from year 1 to year 1993 using three successive land use scenarios of undisturbed native range, grazing land, and dryland wheat. Initially, all baseline simulations began with undisturbed native range that had a mix of 50% cool and warm-season grass vegetation. Native range was converted to agricultural or pasture in 1960. Agriculture consisted of a dryland wheat fallow system that used 120 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and low yielding wheat until 1982; higher yielding wheat was simulated starting in 1983 with fertilization increased to 165 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹; this system was maintained until it was converted into golf course turfgrass. Pasture land was simulated using a dryland system with 50% cool and warmseason grasses, that was moderately grazed and an annual fertilization rate of 50 kg N ha⁻¹ yr ¹.Upon turfgrass establishment starting in 1994, simulated levels of active, passive and slow SOC pools were 0.2, 10.6, and 19.2 Mg ha⁻¹, respectively, at the fairway and rough. Restored native sections were converted to 75% warm season and 25% cool-season grasses in 1994 during golf construction. Simulated levels of active, passive and slow SOC pools were 0.2, 10.6, and 19.2 Mg ha⁻¹, respectively, at the restored native.

Since golf course putting greens are typically constructed on an artificial soil series, a different soil series was considered for simulations of the greens. The top 30 cm soil of the greens soil profile had sand, silt and clay mineral fractions of 75, 0.5, and 15%, respectively, and organic matter levels of 1%. We based soil organic matter pools for putting greens from Century model simulation performed by Bandaranayake et al. (2003). The previous study arrived at proportions of slow, active and passive SOC pools from peatland simulations performed by

Chimmer et al. (2002). For this study, simulated levels of slow, active and passive SOC pools at the time of turf green establishment were 0.59, 0.55 and 11.3 Mg ha⁻¹, respectively.

In 1994 land preparation began for turf where there was a break and change in vegetation. Three turf cultivation options in DAYCENT (turf sweeping, cultivation, and drilling) were simulated for top soil stripping and land grading during golf course construction. Turf establishment was simulated for one year, in which fertilization rates were 120 kg N ha⁻¹ and irrigation water was applied at 100% ET from May until September. Upon turfgrass establishment, different scenarios of N fertilizer management and irrigation levels were used for model inputs for the fairway, rough and greens. Each of the N application rates was based on survey results of the eighteen golf courses that participated in our study and are presented in Table 1 for each section of turf grass. Regardless of fertilizer rate for each scenario, N applications occurred throughout the growing season starting in April and ending in October for each turfgrass section. The timing of N fertilizer applications was based on management reported by Saddle Rock golf course, and other publications describing turfgrass DAYCENT model simulations (Bandaranayanke et al., 2003).

Turfgrass Management Scenarios

Annual aerification was simulated every spring to the greens, fairway and rough to relieved compaction. Turfgrass damping factor was maintained at 0.003 on the greens and fairway due to shorter mowing height and cultural practices to control thatch. However, due to taller mowing height on the rough which allows for an increase of thatch accumulation on Kentucky bluegrass, the damping factor was increased to 0.0045 as cited by Zhang et al. (2013).

Fairway, rough and greens fertilizer management was collected from 18 golf courses on the Front Range of Colorado for the years 2008 and 2009 through the online survey, Survey Monkey. Reported survey nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K) fertilizers application rates to fairway, rough and greens are shown in Table 1. Fertilizer rated reported in the survey, then used as five managment scenarios in DAYCENT for the fairway and rough, and four scenarios for the greens, which are also presented in Table. Model inputs for fairway N application rates were 135, 100, 150, and 180 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for the Saddle Rock (SR), low N (LN), medium N (MN), and high N (HN_75ET) management scenarios, respectively. The model was also used to evaluate how a modification to the SR management scenario would affect SOC and N₂O by reducing N fertilizer inputs by 50% after the first 25 yr of turf establishment (abbreviated as SR_25-50); fertilizer rates for this management scenario on the rough (SR_25-50) were 65 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Model inputs for nitrogen fertilizer rates on the rough were 105, 70, 90, and 130 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for the SR, LN, MN, and HN scenarios, respectively. Management scenarios for N fertilizer rates on the greens section of turf were 150 and 180 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for the GRN_150 and GRN_180, respectively.

Growing season irrigation water applications were reported by Saddle Golf Course began in April and ended in October, with irrigation applications meeting approximately 75 and 50% of evapotranspiration (ET) demand on the fairway and rough. In the model, irrigation water applications were scheduled when soil water content was depleted to 25 and 50% of soil water holding capacity on the fairway and rough, respectively, and used for the SR, LN, MN, HN_50ET (rough), and HN_75ET (fairway) treatments. Using these two irrigation rates for the fairway and rough, the 50 year average was approximately 43.5 and 25 cm of irrigation water per year, respectively. For the high N and irrigation scenarios on the fairway (HN_100ET) and rough (HN_75ET), irrigation rates were simulated to meet 100 and 75%, respectively. The model predicted that on average 47 and 42 cm of irrigation water applied per year over the 50 yr simulation period in order to meet 100 and 75% ET demand, respectively. Also based on Saddle Rock irrigation management on turfgrass managed as the green, irrigation water applications were simulated to meet approximately 75% ET demand for the GRN_150 and GRN_180 treatments. In the model, irrigation was applied to the greens when soil water content was depleted to 25% of soil water holding capacity. A second irrigation rated was also used to 100% ET for the GRN_150_Irri and GRN_150_Irri management scenarios. Over the 50 yr simulation period the model predicted that in order to meet 75 and 100% ET demand that 30 and 35 cm of irrigation water was needed, respectively.

CO₂ Equivalent Coefficients

DAYCENT model output of near term (25yr) and long term (50 yr) changes in SOC (Delta_Carbon, Δ C), N₂O emissions, and N leaching were converted to carbon dioxide equivalents (CO₂e). Means of 4.8, 0.7, and 0.6 kg CO₂ kg⁻¹ were used for production and transportation costs of N, P, and K fertilizers, respectively (Lal, 2004). Pumping irrigation water was cited as producing 0.95 Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ when electricity was the primary source of energy (West and Marland, 2002). Global warming potential of 298 were estimated for N₂O emissions from Forster et al. (2007) over a 100 year time period. In order to compare DAYCENT model outputs to IPCC emission factors we also calculated soil N₂O emission factors based from IPCC (2006) report that assume 1.0% of applied fertilizer will be directly emitted as N₂O. The IPCC (2006) report further describes that 0.75% of leachates will be indirectly emitted as N₂O.

Statistical Methods

Statistical analysis using SAS program PROC CLUSTER (SAS v. 9.2, North Carolina) was used to group golf according to fairway and rough N fertilizer rates. Briefly, we used the Ward method in PROC CLUSTER which bases clustering decisions on similarities and are predicted hierarchically from ANOVA sum of squares. Also there was greater variability in application rates for the fairway and rough turfgrass compared to application rates to the greens, therefore allowing for more distinct groups to be identified in the data set.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

DAYCENT SOC Simulations of Golf Course Turf

At the time of turfgrass establishment, simulated SOC for historic land use was reaching equilibrium, having between 30.3 to 30.5 Mg C ha⁻¹. Preparation and establishment of turf did not a have a major effect on SOC, and levels remained between 30.0 and 30.1 Mg SOC ha⁻¹ for the fairway and rough. After establishment SOC levels began to increase with the onset of N and irrigation applications. The predicted annual aboveground net primary productivity (ANPP) from DAYCENT is presented in Table 1 for the greens, fairway, and rough were approximately 2800, 2500, and 2000 kg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, respectively. Our values closely match field measurements of 1800 kg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Kaye et al., 2005) for medium quality turf, and 2800 kg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Qian et al., 2003) for fine quality turf. Koski and Skinner (2011) estimated that in order to meet turfgrass N requirements for a medium quality lawn that 90 kg N ha⁻¹ would have to be applied annually.

The average age of the golf courses that participated in the survey was thirty-one years, but there was fairly large variation, with year of construction ranging between the years 1901 and 2007. There was also a large variation in turfgrass fertilizer application rates to the fairway and rough section between courses. Nitrogen application rates ranged between 200 and 100 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for fairways and between 110 and 50 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ on the roughs.

Simulations were carried for 50 yrs, and total SOC in the top 20 cm of soil was between 52 and 54 for fairway scenarios, and 48 and 49 Mg C ha⁻¹ for rough scenarios. The DAYCENT model predicted rapid SOC accumulation in the first 25 yr of turf establishment, with maximum C sequestration rates reaching 0.58 and 0.62 Mg C ha⁻¹yr⁻¹ on the fairway, and 0.46 and 0.48 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ on the rough. Simulations of SOC sequestration on putting greens was also rapid reaching 32.5 and 33.1 Mg C ha⁻¹after 50 yr of establishment. Maximum putting green SOC sequestration rates were calculated at 0.55 and 0.66 Mg C ha⁻¹ occurring after 25 yr of turf establishment. Simulated C sequestration rates on the fairways did not reach maximum potentials as reported by Qian and Follett (2002) who measured 0.9 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ from other Colorado golf course fairways. Simulated SOC accumulations of this current study are low but still within range of estimates made by Bandaranayake et al. (2003) who compared simulated and measured SOC sequestration rates using the CENTURY model from Colorado golf course fairways and greens over a 100 year time period. Fairway simulations in the previous study totaled 58 to 80 Mg SOC, and putting greens reached a total of 31 to 36 Mg SOC. The model is sensitive to soil parameters such as bulk density and sand and clay content, and simulations we present in this study may reflect the variability of C sequestration rates for different soil types.

DAYCENT model predictions for N₂O emissions were between 1.1 and 5.9 kg N₂O-N ha $^{-1}$ yr⁻¹ for the 25 and 50 yr simulation periods on the fairway, and 0.75 and 5.3 kg N₂O-N ha $^{-1}$ yr⁻¹ during the same time periods on the rough. There was less variation for the near and long term time periods in terms of N₂O emissions on the greens which ranged between 1.0 and 1.2 kg N₂O-N ha $^{-1}$ yr⁻¹. Emissions from our analysis are within the range of annual N₂O emissions measured

from turfgrass in the field that range between 0.5 and 6.4 kg N_2 O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Guilbault and Mathias, 1998; Kaye et al., 2004; Groffman et al., 2009).

Turfgrass CO₂e Balances from DAYCENT Model Simulations

Due to the dynamic changes in soil C and N during the first 25yr of establishment, we based our CO₂e calculations on near term (first 25yr) and long term (50yr) averages for turf management scenarios; each scenario is described in Table 1. The CO₂e calculations based on DAYCENT model results for the Δ C and N₂O emissions are presented for each turf management scenario in Figure 1; included in the CO₂e balances are the CO₂e costs of fertilizers (N,P, and K) (Lal, 2004) and electricity used for pumping irrigation water (West and Marland, 2002). Simulated SOC accumulation was the most rapid in the first 25 years after establishment, and gradually declined over time. Qian and Follett (2002) estimated that SOM reached equilibrium with 25yrs following establishment on Colorado turfgrass maintained as fairways. The first 25yr after turf establishment DAYCENT predicted Δ C between 2.2, 2.0 and 1.7 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for the greens, fairway and rough, but the 50 yr Δ C was reduced to 1.5, 1.6 and 1.4 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for the respective turf sections.

Simulations of SOC carried out for this study for in the near term (25yr) period are lower than other measured and simulated SOC accumulation which range between 2.4 and 3.4 Mg $CO_2e ha^{-1} yr^{-1}$ (Qian and Follett, 2002; Huh et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2013). However the previous studies reported maximum rates of SOC accumulation which likely occur earlier on (10 yr) prior to SOC saturation, whereas simulations for this report include both the maximum and the slowed rates. Smith (2004) notes that C sequestration rates may greatly decrease after only a few years the soil C enhancing management practices are implemented. Smith et al (1996) goes onto to establish that if C enhancing management practices are not sustained, the C sequestered in subject to rapid loss, posing a question of permanency.

N₂O emissions simulated in DAYCENT were calculated into CO₂e emissions for the near and long term time periods. During the first 25yr emissions were the greatest from high fertilization rates (HN) on the fairway, ranging between 1.5 and 1.6 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, but the SR, LN, and MD scenarios did not exceed 1.1, 1.2 and 1.25 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, respectively. CO₂e emissions from N₂O increased on the fairway to 1.7 and 2.4 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for the HN and HN_100ET management scenarios for the long term (50yr) simulation period, respectively, but emissions were similar for the SR, LN, and MN scenarios, emitting 1.3 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Emissions during the first 25 yr of establishment for management scenarios on the rough were typically below 1.1 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, except for the HN_75ET where emissions averaged 1.4 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. The 50 yr average of emissions were typically below 1.3 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for most management scenarios on the rough, except for the HN_75ET treatment which averaged 1.6 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Turf simulated as the greens were unique in the sense that emissions did not increase from the 25 to 50 yr simulation period, but remained steady, averaging between 1.1 and 1.2 for all treatment scenarios.

Long term DAYCNET model predictions of N₂O emissions increased on the fairway and rough using a constant of fertilizer rate, with emission increases being dependent on N fertilizer rates. Nitrous oxide fluxes from biological sources are dependent upon soil mineral N concentrations, soil water content and temperature, and texture (Del Grosso et al., 2001a; Parton 2001; Del Grosso et al., 2008). DAYCENT is highly sensitive to N inputs (Del Grosso, et al., 2006), and N₂O emission increases simulated on the fairway and rough turfgrass may be a result of that sensitivity. By using different management scenarios, DAYCENT model simulations

demonstrated greater variability in N_2O emissions than over all SOC sequestration rates which had important impacts on CO_2e balances calculated for the fairway and rough.

The net CO_2e balance for all turfgrass management scenarios is presented in Figure 2. Due to the strong global warming potential of N_2O , increases emissions over time significantly affected CO₂e balances. Including CO₂e emissions from pumping irrigation water all management scenarios had a net positive CO₂e balance. The fairway LN treatment had the smallest CO₂e balance of 0.55 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ after 25 yr of turf establishment, while other management scenarios emitted between 0.8 and 1.45 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. The HN 100ET treatment on the fairway had the greatest CO₂e balance after 50yr of establishment than all management scenarios, with a net balance of 2.1 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. The SR 25-50 management scenario, in which fertilizer and irrigation rates were reduced by half after 25 yr of turf establishment, had the lowest CO₂e balance on the fairway after 50 yr of establishment of 0.99 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. This management scenario on the rough however had a balance of 1.2 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, and the LN treatment on the rough had the smallest balance of 0.86 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. There was less variability in the CO₂e balances for the different management scenarios on the greens after 50 yr of turf establishment, with total CO₂e emission ranging between 1.6 and $1.8 \text{ Mg CO2e ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$.

The model predicted soil mineral N leaching rates to be negligible on the fairway and rough using irrigation management scenarios that did not over apply water (50-75% ET). However simulations on fairway where irrigation was applied to meet approximately 100% ET, leaching rates averaged 80 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ over the 50 yr simulation period. There have been many published works on N leaching from turfgrass systems, and most studies conclude that turf systems pose little risk of N leaching (Star and DeRoo, 1981; Miltner et al., 1996; Kopp and

Guillars, 2004; Groffman et al., 2009). However in a review on N leaching rates in turfgrass systems, Petrovic (1990) notes a high degree of variability caused by site specific abiotic factors, such as soil texture, precipitation turf N fertilization and irrigation management practices. Frank et al. (2006) refers to turfgrass age as an important consideration when assessing the risk of over fertilization, and concluded that rates of as low as 50 kg N ha⁻¹ to mature turfgrass stands (>25 yr) increase the potential of N leaching. Along with fertilization, risk of N leaching are increased when turf is over watered. When irrigation is closely monitored to meet actual turf demand the risk of leaching is greatly reduced.

Due to the greater porosity from increased sand content in the top 30 cm of soil there was no increase of N_2O emissions on the greens as there was on the fairway and rough using a constant fertilization rate over time. After 5yr of putting green establishment N_2O emissions doubled, but after this, emissions remained fairly steady for the duration of the simulation. However, because of the sand based root zone on the green DAYCENT predicted much greater leaching rates using all irrigation levels than compared to the fairways and roughs. Nitrous oxide emissions are often lower for course textured soils, while indirect emissions may be much greater (Alder et al., 2012). Leaching causes offsite denitrification, thereby indirectly contributing to atmospheric loading of N_2O concentrations (Cavigelli et al., 2012). Offsite movement of N fertilizer increases indirect N_2O emissions when N fertilizer is denitrified downstream (David et al., 2011).

DAYCENT and IPCC Emission Factors

The current methodology used by the IPCC (2006) estimates 1.0% of applied fertilizer will be emitted as N_2O , yet there has been much criticism of this emission factor because it does

not take into account land use, soil type, or precipitation gradients (Lesschen et al., 2011). Nitrogen can be stored and cycled in the plant soil system for many years prior to harvest, or can be lost through other pathways such as gaseous emissions or leaching (Follett, 2001a). An important feature of the DAYCENT is that it accounts for legacy effects of N fertilizer additions, allowing fertilizer to be internally cycled for multiple years (Del Grosso et al., 2005). The age of the turfgrass stand is an important factor in determining the fate of applied N (Frank et al., 2006), and the ability of turf to retain organic N under constant management is reduced as the age of the stand increases (Bouldin and Lathwell, 1998; Qian et al., 2003; Frank et al. 2006).

Turfgrass has high internal N cycling rates, and when clippings are returned to the system N fertilization should be reduced as the age of the grass stand increases (Qian et al., 2003). Therefore there is a high risk of over fertilizing turfgrass stands that have been established for over 10 yr due to the incapacity of soil to store organic N once equilibrium of SOC matter and net N immobilization are reached (Porter et al., 1980; Petrovic, 1990; Frank et al., 2006).Using the DAYCENT model and fertilization rates of 150 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and irrigation applications of 60 to 100% potential ET, DAYCENT simulations of N₂O emissions from turfgrass by Zhang et al. (2013) dramatically increased within the first 15 yr of turfgrass establishment, reaching maximum N₂O emissions of 6.1 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ after 46 yr.

We compared the 25yr average of N_2O emissions from DAYCENT simulations to the IPCC emission factor of 1% in Figure 3. DAYCENT model predictions of N_2O emission exceeded IPCC emissions by 25 to 100% on fairway, 20 to 45% on the rough, and 50% on the greens for all management scenarios. DAYCENT model simulations from turf have been found to closely match emissions measured in the field (Zhang et al., 2013; Kaye et al., 2004).

However due to the moderate complexity of the model, simulated N_2O fluxes may not exhibit very high accuracy and may need further improvement (Delgrosso et al., 2008).

CONCLUSION

The DAYCENT model predicted rapid SOC sequestration rates in the first 25 yr of turf establishment, with fairways having greater rates than roughs due to greater N fertilizer and irrigation water applications. Rapid SOC sequestration was also predicted on the greens, but reached equilibrium faster due to the sand based root zone. DAYCENT simulations predicted greater N₂O emission after 25yr of turfgrass establishment to the fairway and rough, indicating a need to decrease nitrogen fertilizer inputs. The average age of golf courses that participated in the survey was approximately 30 years, and yet fertilization rates of 180 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ were reported for fairways, indicating that N₂O emissions from Colorado golf course turfgrass may exceed IPCC emission factor of 1%. Simulated N leaching on the fairway and rough is in agreement with other published work, indicating that under proper management risk is minimized, yet over watering can greatly increases leaching. However leaching rates from greens were greater than any other documented studies, indicating that the DAYCENT model is highly sensitive to sand content or may not be fully capable of capturing the dynamic interactions of highly managed turf such as those maintained as golf course greens. According to DAYCENT model simulations, at best CO₂e balances of golf course turf can be C neutral, but are more likely sources of CO₂e emission.

TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 2.1. Fairway, rough and greens management scenarios simulated in DAYCENT fairway and rough management scenarios include Saddle Rock (SR), 50% reduction in N (SR_25-50) (50 yrs only), low nitrogen (LN), medium nitrogen (MN), high nitrogen (HN), and high nitrogen and irrigation (HN_Irri) for the fairway and rough. Four management scenarios of 150 and 180 kg Nha-1 yr-1 (GRN_150 and GRN180) and 150 and 180 kg Nha-1 yr-1 with high irrigation (GRN_150_Irri and GRN_180_Irri) are presented for the greens.

Turfgrass	Management	Nitrogen	Phosphorus	Potassium	Irrigation	Clipping	Leaching
section	Scenario	fertilizer	fertilizer	fertilizer		yield	
		rate	rate	rate		(ANPP)*	
		kg ha ⁻¹	kg ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	kg ha ⁻¹ yr	(%ET)	kg ha ⁻¹	kg ha ⁻¹
Fairway		yr^{-1}		-1		yr ⁻¹	yr ⁻¹
	SR	135	10	58	75	2450	NA
	SR_25-50	65	10	58	50	2350	NA
	Low	100	10	58	75	2300	NA
	Med	150	10	58	75	2500	NA
	High	180	50	100	100	2500	NA
	High N _ Irri	180	50	100	100	2550	80
Rough							
	SR	105	10	25	50	2000	NA
	SR_25-50	50	10	25	50	2000	NA
	Low	70	10	25	50	1950	NA
	Med	90	30	25	50	2100	NA
	High	130	30	60	50	2100	NA
	High N_Irri	130	30	60	75	2200	NA
GREEN	-						
	GRN_150	150	50	180	75	2750	60
	GRN_150	150	50	180	100	2700	80
	GRN_180	180	65	210	75	2800	80
	GRN_180_100ET	180	65	209	100	2850	98

*above ground net primary productivity (ANPP); not applicable (N/A)



Figure 2.1. The carbon dioxide equivalent (CO₂e) balance of for the fairway, rough and green after 25 yr and 50 yr of turfgrass establishment based on direct N₂O emissions (N₂O_direct), change in soil organic carbon sequestration (Delta_Carbon), fertilizer production, and indirect N₂O emissions from leaching (N₂O_indirect). CO2e balances are calculated for four and five management scenarios for first 25yr and 50yr of turfgrass establishment for Saddle Rock (SR), 50% reduction in N (SR_25-50) (50 yrs only), low nitrogen (LN), medium nitrogen (MN), high nitrogen (HN), and high nitrogen and irrigation (HN_Irri) for the fairway and rough. Four management scenarios of 150 and 180 kg Nha-1 yr-1 (GRN_150 and GRN180) and 150 and 180 kg Nha-1 yr-1 with high irrigation (GRN_150_Irri and GRN_180_Irri) are presented for the greens.



Figure 2.2. The net CO_2 equivalent (CO_2e) balance of fairway rough and greens following 25 yr and 50 yr of turfgrass establishment. (* for the 25 yr time period for management scenario SR_25-50 for the fairway and rough are the same for the SR treatment).



Figure 2.3. Nitrous oxide emissions calculated as carbon dioxide equivalents (CO₂e) based on DAYCENT model output and IPCC emission factor of 1% for the four management scenarios on the fairways, rough and greens section of turfgrass. Fairway and rough management scenarios include Saddle Rock (SR), low nitrogen (Low), medium nitrogen (Med), high nitrogen (High), and high nitrogen and irrigation (HighN_Irri). Management scenarios on the greens include 150 and 180 kg Nha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (GRN_150 and GRN180) and 150 and 180 kg Nha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ with high irrigation (GRN_150_Irri and GRN_180_Irri) are presented for the greens.

REFERENCES

- Bandaranayake, W., Y.L. Qian, W.J. Parton, D.S. Ojima, and R.F. Follett, 2003. Estimation of soil organic carbon changes in turfgrass systems using the CENTURY model. Agron. J. 95: 558-563.
- Bouldin, D.R. and D.J. Lathwell. 1968. Behavior of soil organic nitrogen. Bell. 1023, Cornell Univ. Agric. Ext. Stn. Ithica, NY.
- Bremer, D. 2006. Nitrous Oxide fluxes in turfgrass: Effects of nitrogen fertilization rates and types. J. of Environ. Qual. 35(5): 1678-1685.
- Cavigelli, M.A., S.J. Del Grosso, M.A. Liebig, C.S. Snyder, P.E. Fixen, R. T. Venterea, A.B.
 Leytem, J.E. McLain and D.B. Watts. 2012. US agricultural nitrous oxide emissions:
 context, status and trends. Front Ecol. Environ. 10(10): 573-546.Del Grosso, S.J., D.S.
 Ojima, W.J. Parton, A.R. Mosier, G.A. Peterson, and D.S. Schimel. 2002. Simulated
 effects of dryland cropping intensification on soil organic matter and greenhouse gas
 emissions using the DAYCENT ecosystem model. Environ. Pollut. 116:S75-S83.
- Conant, R.T., K. Paustian, and E.T. Elliott. 2001. Grassland management and conversion into grassland: effects on soil carbon. Ecol Appl 11:343–355
- Del Grosso, S.J. A.D. Halvorson, and W.J. Parton. 2008. Testing DAYCENT models simulations of corn yields and nitrous oxide emissions irrigated tillage systems in Colorado. J. Environ. Qual. 37: 1383-1389.

- Del Grosso, S.J., W.J. Parton, A.R. Mosier, M.K. Walsh, D.S. Ojima, and P.E. Thornton. 2006.
 DAYCENT national scale simulations of N₂O emissions form cropped soils in the USA.
 J. Environ. Qual. 35:1451-1460.
- Del Grosso, S.J., A.R Mosier, W.J. Parton and D.S. Ojima. 2005. DAYCENT model analysis of past and contemporary soil N₂O and greenhouse gas flux for major crop in the USA. Soil and Tillage Res. 83:9-24.
- Del Grosso, S.J., D.S. Ojima, W.J. Parton, A.R. Mosier, G.A. Peterson, and D.S. Schimel. 2002.
 Simulated effects of dryland cropping intensification on soil organic matter and
 greenhouse gas exchanges using the DAYCENT ecosystem model. Environ. Pollut. 116:
 S75-S85.
- Dobbie, K. E., I.P. McTaggart, and K.A. Smith. 1999. Nitrous oxide from intensive agricultural systems: variation between crops and seasons, key driving variables, and mean emission factors. J. Geophys. Res. 104(D21):26891-26899.
- Follett, R.F. 2001a. Nitrogen transformation and transportation processes. In: Follett, R.F., M.J. Hatfield (Eds.) Nitrogen in the Environment. Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, pp.17-44.
- Forster, P., V. Ramaswamy, P. Artaxo, T. Berntsen, R. Betts, D.W. Fahey, J. Haywood, J. Lean,
 D.C. Lowe, G. Myhre, J. Nganga, R. Prinn, G. Raga, M. Schulz and R. Van Dorland,
 2007: Changes in Atmospheric Constituents and in Radiative Forcing. In: *Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* [Solomon,
 S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M.Tignor and H.L. Miller

(eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

- Frank, K.W., K.M. O'Reilly, J.R. Crum, and R.N. Calhoun. 2006. The fate of nitrogen applied to a mature Kentucky Bluegrass turf. Crop Sci. 46: 2009-215.
- Groffman, P., C.O. Willimas, R.V. Pouyat, L.E. Band, and I.D. Yesilonis. 2009. Nitrate leaching and nitrous oxide flux in urban forests and grasslands. J. Environ. Qual. 38: 1848-1860.
- Guilbalt, M.R. and A.D. Mathius. 1998. Emission of N2O from Sonora Desert and effluentirrigated grass ecosystems. J. Arid Environ. 38:87-98.
- Guillard, K. and K.L. Kopp. 2004. Nitrogen fertilizer form and associated nitrate leaching from coo-season lawn tur. J. Environ. Qual. 22:119-125.
- Hull, R.J., and H. Liu. 2005. Turfgrass nitrogen: Physiology and environmental impacts. Int. Turfgrass Soc. Res. J. 10:962–975.
- IGBP, Terrestrial Carbon Working Group. 1998. The terrestrial carbon cycle: Implications for the Kyoto Protocol. 280(5368):1393-1394.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). 2006. In: Eggleston, H.S., L. Buendia, K. Miwa, T. Ngara, K. Tanabe (Eds.), 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, IGES, Hayama, Japan Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme.
- Kaye, J.P., I. Burke, A. Mosier, and J. Guerschman. 2004. Methane and nitrous oxide emissions form urban soils to the atmosphere. Ecolog. Apps. 14(4): 975-981.

- Kaye, J.P., R.L. McCulley, and I.C. Burke. 2005. Carbon fluxes, nitrogen cycling, and soil microbial communities in adjacent urban, native, and agriculture ecosystmes. Glob. Change Biol. 11: 575-587.
- Koski, A.J. and V. Skinner. 2011. Lawn care. Colotado State Univ. Ext. www. Colostate.edu/pubs/Garden/0702.html (acssessed 10 June, 2014)
- Lal, R. and J.P. Bruce. 1999. The potential of world cropland soils to sequester C and mitigate the greenhouseeffect. Environ Sci Policy 2:177–185
- Lal, R. 2004a. Soil carbon sequestration to mitigate climate change. Geoderma. 123: 1-22.
- Lal, R. 2004b. Carbon emissions from farm operations. Environ. Int. 30:981-990.
- Lesschen, J.P, G.L. Velthof, W. de Vries, and J. Kros. 2011. Differentiation of nitrous oxide emission factors for agricultural soils. Eniron. Poll. 159:3215-3222.
- Li, X., T. Meixner, J. Sickman, A. Miller, J. Schimal, and J.Melack. 2006. Decadal-scale dynamics of water, carbon and nitrogen in a California chaparral ecosystem: DAYCENT modeling Results. Biogeochemistry 77: 217-277.
- Miltner, E.D., B.E. Branham, E.A. Paul and P.E. Rieke. 1995. Leaching and mass Balance of 15N labeled urea applied to a Kentucky bluegrass turf. Crop Sci. 36:1427-1433.
- Parton, W.J., E.A. Holland, S.J. Del Grosso, M.D. Hartman, R.E. martin, A.R. Mosier, D.S. Ojima, and D.S. Schimel. 2001. Genralized model for NOx and N2O emissions from soils. J. Geophys. Res. 160(D15):17403-17420.

- Parton, W.J. and P.E. Rasmussen. 1994. Long term effects of residue management in wheat fallow: I. Century model simulations. Soil Sci Am. J. 58:530-536.
- Parton, W.J., J.M.O. Scurlock, D.S. Ojima, T.G. Gilmanov, R.J. Scholes, D.S. Schimel, T.
 Kirchner, J.C. Menault, T. Seastdt, E. Garcia, Moya, A. Kamnalrut, and J.I. Kinyamario.
 1993. Observations and modeling of biomass and organic matter dynamics for the
 grassland biome worldwide. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 7:785-809.
- Parton, W.J., D.S. Schimel, C.V. Cole, and D.S. Ojima. 1987. Analysis of factors controlling soil organic matter levels in the Great Plains grasslands. Soil Sci. Am. J. 51:1137-1179.
- Petrovic, A.M. 1990. The fate of nitrogenous fertilizers applied to turfgrass. J. Environ. Qual. 19:124–130.
- Poulter, B., D. Frank, P. Ciais, R.B. Myneni, N. Andela, J. Bi, G. Broquet, J.G. Canadell, F. Chevallier, Y.Y. Liu, S.W. Running, S. Sitch, and G.R. van der Werf. 2014. Contribution of semi-arid ecosystems to interannual variability of the global carbon cycle. Letters: Nature. 509: 600-603.
- Qian, Y.L. and R.F. Follett. 2002. Assessing soil carbon sequestration in turfgrass systems using long-term soil testing data. Agron. J. 64: 930-935.
- Qian, Y.L., W. Bandaranayanke, W.J. Parton, B. Mecham, M.A. Harivandi, and A.R. Mosier. 2003. Long-term effects of clipping and nitrogen management in turfgrass on soil organic carbon and nitrogen dynamics: The CENTURY model simulation. J. Environ. Qual. 32: 1694-1700.

- Ravishankara A.R., J.S. Daniel, and R.W. Portmann. 2009. Nitrous oxide (N₂O): the dominant ozone-depleting substance emitted in the 21st century. Science 326: 123–25.
- Smith, P., D.S. Powlson and M.J. Glendining.1996. Establishing a European soil organic matter network (SOMNET). In: Evaluation of soil organic matter models using existing, longterm datasets, eds. D.S. Powlson, P. Smith & J.U. Smith, NATO ASI Series I, Vol. 38. Springer-Verlag Berlin pp. 81-98.
- Smith, P. 2004. Soil as carbon sinks: the global context. Soil Use and Manage. 20:212-218.
- Star, J.L. and H.C. DeRoo. 1981. The fate of nitrogen fertilizer applied to turfgrass. Crop Sci. 21: 531- 539.
- Syakila and C. Koeze. 2011. The global nitrous oxide budget revisited. Greenhouse gas Measurement and Mgmt. 1: 17-26.
- Tanner, R.A., and A.C. Gange. 2010. Effects of golf course on local biodiversity. Landscape Urban Plann. 71: 137-146.
- West, T.O., and G. Marland. 2001.A synthesis of carbon sequestration, carbon emissions, and net carbon flux in agriculture: Comparing tillage practices in the United States. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 91:217–232.
- Zirkle, G., L. Rattan and B. Augustin. 2011 Modeling carbon sequestration in home lawns. Hort Sci. 46(5): 808-814.

CHAPTER 3:

NITROUS OXIDE EMISSIONS FROM A COLORADO GOLF COURSE USING DIFFERENT NITROGEN RELEASE MECHANISMS

SYNOPSIS

Urban areas are expanding, but few studies have quantified nitrous oxide (N_2O) emissions from turf systems, especially those that are intensively managed such as golf courses. UMaxx[®], Polyon[®], and BCMU[®] three fertilizer treatments that utilize different mechanisms of controlling N release, were applied to a Front Range Colorado golf course fairway and rough three times during the 2011 growing season at a rate of 50 kg N ha⁻¹ per application. The vented chamber method was used to measure turf-soil-atmospheric trace gas exchange. Cumulative emissions from fairway UMaxx, Polyon, and BCMU treatments totaled 6.5, 1.9, and 7.6 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, representing a 4.0, 1.2 and 4.7% loss, respectively. The summer fairway fertilization produced the greatest N₂O fluxes, but was most significant for plots treated with UMaxx and BCMU materials. Rapid fluxes during the summer were likely related to low physiological activity in cool-season turfgrass, and warm, wet soil conditions that increased denitrification rates. However, Polyon treatments applied to the fairway were more resistant to N₂O losses than other fertilizer treatments. Fertilizer treatments applied to the rough had cumulative emissions of 2.4, 1.5, and 1.5 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ from UMaxx, Polyon, and BCMU treatments, and corresponds to a 1.3, 0.6, and 0.6% loss of total N applied, respectively. Differences in turf management played a significant role on N₂O emission rates. Therfore, understanding variables that affect

such emissions from golf course turfgrass will help decrease nitrogen losses and maximize benefits of urban green spaces.

INTRODUCTION

Increased greenhouse gases (GHGs), e.g.carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄), and nitrous oxide (N₂O) have contributed to climatic warming and destruction of atmospheric ozone (Cicerone, 1989). Anthropogenic N₂O emissions make up 60% of the global budget, with the remainder coming from natural sources (Syakila and Kroeze, 2011). Nitrous oxide has much greater global warming potential than CO₂ (Syakila and Kroeze, 2011), and stays chemically active in the atmosphere for approximately 114 years (Albritton and Mira-Filho, 2001). Since the onset of the industrial era, the 20% increase of N₂O concentration has been almost linear over time(Forster et al., 2007), and now exceeds 320 ppbv (Smith et al., 2012). This increase signals the impact humans have had on the global nitrogen (N) cycle from the transfer of unreactive atmospheric gas (N₂), to biological terrestrial and aquatic systems. Combining future predictions of urbanization, population growth, and energy and food demands, anthropogenic N₂O emissions are likely to continue to have ecological impacts for decades to come (Vitousek et al. 1997; Ravishankara et al. 2009, Chu and Manjumbar, 2011).

While specific sources and quantities of N_2O emissions are uncertain, it is clear that soil management practices from legume cropping, and fertilizer and manure applications are primary sources of U.S. agricultural N_2O emissions (US EPA, 2011). Nitrous oxide is released as a side product of soil microbial nitrification and denitrification. The rate of nitrous oxide emissions from soils is a function of soil temperature and moisture, top soil N substrate availability, as well as labile C substrates for denitrification (Granli and Bøckman, 1994; Skiba and Smith, 2000; Conen et al., 2000). As a result, environmental conditions and soil management practices that

affect soil moisture, temperature and nitrogen substrate, significantly impact the amount of soil N₂O released (Skiba and Smith, 2000; Bremer, 2006; Clayton et al. 2007).

Rapid urbanization has occurred in the past 25 years worldwide, and turfgrass is a common feature in urban landscapes (Yao and Shi, 2010; Dell et al., 2010; Bandaranayake et al., 2003). Turfgrass ecosystems are highly managed, and one of the most extensively irrigated crops in the United States (Milesi et al., 2005). Recent research (Qian and Follett, 2002; Zirkle et al., 2011) has described turfgrass systems as contributors to atmospheric CO₂ mitigation through rapid SOC sequestration as a result of nutrient input management and sustained soil cover due the perennial nature of turfgrass. However, without comprehensive accounting of total GHG emissions in managed systems, a complete understanding of the carbon (C) and (N) nitrogen cycle through ecosystem functions cannot be possible (Robertson and Grace, 2004; Del Grosso et al., 2005; Townsend and Czimick, 2010). Research has only recently begun to evaluate the important human-environmental interactions in residential landscapes (Byrne and Grewal, 2008). In particular, N cycling in turfgrass systems has not been as rigorously studied as in agricultural systems (Groffman et al., 2009), leaving environmental impacts of these fertilized and irrigated areas uncertain (Kaye et al., 2004; Zhang et al. 2013).

Although N₂O emissions tend to directly increase with N fertilizer application (Granli and Bøckman 1994; Maggiotto et al., 2000; Lokupitiya and Paustian, 2006), the amount of N₂O released per kg of N applied cab vary (Van Groenigen et al. 2010; Lesschen et al. 2011). Recent advancements in fertilizer technology that alter interactions between N additions and the soil environment may decrease N₂O emissions by reducing environmental losses and increasing plant nutrient availability compared to conventional types (Shuman 2006; Olson-Rutz et al., 2009). There are several mechanisms by which N fertilizer technology may alter the release of nitrogen.

Blaylock et al. (2004) characterized controlled release fertilizers, as inorganic N compounds that have low solubility and release rates intended to match plant demand. Stabilized or slow release N fertilizers, inhibit microbial or enzyme activity, decreasing denitrification by maintaining N substrate in the more stable form of ammonium (Halvorson et al., 2013). Quantifying how the relationship changes for different types of fertilizer is a primary focus of current research (e.g., Halvorson et al., 2013), but more research is needed to assess how different mechanisms of fertilizer release are affected under a variety of conditions.

Today, golf courses are a common landscape feature around the world, with an estimate of 32,000 courses globally (Tanner and Gange, 2005), that are typically 60-80 ha in size (EPA, 2010). There is limited research on turf-atmospheric exchanges of trace gases (Guilbault and Matthias, 1998), especially those that address the impact of intensive management practices unique to golf courses, such as frequent fertilization, mowing, and irrigation events. The purpose of this research was to quantify N₂O emissions from a Colorado golf course fairway and rough using three urea fertilizers with different mechanisms that control N release. Fertilizers were applied multiple times to each fairway and rough throughout the growing season to determine when N₂O losses were the greatest from the two turfgrass sites.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Site Description and Fertilizer Applications

This study was conducted on the Front Range of Colorado, USA, in a region where urban sprawl has changed primary land use from rural to suburban. The club was opened to golfers in 2007, but the historical land use for the site was a 100 year old alfalfa and sheep farm. The soil is classified as 67.4% Larim gravelly sandy clay loam, and 32.6% Ascalon sandy clay loam. The

soil is calcareous with a pH of 7.5, with a sandy clay loam texture from 1-5 cm, and the soil texture below (5-90 cm) is sandy clay. Soil mineral fractions of sand, silt and clay, bulk density and soil organic carbon and nitrogen in the 0-5 cm of the soil profile are presented in Table 1. Mean air temperature during the study period, June 2011 to May 2012, was 10.1 0 C, 1.2 0 C above the 20 year average. There was a total of 124 mm of precipitation during the study period, about half of the 20 year average.

In 2006 Perennial ryegrass (*Lolium perenne*) was seeded to fairways, and Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis* L.) was sodded to roughs. Fairways are mowed three times per week at 1.9 cm height. Roughs are mowed one or two times per week at 6.35 cm height. Irrigation water is applied every day starting in March and ending in October at approximately 100% evapotranspiration on the fairway and rough sites. Prior to the experimental plot establishment, the last fertilizer application occurred in May and July of 2010, and totaled 250 and 175 kg N ha⁻¹ of POLYON[®] on the fairway and rough, respectively.

Turfgrass fairway and rough study plots were selected in early May of 2011 (Julian day of year (DOY) 122) at a golf club near Fort Collins, CO. Global positioning systems located the exact field sites to be 32.066°N, 57.65°W on the fairway and 32.064°N, 57.69°W on the rough. Turfgrass plots were selected on the back-nine of the golf course where there was minimal soil disturbance during golf course construction. The primary factors investigated were fertilizer treatments and turfgrass sites (fairway versus rough). A randomized complete block design was established on the fairway and rough in order to accommodate three replications and four treatments which included three EEN fertilizers and one control (zero fertilizer). Each block was divided into 12 plots, with each plot measuring 1.5 m² in size, and 60 cm borders separating replications, to accommodate the four treatments (control, UMaxx, Polyon and BCMU).

The three granular urea fertilizer sources evaluated were as follows: UMaxx[®] (47% N) (Koch Agronomic Services, LLC, Wichita, KS), and two Agrium Advanced Technologies fertilizers Polyon[®] (42% N) and balance chain methylene urea BCMU[®] (21% N) (Loveland, CO). UMaxx [®] uses an soil enzyme inhibitors nitrification dicyandiamide (DCD) and urease thiophosphoric triamide (TPT) as a slow release mechanism; Polyon® is a polymer coated controlled release urea fertilizer; and BCMU[®], is an uncoated balanced methylene urea chain, that requires biological degradation, much like urea. Fertilizers were applied three times during the growing season, on Julian DOY 165, 210, and 259 of 2011 during the months of June, July, and September (from here on fertilizer treatment was split into three applications, with 50 kg N ha⁻¹ of each fertilizer was mixed with approximately 50 g of sand and applied by hand for an even distribution across each treatment plot. After fertilization 8-10 mm of irrigation water was applied through an in-ground sprinkler irrigation system to all fertilized plots.

Soil Processing

Baseline soil samples were collected during the spring of 2011 (DOY 122) using techniques highlighted by Follett (2009). Briefly, by under cutting with a flat bladed shovel, one 25 cm³ square of whole intact soil was extracted from the top 0-5, 5-10, and 10-30 cm of the soil profile from one of the four corners of the randomized block. Upon extraction each sample was immediately and carefully placed in plastic bags to preserve field soil moisture and soil structure. Soil samples at 30-60 cm and 60-90 cm in the first replication of samples were extracted using a metal soil core of a known volume and handled accordingly. On the following three replications
of soil samples, only the top 0-5 and 5-10 cm of soil were extracted by under cutting with the shovel blade, and the remaining three depths were extracted using soil cores.

Soils were transported to the USDA-ARS laboratories and stored at until further processing. Prior to soil processing the top 0-5cm of soil was placed on an aluminum tray where verdure was removed with a razor blade; subsequently the fairway organic mat (Perennial ryegrass) or the rough thatch layer (Kentucky bluegrass) was also removed with a razor blade, accounting for approximately 1.25 cm and 1.50 cm of the top soil, respectively. The mat and thatch layers were excluded from the soil analysis. Approximately, 12-15g of soil was subsampled and weighed in order to calculate gravimetric soil water content by placing moist soil samples in a 110 °C oven overnight to determine percent moisture. Soil bulk density was calculated based on percent moisture from filed samples and specific volume of soil extracted per sample.

Another subsample of 250-500g of soil was taken from each replicated depth, processed through a 2 mm sieve and air dried. Soil fractionation of particulate sand, silt, and clay, as well as soil inorganic nitrogen (N) were determined using the sieving methods, with respective sieve sizes of >53 micrometer (μ m), >20 μ m, and < 20 μ m, respectively. Additionally, 50g of sieved soil was sent to the Colorado State University Soil Laboratory and analyzed for soil carbon, soil texture, and pH.

Soil Inorganic Nitrogen

Soils were collected from each fairway and rough treatment plot at the end of the year (EOY) in the fall of 2011 (DOY 327) using metal soil probes at the same five incremental depths. To estimate soil NH₄-N and NO₃-N concentrations, approximately 100 g of sieved soil

collected from baseline soils in the spring (DOY 122) and EOY soil samples from the fall were extracted using 1M KCl and analyzed using a flow injection analyzer (Lachat, Milwaukie, WI).

Measurement of Trace Gas Fluxes

The measurement of turf-atmosphere N₂O and CO₂ exchange for this study began on DOY 166, 2011 and continued through DOY 139, 2012. Nitrous oxide fluxes were measured using the vented chamber method described by Hutchinson and Mosier (1981) and others (Mosier et al., 2006; Parkin and Ventera, 2010). Each chamber consisted of a removable chamber top and a permanently installed collar. Chamber tops were made of poly-vinyl chloride (PVC) pipe that measured 12.5 cm in height and 10.6 cm in diameter. Two PVC trace gas collars, 12.5 cm in height, were permanently installed into the soil in the center of each treatment plot as replicate measurements, totaling 24 collars on the fairway and rough.

In order to not interrupt the golf course play or turf maintenance, the original chamber design was modified. Collars were installed to a depth at which they were level to the ground and the chamber's usual rubber seal was replaced with a fabricated16 gauge stainless steel band that was bolted to the bottom of the chamber (Figure 1). The steel band over hung the PVC pipe by 2.5 cm and weather filler rod was adhesively applied to the bottom of the PVC pipe to create the necessary airtight seal, allowing the chamber to fit snug on top of the collars during gas sample collection.

On measurement days chambers were placed on collars and gas samples were extracted at 0-, 15-, and 30- minute time intervals using 35 mL polypropylene syringes fitted with nylon stopcocks. A total of six gas measurements were taken for every treatment per sampling interval. Air temperatures were taken at the beginning and end of each 30- minute sampling period for

each section of turfgrass. Temperatures inside the chambers were assumed to be equivalent to ambient air temperatures because chambers were covered with highly reflective foil.

Upon trace gas collection, samples were transported to the USDA-ARS-SPNR laboratories and 25 mL of gas sample was injected into evacuated tube exetainers sealed with butyl rubber septa (Exetainer vial Labco Limited, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, UK) for analysis by gas chromatography (GC). The concentrations of N₂O and CO₂ were determined simultaneously for the two trace gases using a fully automated gas chromatograph (Varian Model Inc., Palo Alto, CA). The gas chromatograph was equipped with a Hayesen D packed column and an electron capture detector to quantify N₂O, and a thermal conductivity detector for CO₂. Gas flux rates were calculated according to Hutchinson and Mosier (1981) and flux patterns were evaluated according to increases in concentration inside the chamber head space over time (Livingston and Hutchinson, 1995). Flux calculations included adjustments for prevailing air temperature and for an atmospheric pressure of 640 mm mercury (Hg) using the ideal gas law (Delgado and Mosier, 1996).

Trace gas sampling frequency was at least twice per week throughout the growing season, June through November, and samples were taken between 0900h and 1400h to decrease the diurnal temperature affect. After fertilizer was applied sampling frequency was increased to three times for the following week. During the winter and spring of 2012, with weather permitting, samples were taken once every two weeks, although no additional fertilizers were applied at these times.

Ancillary variables

Each day trace gases were collected the top 10 cm of the soil surface temperature and volumetric water content was also measured using an EC-Tm probe (Decagon Devices In., Pullman, WA). The soil devices were placed directly adjacent to each of the experimental fairway and rough plots and were assumed to represent whole plot temperature and soil water volumetric content. Water filled pore space (WFPS) was calculated as:

WFPS =
$$\frac{VSWC}{1 - (\frac{BD}{PD})}$$

Soil bulk density (*BD*) is 1.43 and 1.52 g cm⁻³ for the fairway and rough, respectively, and *PD* is particle density (an assumed valued of 2.65 g cm⁻³).

Statistical and Data Analysis:

The 2011–2012 cumulative trace gas fluxes of N₂O and CO₂ emissions measured from each treatment plot were calculated using linear interpolations between each successive sampling day to provide daily flux estimates for non-sampling days. An analysis of variance (ANOVA) of annual N₂O emissions was used to test the effects of site (fairway and rough) and fertilizer treatment using the statistic analytical program SAS v.9.2 (SAS Institute, 2008, Cary, NC, USA) PROC MIXED linear model. Contrasts of LSD were performed using the Satterthwaite option in the fixed effects portion of the model, with site nested within replications and used as a random variable.

The percentage of applied N lost through annual N_2O emissions was calculated as the difference between the Control and each fertilizer treatment cumulative emission and divided by total kg of N applied, and expressed as emission factors.

Replicate chambers within treatment plots were averaged and treated as individual values for each of three replications. The daily flux averages were calculated for the three fertilization periods F1, F2, and F3 by dividing the cumulative flux for each fertilization period by the days in that sampling period, and log transformed to meet assumptions of normality. Flux averages were subjected to an ANOVA using the PROC MIXED model to test the effects of site, treatment, and fertilization period, along with corresponding interactions (Table 2). Site was nested within replication and treated as a random variable. Individual sampling dates were also statistically evaluated using PROC GLIMMIX to test for significant fluxes per treatment. Significant differences were reported at P<0.05 confidence level.

Pearson's correlations were used to identify significant associations between soil N₂O fluxes and soil WFPS and temperature using the PROC CORR model. Exponential regression analyses were further used to identify the relationship between soil N₂O flux and soil temperature and moisture on the fairway and rough using PROC NLIN. Initially PROC REG was used to estimate the two *a* and *b* parameters for the non-linear regression analysis. The PROC NLN output then generated two exact *a* and *b* parameters for fairway and rough fertilizer treatments that were used in the exponential equation:

$$N_2 O(T) = a e^{bT}$$

where T is temperature and a and b are parameter coefficients (Davidson et al., 1998).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Annual Cumulative Emissions

Results showed a significant interaction between cumulative fairway and rough N_2O emissions and fertilizer treatments (P<0.0001) (Table 2). Cumulative emissions and emission

factors per treatment are presented in Figure 1. Fairway UMaxx and BCMU treated plots had the greatest cumulative emissions of all experimental plots (P<0.0001), totaling 6.5 and 7.6 kg N_2O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, equating to emission factors of 4.0 and 4.7%, respectively (Fig1.a). Annual emissions from fairway UMaxx and BCMU treatments were similar to emissions from an Arizona golf course fairway that emitted 6.4 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ annually from effluent water treatments (Guilbault and Matthias, 1998).

Cumulative emissions from fairway plots treated with UMaxx and BCMU materials were significantly greater (P<0.0001) than those from Polyon treated plots, emitting 34 and 43% more N₂O, respectively. Annual emissions from fairway Polyon treatments totalled 1.9 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, a 1.2% loss of total N applied (Figure1a). UMaxx treated plots applied to the rough section of turf had similar emissions as the fairway Polyon fairway treatments. Emissions from the rough UMaxx treated plots totaled 2.4 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹, equivalent to a 1.3% emission factor (Fig.1b). Emission from the fairway Polyon and the rough UMaxx treatments were similar to those measured on a Colorado Front Range home lawn that totaled 2.4 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Kaye et al., 2004).

Cumulative emissions from UMaxx and BCMU treatments applied to the rough were reduced by 64 and 80% compared to the respective fairway treatments. In contrast to the fairway site, where UMaxx and BCMU treatments had similar emissions and flux trends, Polyon and BCMU treatments were more comparable on the rough. Polyon and BMCU treatments applied to the rough cumulatively emitted 1.5 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ each, equivalent to a 0.6% loss of total N applied (Figure 1b). In comparison, Bremer (2006) reported annual emissions of 1.65 and 1.60 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ from urea and ammonium sulfate treatments, respectively. The previous study applied a total of 250 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in multiple applications

over the course of a year to a turfgrass sward in Manhattan, Kansas. Emissions from fairway and rough Control plots were significantly lower than fertilized plots and emissions totaled 0.5 and 0.7 kg N_2 O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, respectively.

N₂O Flux Rates from Fertilizer Treatments

Prior to fertilizer treatment applications to the fairway and rough, fluxes were measured on DOY 157, 162 and 163, 2011, and did not exceed 2.5 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹. As shown in Table 2, we identified a significant three way interaction between the fairway and rough sites, fertilizer treatments, and fertilization periods (P<0.05). Therefore we compare N₂O flux rates among the three fertilizer treatments during three fertilizations periods (F1, F2, and F3) on the fairway and the rough.

The spring time F1 fertilizer was applied to the fairway and rough plots on DOY 165 of 2011. The F1 fertilizer treatment applications did not immediately increase soil N₂O fluxes, but as the spring season progressed and temperatures rose, fluxes also gradually increased. While there was not a site effect between fertilized treatments, fluxes from treated plots on the rough exceeded those from the fairway, with peak fluxes averaging 25 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ several weeks after fertilizer treatments were applied (Fig. 2c). Peak fluxes from rough treatments occurred when soil WFPS was 45%, suggesting that microbial nitrification was the dominant microbial process causing N₂O emissions. Soil WFPS was lower on the rough compared to the fairway, and was likely caused by taller mowing height on the rough. As mowing height is raised, plant water use increases and more water is transpired per unit of ground area (Biran et al., 1981). In turn, greater transpiration rates on the rough caused drier soil conditions, increasing soil aeration and possibly microbial nitrification.

Contrarily, flux trends from fairway fertilized plots were typically below 10 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ (Fig. 2a), and soil WFPS often exceeded 60% (Fig. 2b), suggesting that denitrification was the dominant process during the F1 fertilization period. In order to explain these low N₂O fluxes, we hypothesize that greater rates of dinitrogen (N₂) or nitric oxide (NO) were being emitted from fairway fertilized plots. Nitrous oxide is just one of the gaseous forms of nitrogen that can be released during denitrification, and under highly anaerobic conditions, redox reactions can alter the amount of nitrate being reduced to dinitrogen (N₂). Davidson (1991) predicted that most N₂O is reduced to N₂ when soil WFPS is 60% or greater. If in fact greater amounts of N₂ or NO were being emitted from fairway plots during the F1 fertilizer period, these gases would be undetected by our methodologies.

The second (F2) round of fertilizer applications were applied to the fairway and rough during July, approximately 55 days after the first fertilization (Figure 2). Rapid and episodic soil N₂O fluxes were triggered on the fairway UMaxx and BCMU treated plots three days following the F2 fertilizer additions. Peak fluxes of 675 and 950 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ were measured from fairway UMaxx and BCMU treated plots, respectively (Fig. 2a), and contributed substantially to annual emissions, generating approximately 60% of the total for the year. At the time of the F2 application to the fairway soil conditions favored denitrification, with soil temperatures and WFPS reaching 22.5⁰C and 70%, respectively (Fig. 2b).

Turfgrass systems house a diverse community of soil denitrifying microbes (Yoa and Shi, 2010; Dell et al., 2010), and denitrification rates can be substantial when soil is near saturation (Mancino et al., 1998; Maggiotto et al., 2000). Under wet soil conditions N_2O emissions tend to be the greatest (Dobbie and Smith, 1999; Mathieu et al., 2006), therefore avoiding saturated soil conditions is a recommended N_2O mitigation practice (Grassini and Cassman, 2012). However,

Trenkel (2010) referenced N fertilizer formulated with slow release mechanisms as not typically well controlled. Therefore more information is needed on the soil biochemical processes and management practices that affect N release rates (Venterea et al., 2012).

Less than a week after peak fluxes were measured, fluxes from fairway UMaxx and BCMU treatments declined to 5 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ for the remainder of the F2 fertilization period. Observed flux patterns in combination with high soil WFPS again suggest that soil microbial denitrification was the dominant process triggering rapid N₂O fluxes from UMaxx and BCMU treatments. Denitrification events tend to produce larger but shorter lived emissions due to the extreme abiotic conditions that must be in place for this process to occur (Skiba and Smith, 1999). Following peak fluxes from fairway UMaxx and BCMU treatments plots, fluxes did not exceed background emission levels, therefore it is possible that emissions were limited by N substrate following rapid fluxes.

Nitrous oxide emissions following the summer fertilization to the fairway were further increased by low plant physiological activity. Nitrous oxide emissions are related to the amount of excess N in the system rather than N inputs (Grassini and Cassman, 2012). Plant N uptake plays a significant role in the production of soil N₂O (Linquist et al., 2012). Warm summer temperatures retard N uptake in cool-season turfgrass species (Hull and Liu, 2005); coupled with wet, warm soil condition that can quickly convert urea to inorganic forms, N losses can be substantial if cool-season grasses physiological activity is low (Petrovic, 1990).

Compared to UMaxx and BCMU treatments, fairway plots treated with Polyon were much more resistant to rapid fluxes following summer (F2) fertilization. Soil N₂O fluxes from fairway Polyon treatments also peaked three days following the second fertilization (Fig. 2a), but

were five and eight times less than fairway UMaxx and BCMU treatments, respectively. Maximum fluxes from fairway Polyon treatments measured130 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹, however, once initial peaks occurred, N₂O fluxes persisted for several weeks, but rates did not exceed 56 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹. The prolonged and smaller fluxes over the next several weeks aided in significantly lowering cumulative emissions from fairway Polyon treatments. Technology formulated for Polyon coated material is designed to release more N as soil temperatures increase, slowing the release of urea and inhibiting N₂O fluxes by limiting N availability to microbial processes (Halvorson et al., 2013). The temperature controlled release mechanism for Polyon was highly effective in reducing N₂O emissions in the wet fairway soils. Nelson et al., 2008, also found similar results, suggesting that the coated technology formulated for Polyon may greatly reduce N₂O emissions in poorly-drained soils that are subject to denitrification.

Nitrous oxide fluxes from fertilized plots on the rough were significantly lower (P<0.0001) than those measured from the fairway following the second fertilization. Fluxes from rough UMaxx treated plots increased to 24 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ three days after the F2 application, as shown in Figure 2c. Fluxes from rough Polyon and BCMU treated plots did not significantly increase following application and averaged 9 and 10g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹, respectively, for the second fertilization period. Soil WFPS on the rough turfgrass at the time of F2 fertilization was 55%, aiding in lower N₂O flux rates. Nitrification is often the dominant process in drier soils (WFPS>60%) (Bateman and Baggs, 2005; Mathieu et al., 2006; Williams, et al., 1992), and tend to be smaller and generally more common (Skiba and Smith, 1999). However, less than a week after F2 fertilizer application, soil WFPS on the rough increased to 78%, triggering N₂O fluxes of 37 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ from UMaxx treatments (Fi. 2c and d).

However, UMaxx treated plots were the only treatments on the rough to significantly respond to the increase in soil WFPS.

The third and final F3 fertilization was applied to the fairway and rough in mid-September, about 49 days after the second F2 fertilization (DOY 259 of 2011). Daily fluxes from fairway plots fertilized with UMaxx and BCMU peaked one week following application at 253 and 98 g N_2O -N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹, respectively; a three and tenfold reduction of peak fluxes compared to F2 fertilization, respectively. In contrast to the F2 fertilization, fairway fluxes from UMaxx treatment were greater than BCMU treatments following the F3 fertilization. When peak fluxes occurred following the F3 fertilization fairway soil temperature was 20^oC and WFPS space was 65%; however soil temperatures began to quickly decline the days following the final fertilization. Similar to flux rates from fairway BCMU treated plots, Bremer (2006) reported peak fluxes of 98 g N_2O -N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ in a stand of Perennial rye turfgrass after applying urea at 75 kg N ha⁻¹ in a single application on DOY 280, 2003. However, the late season fertilizer applied in the Bremer (2006) study was 21 days later than this current golf course study. However, Poyon treated plots were unaffected by N2O fluxes following fertilization, and fluxes were not different than background emissions.

Contrary to fairway UMaxx and BCMU treatments, the third fertilization did not increase N_2O fluxes from fairway Polyon treatments and flux rates did not exceed 5 g N_2O -N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹. The coated material formulated in Polyon technology reduces N losses by the altering diffusion rates of urea (Blaylock et al., 2004), with soil temperature being the primary regulator of the physical polymer coating barrier that allows for N to be released into the soil (Shaviv, 2000; Halvorson et al., 2013). Because soil temperature began to steadily decrease over the weeks following F3 fertilization, Polyon capsules were not rapidly degraded and N₂O fluxes did not

increase significantly. During the third fertilization to the fairway there was not a large change in WFPS space (65%), but soil temperatures had dropped to 16° C and declined as the fall season progressed.

Soil WFPS and temperature during the F3 fertilization period were similar on the fairway and rough, yet fluxes were low for all fertilizer treatments, especially UMaxx and BCMU. Nitrous oxide fluxes reached maximum rates one week following the third fertilizer application and measured 29, 14, and 17 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ from the rough UMaxx, Polyon and BCMU treated plots, respectively (Fig. 2c). Similarly to the fairway, soil temperature on the rough began to steadily decline following F3 fertilization (Fig. 2d). In general cooler temperatures help reduce N₂O emissions from turfgrass systems because physiological activity and N uptake increases in cool-season turfgrass (Kusscow, 1988; Horgan et al., 2002; Baird 2007); therefore N application during cool temperatures enhances environmentally sensitive management (Petrovic, 1990). Our study indicates that late-season fertilization may be a potential mitigation option to minimize N₂O losses, but the degree of effectiveness may greatly depend on the mechanism that controls N fertilizer release as well as turf management practices. More research is needed to definitively quantify plant response and utilization of fall fertilizer applications (Bauer et al., 2012).

Daily flux rates from fairway and rough Control (zero fertilizer) plots averaged 1.8 and 2.8 g N_2O -N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ for the season, respectively. Low fluxes coupled with low soil mineral N content (Table 3) indicate that N substrate availability restricted biological nitrification and denitrification. Emissions from golf course Control plots from this study are lower than background fluxes of 12.0 g N_2O -N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ estimated by Townsend-Small and Czimczik (2010) from turfgrass in Irvine, California.

Non-fertilized periods

The winter sampling period had the lowest emissions during the study, with average daily fluxes of 0.8 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ for all treatments at both fairway and rough sites. As the season progressed into the spring of 2012 soil temperatures rose and soil fluxes also began to gradually increase, although there were no differences between treatments or sites, with fluxes averaging 2.5 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹.

Soil WFPS, Temperature and CO₂ Emissions

Soil WFPS averaged 67 and 58% for the year at the fairway and rough, respectively. However there was more fluctuation in soil WFPS on the rough increasing from 40 to 70% during July to August of 2011. Soil WFPS (P<0.05) and temperature (P<0.0001) were significantly and positively correlated to N₂O fluxes from fairway treatments, explaining 17 and 40% of the variation, respectively. Soil temperature on the rough was also significantly (P<0.0001) correlated to N₂O fluxes, explaining 67% of the variation. However, WFPS was not correlated to N₂O fluxes on the rough, presumably a result of the low soil water content and fluxes throughout the study period. Mosier et al. (1996) also points out that N₂O is evolved through dynamic interactions of soil N, temperature, and moisture, and direct correlations for anyone factor is typically low.

Further, this study also identified a significant (P<0.0001) exponential relationship between N₂O flux and soil temperature for all treatments on the fairway and rough (Fig. 3a-h). Temperature is a major driver of N₂O evolved from soils (Mill et al., 2013). As temperature increases, soil N₂O emissions increase exponentially as long as soil moisture and substrate are not limiting (Meixner and Yang, 2006). Typically rates of nitrification and denitrification increase as soil temperatures warm, and are less intensive during cooler periods (Skiba and Smith, 2000).

Proper soil N and irrigation management can significantly reduce the risk of N losses in turfgrass systems (Miltner et al., 1995; Horgan et al., 2002; Qian et al., 2003; Groffman et al., 2009). In this research, fertilizer treatments applied to the rough section of turfgrass were much more resistant to episodic and rapid N_2O fluxes than those applied to the fairway, indicating that differences between turf management and perhaps even turf species could have had important effects on N_2O emissions from the fairway and rough turf sites. Mowing heights greatly influence soil water and temperatures (Corre et al., 1996) by increasing plant water use through greater leaf area, transpiring more water per unit of ground area (Biran et al., 1981). Soil temperatures in this study were only measured at the 10cm depth; therefore the taller mowing could have created a much stronger shading effect on the soil surface than these measurements indicate. Also, the Kentucky bluegrass on the rough is a thatch forming sod grass that produces a thick organic layer of dead and living material (Beard, 1973), that generates a cooling effect on the soil surface (Zhang et al., 2013). Furthermore, the thatch organic layer is an important part of the N cycle in thatch forming sod grasses (Hull and Liu, 2005), and microbial activity can rapidly immobilize N in the Kentucky bluegrass thatch layer (Bowman et al., 1989; Miltner et al., 1996; Horgan et al., 2002; Engelsjord et al., 2004; Hull and Liu, 2005; Racitti et al., 2011).

Finally, carbon dioxide measurements were also taken from experimental plots in conjunction with nitrous oxide. Cumulative CO_2 emissions from fertilized treatments on the rough totaled 24 Mg CO_2 -C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and significantly exceeded emissions from fertilized treatments on the fairway (P<0.05) that totaled 18 Mg CO_2 -C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (data not shown). Greater CO_2 efflux from the rough may indicate a stronger biological sink for N additions compared to

the fairway. Soil CO_2 efflux represents total soil and plant respiration, a measurement of both plant root autotrophic and soil microbial heterotrophic respiration (Ryan and Law, 2005). Soil respiration is indicative of C cycling and soil N demand from plant and microbial activity (Groffman et al., 2009; Lal, 2004).

Soil Inorganic N

Soil ammonium (NH₄-N) and nitrate (NO₃-N) concentrations were taken twice during the study period; prior to fertilizer applications (baseline) and at the end of the year (EOY) in the fall of 2011 approximately 60 days after the final fertilization (soil inorganic N demonstrated in Table 3). Baseline soil inorganic N concentrations were highest in the top 0-5 cm of the soil profile, totaling 15.0 and 23.8 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹ and 5.2 and 4.6 kg NH₄-N kg ha⁻¹ in the top 0-5 cm of the soil profile on the fairway and rough, respectively. Soil N concentrations were most depleted in the 10-30 cm depth of the soil profile, suggesting good nutrient uptake from a healthy and active turf root zone. Baseline soil NO₃-N concentrations taken at the 30-60 cm on the fairway were 25 kg N ha⁻¹, indicating the downward movement of nitrate. On the rough soil nitrate concentrations at 30-60 cm depth were <10 kg N ha⁻¹. Nitrate concentration measured from the rough are generally consistent with other studies that have suggested low risk of nitrate leaching in turfgrass (Miltner et al., 1995; Horgan et al., 2002). However, Petrovic (1990) points out that the possibility of N leaching from turfgrass systems may differ depending on fertilizer and irrigation rates, as well as age of the turfgrass sward.

Approximately 60 days after the F3 fertilization of 2011, soil samples were taken to measure EOY soil mineral N concentrations. Soil inorganic NH₄-N or NO₃-N concentrations were not significantly different among fertilizer plots, and were therefore averaged across

fertilized plots (Table 3). Soil inorganic N concentrations on fairway and rough Control plots were significantly lower than fertilized plots and did not exceed 5 kg N ha⁻¹ for any one depth. Soil NO₃-N concentrations from fairway fertilized plots at the 0-5 cm depth were twice as high as the rough in the fall, with concentrations totaling 24.2 and 10.7 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹, respectively. Soil NO₃-N concentrations at the 30-60 cm depth on the fairway fertilized plots during the EOY were lower than initial baselines samples (EOY concentrations did not exceed 10.3 kg N ha⁻¹ for any depth), and may be from lower fertilization rates applied to experimental plots than what is typically applied to golf course fairways.

CONCLUSION

Annual N₂O emissions from turfgrass at Colorado golf courses can be substantial; however the mechanism controlling N fertilizer release, fertilizer application timing, turf cultural practices, and soil water status significantly impact emissions. This study clearly establishes the effectiveness of Polyon coated material to reduce N₂O emission from cool-season turfgrass fairways during summer when soil conditions are warm and wet and favor denitrification. Applying UMaxx and BCMU materials when soil is cool and dry was effective in mitigating N₂O losses from fairways. Therefore caution to avoid soil conditions that favor denitrification on fairways is advised to reduce N₂O losses, especially from fertilizer types that may solubilize rapidly. The taller mowing height maintained on the rough significantly lowered N₂O emissions from fertilized plots by cooling and drying the soil surface, but these effects were much more significant for UMaxx and BCMU fertilizers that utilized slow release mechanisms than for Polyon that using a temperature controlled released mechanism. Further investigations of soil GHG emissions from golf courses are needed order to: 1) provide better information for local and national GHG emission estimates; 2) improve the choice of fertilizer product to optimize N use efficiency; and 3) expand input parameters to biogeochemical model that simulate soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics.

TABLES AND FIGURES

Site	Sand	Silt	Clay	Bulk density	Soil organic carbon	Soil organic nitrogen
		%		g cm ⁻³	%	%
Fairway	46	12	19	1.43	1.01	0.09
Rough	53	11	13	1.52	1.03	0.1

Table 3.1. Soil properties on the fairway and rough in the top 10 cm of soil profile.

Table 3.2. Analysis of variance for site (fairway and rough), fertilizer treatments, and fertilization (Fert) period.

Source of variation	DF	P-Value
Site	1	P<0.000
		1
Treatment	3	P<0.000
		1
Fert Period	2	P<0.000
		1
Site *Treatment	3	P<0.000
		1
Site*Fert Period	2	P<0.000
		1
Treatment*Fert Period	6	P<0.000
Site*Treatment* Fert	6	1
Period		P<0.05

		Fairway		Rough	
	Depth				
Ν	(cm)	NH ₄ -N	NO ₃ -	NH ₄ -	NO ₃ -
Treatment			Ν	Ν	Ν
			kg N ha	ι ⁻¹	
2011	0-5	5.2a	15.1a	4.6b	23.8a
Baseline	5-10	3.6b	3.8b	2.6c	5.4b
	10-30	6.1a	1.1c	4.6b	1.3b
	30-60	6.2a	25.4a	12.2a	7.7b
	60-90	10.3a	4.6b	10.4a	9.1b
2011 EOY	0-5	1.8b	24.2a	6.4a	10.7a
Fertilizer	5-10	1.0b	2.7c	0.8b	3.2a
	10-30	2.9a	5.8bc	1.7b	0.8b
	30-60	3.1a	10.3b	2.7b	0.9b
	60-90	3.1a	7.3b	2.7a	1.7b
2011 EOY	0-5	1.7ab	3.4a	2.3a	0.9a
Control	5-10	0.8b	1.4b	0.8b	1.7a
	10-30	1.7ab	3.5a	3.8a	1.5a
	30-60	3.2a	5.0a	2.4a	0.8a
	60-90	3.2a	3.9a	2.4a	0.6a

Table 3.3. Soil ammonium (NH₄-N) and nitrate (NO₃-N) on the fairway and rough at five incremental depths (cm) for spring 2011 baseline sampling and end of the year (EOY) sampling.

Letters indicate significant differences at P<0.05



2011-12 Cumulative Fairway and Rough N₂O-N emisisons

Figure 3.1. Cumulative daily 2011-2012 nitrous oxide (N₂O-N) emissions reported in kilograms (kg) of nitrogen (N) per hectare per year from the fairway (plot a) and rough (plot b) for three fertilizers, UMaxx, BCMU, Polyon, and one Control (zero fertilizer) treatment. The F1, F2, F3 fertilizer applications, and winter and spring 2012 correspond to five measurement times during the year-long study. Letters indicate significant differences (P<0.05) between treatments, and percentages indicate losses of total N applied for the season. Percent loss of total N applied is relative to the difference of emissions from the Control. The X axis is in day of year (DOY).



Figure 3.2. Daily 2011-2012 N₂O-N fluxes reported in grams (g) of nitrogen (N) per hectare per year from the fairway (plot a) and rough (plot c) on each sampling day from three fertilizer treatments UMaxx, Polyon and BCMU and one Control (zero fertilizer). Flux rates presented for treatments are the mean of three replications. Arrows indicate the three fertilizer applications. Asterisks indicate significantly high flux rates from fertilizer treatments. Notice the break in scale for fairway N₂O flux. Fairway (plot b) and rough (plot d) soil water filled pore space and temperatures for each sampling day are presented in the bottom graphs and are on equal scales. The X axis is in day of year (DOY) and each corresponding month is abbreviated below.



Figure 3.3. Fairway (plots a-d) and rough (plots e-h) regression analyses for nitrous oxide and soil temperature from UMaxx, Polyon, and BCMU treatments and one Control (zero fertilizer). Notice the break in scale for fairway fertilizer treatments N₂O flux rates. Large N₂O fluxes on the fairway represented by partially filled circles were not used in the regression analysis due to a lack of fit in the non-linear regression curve.

REFERENCES

- Albritton, D.L. and L.G. Meira Filho, 2001. Technical Summary. In: Houghton, J.I., Ding, Y.,
 Griggs, D.J., Nogur, M., van der Linden, P.J., Dai, X., Maskell, K., Johnson, C.A. (Eds.),
 Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the
 Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Cambridge
 University Press. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, USA, pp. 21–83.
- Bateman, E.J. and E.M. Baggs.2005. Contributions of nitrification and denitrification to N2O emissions from soils at different water filled pore space. Biol. Fertil. Soils. 41:378-388.
- Baird, J.H. 2007. Soil fertility and turfgrass nutrition 101: Some important concepts you might have missed in or outside of the classroom. USGA Green Sec. Rec. 45:1–8.
- Bandaranayake, W., Y.L. Qian, W.J. Parton, D.S. Ojima, and R.F. Follett, 2003. Estimation of soil organic carbon changes in turfgrass systems using the CENTURY model. Agron. J. 95: 558-563.
- Bauer, S., D. Lloyd, B.P. Horgan and D.J. Soldat. 2012 Agronomic and physioloigical response of cool-season turfgrass to fall applied nitrogen. Crop Sci. 52:1-10.

Beard, J.B. 1973. Turfgrass: science and culture. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ.

- Biran, I., B. Bravado, I. Bushkin-Harav, and E. Rawitz. 1981. Water consumption and growth rate of 11 turfgrasses as affected by mowing height, irrigation frequency, and soil moisture. Agron. J. 73:85-90.
- Blaylock, A.D., G.D. Binford, R.D. Dowbenko, J. Kaufman, and R. Islam. 2004. ESN[®], Controlled –release nitrogen for enhanced nitrogen efficiency and improved environmental safety. In: Z. Zhu, K. Minami, and G. Xing, editors, Proc. 3rd International

Nitrogen Conference. Oct. 12-16, 2004. Nanjing, China. Science Press USA, Inc. New Jersey. p. 381-390.

- Bowman, D.C., J.L. paul, W.B. Davis and S.H. Nelson. 1989. Rapid depletion of nitrogen applied to Kentucky bluegrass turf. J. Am. Soc. Hortic. Sci. 144: 229-233.
- Bremer, D. 2006. Nitrous Oxide fluxes in turfgrass: Effects of nitrogen fertilization rates and types. J. of Environ. Qual. 35(5): 1678-1685.
- Burger M, L.E. Jackson, E.J. Lundquist, D. Louie , R.L Miller, D.E. Rolston. 2005. Microbial responses and nitrous oxide emissions during wetting and drying of organically and conventionally managed soil under tomatoes. Biol Fertil Soils, 42:109–18.
- Byrne L.B., and Grewal, P. 2008. Introduction to ecological landscaping: A holistic description and framework to guide the study and management of urban landscape parcels. CATE 1(2)
- Cavigelli, M.A., S.J. Del Grosso, M.A. Liebig, C.S. Snyder, P.E. Fixen, R. T. Venterea, A.B. Leytem, J.E. McLain and D.B. Watts. 2012. US agricultural nitrous oxide emissions: context, status and trends. Front Ecol. Environ. 10(10): 573-546.
- Chu, S. and A. Majumdar. 2012. Opportunities and challenges for a sustainable energy future. Nature. 488:294-303. Doi: 10.1038/nature11475.
- Cicerone, R. 1989. Analysis of sources and sinks of atmospheric nitrous oxides. J. Geophys. Res. 94: 18265-18271.

- Clayton, H., I. McTaggart, J. Parker, L. Swan, and K. Smith. 1997. Nitrous oxide emissions form fertilized grasslands: A 2 year study on the effects of fertilizer form and environmental conditions. Biol. Fertil. Soils. 25:252-260.
- Conen, F., K.E. Dobbie, and K.A. Smith. 2000. Predicting N2O emissions from agriculture land through related soil parameters. Global Change Biol. 6: 417-426.
- Corre, M.D., C. Van Kessel, and D.J. Pennock. 1996. Lanscape and seasonal patterns of nitrous oxide emissions in a semiarid region. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. 60:1806-1815.
- Crutzen, P. J. and D. H. Ehalt. 1977. Effects of nitrogen fertilizers and combustion on the stratospheric ozone layer. Ambio 6. 112-117.
- Davidson, E.A. 1991. Fluxes of nitrous oxide and nitric oxide from terrestrial ecosystems. p.
 219–235. In: J.E. Rogers et al. (ed.) *Microbial production and consumption of* greenhouse gases: Methane, nitrogen oxides, and halomethanes. American Society of Microbiology, Washington, 219–235.
- Delgado, J. A. and A. R. Mosier. 1996. Mitigation alternatives to decrease nitrous oxide emissions and urea nitrogen loss and their effect on methane. J. Eniron. Qual. 25: 1105-1111.
- Del Grosso, S.J., A. R. Mosier, W. J. Parton, and D. S. Ojima. 2005. DAYCENT model analysis of past and contemporary soil N2O and net greenhouse gas flux for major crops in the USA. Soil and Tillage. 83:9-24. Dobbie, K. E. and K. A. Smith. 2003. Impact of different forms of N fertilizer on N2O emissions from intensive grassland. Nut Cycl. In Agroecosyt. 67:37-46.

- Frank, A.B., Liebig, M.A., Hanson, J.D., 2002. Soil carbon dioxide fluxes in northern semiarid grasslands. Soil Biol. Biochem. 34, 1235–1241.
- Engelsjord, M.E., B.E. Branham, and B.P. Horgan. 2004. The fate of nitrogen-15 ammonium sulfate applied to Kentucky bluegrass and perennial ryegrass turfs. Crop Sci. 44:1341-1347.
- EPA. Golf course adjustments factors for modifying estimated drinking water concentrations and estimated environmental concentrations generated by tier I (FIRST) and tier II (PRZM/EXAMS) models. US Environmental Protection Agency: 2010.
- EPA. Agriculture. epa.gov/climatechange/downloads/ghgemissions/US-GHG-Inventory -2013-Chapter-6-Agriculture.pdf. viewed July10, 2013.
- Firestone, M.K. 1982. Biological denitrification. In: Stevenson F.J. (Ed) Nitrogen addition in agricultural soils. Madison, WI: Agronomy Society of America.
- Follett, R.F., G.A.Varvel, J.M. Kimble, and K.P. Vogel. 2009. No-till corn after bromegrass: Effects on soil carbon and soil aggregates. Agron. J. 101: 261-268.
- Forster, P., V. Ramaswamy, P. Artaxo, T. Berntsen, R. Betts, D.W. Fahey, J. Haywood, J. Lean,
 D.C. Lowe, G. Myhre, J. Nganga, R. Prinn, G. Raga, M. Schulz and R. Van Dorland,
 2007: Changes in Atmospheric Constituents and in Radiative Forcing. In: *Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* [Solomon,
 S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M.Tignor and H.L. Miller

(eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

- Granli, T., and O.C. Bøckman. 1994. Nitrous oxide from agriculture. Norwegian J. of Ag. Sci. 12:7-28.
- Grassini, P. and K.G. Cassman. 2012 High yield maize with large net energy yield and small global warming potential intensity. P. Nat. Sci, USA. 109: 1074-1079
- Groffman, P.M., 1991. Ecology of nitrification and denitrification in soil evaluated at scales relevant to atmospheric chemistry. In: Rogers, J.E., Whitman, W.B. (Eds.),
 MicrobialProduction and Consumption of Greenhouse Gases: Methane, Nitrogen Oxides and Halomethanes. Am. Soc.Microbiol., Washington, DC, pp. 201-217.
- Groffman, P., C.O. Willimas, R.V. Pouyat, L.E. Band, and I.D. Yesilonis. 2009. Nitrate leaching and nitrous oxide flux in urban forests and grasslands. J. Environ. Qual. 38: 1848-1860.
- Guilbalt, M.R. and A.D. Mathius. 1998. Emission of N2O from Sonora Desert and effluentirrigated grass ecosystems. J. Arid Environ. 38:87-98.
- Halvorson, A.D., C. S. Snyder, A. D. Blaylock, and S. J. Del Grosso. 2013. Enhanced-Efficiency Nitrogen Fertilizers: Potential Role in Nitrous Oxide Emission Mitigation. Agron. J. In Press.
- Horgan B.P., B.E. Braham, and R.L. Mulvaney. 2002. Mass balnce of (15)N applied to Kentucky bluegrass including direct measurement of denitrification. Crop Sci.42(5): 1595-1601.
- Hull, R.J., and H. Liu. 2005. Turfgrass nitrogen: Physiology and environmental impacts. Int. Turfgrass Soc. Res. J. 10:962–975.

- Hutchinson, G.L. and A.R. Mosier. 1981. Improved soil cover and method for field measurements of nitrous oxide fluxes. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 45: 311-316
- Kaye, J., I. Burke, A. Mosier, and J. Guerschman. 2004. Methane and nitrous oxide emissions form urban soils to the atmosphere. Ecolog. Apps. 14(4): 975-981.
- Kusscow, W.R. 1988. Fall fertilization of cool-season turfgrass: When leaves begin to drop, cool-season can use nutritional boosts to speed their recovery from the stress of summer. Golf Course Manag. 56: 20-30.
- Lesschen, J. P., Velthof, G. L., Kros, J., & De Vries, W. (2011). Estimation of N₂O emission factors for soils depending on environmental conditions and crop management. Environ Pollut. 159: 3201-3222.
- Linquist, B.A., M.A. Adviento-Borbe, C.M. PettelkowC. Van Kessel, and K.J. van Groenigen. 2012. Fertilizer management practices and greenhouse gas emissions from rice systems: a quantitative review and analysis. Filed Crop res. 135:10-21.
- Livingston, G.P. and G.L. Hutchinson. 1995. Enclosure based measurements of trace gas exchange: Applications and sources of error. P. 14-51. *ln*. P.A. Matson and R.C. Harriss (ed) Biogenic trace gas emissions form soil and water. Blackwell Science, London.
- Lokupitiya E. and K Pauatian. 2006. Agricultural Soil Greenhouse Gas Emissions: A Review of National Inventory Methods. J. Environ. Qual. 35:1413–1427. doi:10.2134/jeq2005.0157
- Maggiotto, S.R., J.A. Webb, C. Wagner-Riddle, and G.W. Thurtell. 2000. Nitrous and nitrogen oxide fro turfgrass receiving different forms of nitrogen fertilizer. J. of Environ. Qual. 19:621-630.

- Mancino, C.F., W.A. Tortello, and D.J. Wehner. 1998. Denitrification losses from Kentucky bluegrass sod. Agron J. 80:148-153.
- Mathieu, O., C. Hénault, J. Lévêque, E. Baujard, M.-J. Milloux, F. Andreux. 2006. Quantifying the contribution of nitrification and denitrification to the nitrous oxide flux using ¹⁵N tracers. Environ. Poll. 144: 933-940.
- Mendez, S., P. Merino, M. Pinto, C. Gonazalez-Mura, and J.M, Estavillo. 2009. Effect of N-(nbutyl) thiophosphoric triamide and 3,4 dimethylpyrazole phosphate on gaseous emissions from grasslands under different soil water contents. J. Environ. Qual. 38:27-35.
- Meixner, F.X. & Yang, W.X. 2006. Biogenic emissions of nitric oxide and nitrous oxide from arid and semi-arid land. In: Dryland Ecohydrology (eds P. D'Odorico & A. Porporato), pp. 233–255. Springer, Dordrecht.
- Milesi, C., S. Running, J. Dietz, B. Tuttle and R. Nemani. 2005. Mapping and modeling the biogeochemical cycling of turfgrass in the United States. Eniro. Magmt. 36:426-438.
- Miltner, E.D., B.E. Branham, E.A. Paul and P.E. Rieke. 1995. Leaching and mass Balance of 15N labeled urea applied to a Kentucky bluegrass turf. Crop Sci. 36:1427-1433.
- Mosier, A.R., Halvorson A.D., A.D. Reule, and X.J. Liu. 2006. Net global warming potential and greenhouse gas intensity in irrigated cropping systems in northeastern Colorado. J. Environ. 35: 1584-1598.
- Mosier, A.R., W.J. Parton, D.W. Valentine, D.S. Ojima, D.S. Schimel, and J.A. Delgado. 1996. CH4 and N2O fluxes in the Colorado shortgrass steppe: I. impact of landscape and nitrogen addition. Global Biogeochem. Cycle 10:387-399.

- Nelson, K.A., P.C. Scharf, L.G. Bundy, and P. Tracy. 2008. Agricultural management of enhanced-efficiency fertilizers in the north-central United States. Online. Crop Management. <u>www.plantmanagementnetwork.org/</u> doi:10.1094/CM-2008-0730-03-RV.
- Olson-Kruz, K., C. Jones and C. Dinkins. 2009. Enhanced efficiency fertilizers. EB0188. Montana, State Univ. Extension, Bozeman.
- Parkin, T. B. and R. T. Venterea. 2010. Chamber-based trace gas flux measurements. P 3-1-3-9. *In* R.F. Follett (ed) GRACEnet sampling protocols. Available at <u>www.ars.usda.gov/research/GRACEnet</u> (verified 15, January, 2013).
- Petrovic, A.M. 1990. The fate of nitrogenous fertilizers applied to turfgrass. J. Environ. Qual. 19:124-130.
- Qian Y. and R. F Follett. 2002. Assessing the carbon sequestration in turfgrass systems using long term soil testing data. Agron. J. 94: 930-935.
- Racitti, S.M., P. Groffman, J. C. Jenkins, R.V. Pouyat, T.J. Fahey, S.T.A. Pickett, and M.L. Cadenasso. 2011. Ecosystems. 14: 287-297.
- Ravishankara A.R., J.S. Daniel and R.W. Portmann. 2009. Nitrous oxide (N₂O): the dominant ozone-depleting substance emitted in the 21st century. Science 326: 123–25.
- Robertson, G.P. and P. Grace. 2004. Greenhouse gas fluxes in tropical and temperate agriculture: the need for a full-cost accounting of global warming potentials. Environ. Develop. and Sustain. 6:51–63

- Ryan, M.G. and B.E. Law. 2005. Interpreting, measuring, and modeling soil respiration. Biogeochemistry. 73:3-27.
- Sánchez-Martín L, A. Meijide, L. Garcia-Torres, A. Vallejo. 2010. Combination of drip irrigation and organic fertilizer for mitigating emissions of nitrogen oxides in semiarid climate. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 137:99-107.
- Skiba U. and K. Smith. 2000. The control of nitrous oxide emissions from agriculture and natural sources. Chemosphere- Global Change Science 2. 379-386.
- Shaviv, A. 2000. Advances in Controlled Release of Fertilizers. Advances in Agronomy 71:1-49.
- Stevens, R.J., R.J Laughlin, L.C. Burns, R.R.M. Arah, R.C. Hood. 1997. Measuring the contributions of nitrification and denitrification to the flux of nitrous oxide from the soil. Soil Biol. Biochem. 29:139-151
- Syakila and C. Koeze. 2011. The global nitrous oxide budget revisited. Greenhouse gas Measurement and Mgmt. 1: 17-26.
- Townsend-Small, A. and C.I. Czimczik. 2010. Carbon sequestration and greenhouse gas emissions in urban turf. Geophys. Res. Letter. 37:1-5.
- Trenkel, M.E. 2010. Slow- and Controlled-Release and Stabilized Fertilizers: An Option for Enhancing Nutrient Use Efficiency in Agriculture. 2nd Edition, International Fertilizer Association, Paris, France. ISBN 978-2-9523139-7-1.
- US EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency). 2011. Inventory of US greenhouse gas emission and sinks: 1990-2009. Washington, DC,: US EPA. www.Epa.gov/climatechange/emissions/usinventory report.html. Viewed February 2013

- Van Groenigen, J. W., G. L.Velthof, O. Oenema, K. J.Van Groenigen, & C. Van Kessel. 2010.
 Towards an agronomic assessment of N₂O emissions: a case study for arable crops.
 European J. of Soil Sci., 61(6):903-913.
- Venterea, R.T., A.D. Halvorson, N. Kitchen, M. Liebig, M. Cavigelli, S. Del Grosso, P.P.
 Motavalli, K.A. Nelson, K.A. Spokas, B.P. Singh, C.E. Stewart, A. Ranaivoson, J.
 Strock, and H. Collins. 2012. Challenges and opportunities for mitigating nitrous oxide emissions from fertilized cropping systems. Frontiers Ecol. Environ. 10(10):562-570. doi:10.1890/120062
- Vitousek, P.M., J.D. Aber, R.W. Howarth, G.E. Likens, P.A. Matson, D. W. Schindler, W. H. Schlesinger and D.G. Tilman. 1997. Human alterations to the global N cycle: Sources and consequences. Ecolog. App. 7(3):737-750.
- Williams, E.J., Hutchinson, G.L., Fehsenfeld, F.C., 1992. NO_x and N₂O emissions from soils. J. Geophys. Res. 6, 288-351.
- Yoa, H. and W. Shi.2010. Soil organic matter stabilization in turfgrass ecosystems: importance of microbial processing. Soil Biol. and Biochem. 42:642-648.
- Zhang, Y., Y. Qian, B. Mecham and W.J. Parton. 2013. Development of best turfgrass management practices using the DAYCENT model. Agron. J. 105(4):1151-1159.
- Zirkle, G., L. Rattan and B. Augustin. 2011 Modeling carbon sequestration in home lawns. Hort Sci. 46(5): 808-814.

CHAPTER 4:

METHANE EMISSIONS FROM A COLORADO GOLF COURSE: EFFECTS OF SOIL DRAINAGE

SYNOPSIS

Methane is an important greenhouse gas, and soils act as both a source and a sink, thus influencing atmospheric concentrations. Further, anthropogenic land use change has caused significant interruptions to the global methane atmospheric budget by increasing emission (e.g. from flooded rice systems) and altering soil methane oxidation potentials (urban encroachment). Due to intensive management and expanding areas and intensive management, these urban ecosystems are increasingly important to regional studies of greenhouse gas budgets. In 2011, a field study established on a golf course included fairway, rough and restored native area. Measurements of soil bulk density and annual water filled pore space (WFPS) indicated that the first site selected had poor drainage. Methane emissions in 2011 totaled 0.55, 0.36 and 0.31 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ from fairway, rough, and native sites, respectively. In 2012, a second field site was selected on a well-drained soil at the golf course. In 2012, emissions from the poorlydrained fairway, rough and native grass areas totaled 0.58, 0.76, and 0.40 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, and emissions from well-drained fairway and rough totaled 0.38 and 0.01 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, respectively, with 0.14 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ net methane consumption at the native site. Soil was observed to be largely saturated at poorly drained sites, and soil compaction was correlated to reduced methane oxidation. Increased soil aeration reduced soil emissions and increased oxidative capacity at the well-drained field sites. There was a "turfgrass effect" on methane

emissions from golf course turfgrass sites, indicating that highly managed turfgrass may have a greater effect on atmospheric methane concentrations by reducing soil oxidation and increasing methanogenesis than previously considered.

INTRODUCTION

Methane is a potent greenhouse gas (GHG) with 25 times greater global warming potential (GWP) than that of carbon dioxide (Forster et al., 2007). Because of the strong radiative forcings, a small change in CH₄ atmospheric concentration can have a potentially large impact on future climate (Bridham et al., 2013). Soil methane production can originate from both natural and anthropogenic sources, but globally human induced emissions make up 60% of the total (US EPA, 2010). The increase in atmospheric methane is from an increase in sources combined with a decrease in methane sinks (Rigby et al 2008). Aerobic soils that foster soil microbes that use methane as an energy and carbon source are the largest biological sink for methane (Dutaur et al., 1997). Mosier et al. (1996) demonstrated that temperate grasslands an important global CH₄ sink and that land use changes that alter the methane oxidation potential have significant effects on the global CH₄ atmospheric budget.

Atmospheric CH_4 is derived primarily from biological activity under anoxic conditions by methanogenic bacterial that anaerobically digest organic matter (Le Mer and Rogers, 2001). Methane production from soils indicates that field locations possess methanogenic microbial populations (Chan and Parkin, 2001), which are probably ubiquitous but have mostly been studied in rice field soils (Le Mer and Rogers, 2001). Water logged upland soils, including forested and cultivated sites, were found to promote methanogenesis and increase methanogenic populations (Mayer and Conrad, 1990). Depending on management practices, such as (N)

fertilization and soil practices that effect soil aeration (i.e. irrigation, tillage, or compaction), grassland soils may act as simultaneous sinks (CH₄ oxidation) and sources (methanogenesis) of CH₄ (Kahlil and Baggs, 2004; Chan and Parkin, 2001). It is generally accepted that anthropogenic disturbance to native soils through tillage, fertilization, and irrigation tends to decreases soil CH₄ oxidation capacity by up to to two-thirds (Smith and Conen, 2004; Ojima et al. 1993; Mosier et al. 1991).

Approximately two-thirds of anthropogenic CH₄ sources are from agriculture production systems (Mosier et al., 1997) leading to a large amount of research compared to other managed systems, such as urban lawns or golf courses. Rapid urban growth and the associated use of turfgrass (Bandaranayake et al., 2003) converts previously native and arable land to suburban homes and cities (Scheyer and Hipple, 2005) and those living in urban areas will comprise up to 70% of the population by 2050 (World Health Organization, 2013). Much of urban spaces are made up of lawns that are often intensively managed with N fertilizer and irrigation water inputs (Nowak et al., 1996; Nowak et al., 2001; Groffman and Pouyat, 2009). Milesi et al. (2005) estimated an increase to 16 million hectares (Mha) of turfgrass in the U.S., placing greater urgency to quantifying GHG fluxes from urban lands. Previous work to quantify gas exchange in turfgrass systems has shown that make substantial contributions to mitigating atmospheric CO_2 while also improving soil quality (Qian and Follett, 2002; Qian et al., 2010; Pouyat et al., 2006). However, fertilization and irrigation however greatly alters trace gas fluxes in managed urban turfgrass ecosystems (Kaye et al., 2004; Horgan et al., 2002), thereby impacting regional methane budgets (Groffman and Pouyat, 2009). However, to date there is limited information regarding the extent of soil-atmospheric exchange of GHGs involving urban turfgrass (Zirkle et al., 2011).
Golf courses are common managed ecosystems in urban areas, with an approximately 32,000 courses globally (Tanner and Gange, 2005), totaling an estimated 1.95 Mha (Bartlett and James, 2011). Estimating emissions from golf courses is complex due to the various management regimes for each section of maintained turf (i.e. greens, fairway, rough and restored native grassland) (Bartlett and James, 2011). To sustain functional and aesthetic quality, fertilizer, mowing and irrigation are routinely applied but at different rates per section. The degree of management is typically fairway> rough > restored native grassland. Golf courses serve millions of golfers around the world and generate billions (USD) to the global economy (KPMG, 2008). Golf courses also serve as important urban green spaces; have higher economic returns per hectare than agriculture; and support ecological biodiversity (Watson et al.; KPMG, 2008; Tanner and Grange, 2005). The extent to which these benefits are diminished by GHG emissions and their associated environmental consequences is uncertain. Differences in soil N status (Chan and Parkin, 2011), soil cultural aeration practices (Mosier et al., 1991), as well as irrigation and mowing frequencies affect soil moisture and temperature (Thurlow et al., 1995) and impact soil CH₄ production and consumption capacity.

Initially the objective of this research was to quantify the soil-atmospheric exchange of methane from a golf course fairway, rough and restored native area, but the study expanded in the second year to evaluate soil drainage effects on turfgrass methane emissions. The hypothesis of this study is that methane fluxes from golf course turfgrass will be affected by differences in management intensity on the fairway, rough and restored native sections, and that soil drainage characteristics will influence soil methane oxidation potentials.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study Site and Experimental Design

This study was conducted at golf course near Fort Collins, on the Front Range of Colorado, where population growth is rapid (US Census, 2010) and land use has dramatically changed from rural to suburban areas. Historically, the golf course lamd was used as a 100-yearold sheep/alfalfa farm. In 2005 gold course construction began, and it was opened for use to golfers in 2007. Perennial ryegrass (*Lolium perenne*) was seeded on the fairway in 2006 and Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis* L.) was sodded on the rough in 2006. Restored native section consisted of a mixed grass community of smooth bromegrass (*Bromus inermis*); blue grama (*Bouteloua gracili*)s; and buffalograss (*Buchloe dactyloides*). Fairways are mowed three times per week at 1.9 cm height. Roughs are mowed one or two times per week at 6.35 cm height. In 2011, irrigation water was applied daily to fairways and rough starting in March and ending in October, to meet a 100% evapotranspiration (ET) rates. In 2012, the same irrigation rates were applied to fairways, but irrigation rates were increased to meet 150% ET demand for golf course roughs.

The golf course was established on a soil classified as 67.4% Larim gravelly sandy clay loam, and 32.6% Ascalon sandy clay loam. Mean air temperature during the first study period, June 2011 to May 2012 was 10.1 ^oC, 1.2 ^oC above the 20 year average, and precipitation totaled 124 mm. The second year of the study, May 2012 to June 2013, precipitation totaled 119 mm, and mean annual temperature was 10.2 ^oC, approximately 1.6 ^oC above the 20 year average. Soil bulk density, soil organic carbon and nitrate concentration are presented in Table 1, and soil mineral fractions of sand, silt and clay for each site are presented in Table 2.

To test for effects of soil drainage on methane emissions, two sites at the golf course were with poorly and well-drained soil characteristics that were determined by bulk density, annual soil water filled space (WFPS), and nitrate concentrations at each fairway, rough and native section. The first set of experimental field plots were selected at the poorly-drained site on day of year (DOY) 122 of 2011 to an adjacent fairway (32.066°N, 57.65°W), rough (32.064°N, 57.69°W), and native (32.075°N, 57.636°W) where there was minimal soil disturbance during golf course construction (from here, these plots will be referred to as PD16 fairway, rough and native). The well-drained field site was selected on DOY 95, 2012 to an adjacent fairway (32.107°N, 56.934°W), rough (32.105°N, 56.945°W), and native (32.113°N, 56.976°W) (from here, WD5 fairway, rough and native). The well-drained field site is located on the front nine of the golf course where there is a strongly sloping man-made hill that was built during golf course construction.

Two similar randomized complete block designs were established on fairways and roughs to accommodate three treatments including UMaxx [®], Polyon [®], and a control (zero fertilizer) in replications of three. Briefly, two different enhanced efficiency fertilizers (EENFs) sources were applied to evaluate treatment effects on soil trace gas emissions. These were UMaxx [®] (47% N) (Koch Agronomic Services, LLC, Wichita, KS) is formulated with nitrification dicyandiamide (DCD) and urease thiophosphoric triamide (TPT) inhibitors that restrict microbial and enzyme activity; and Polyon [®] (42% N) (Agrium Advanced Technologies, Loveland, CO) is a polymer coated controlled released urea fertilizer that is regulated by soil temperature.

Each fertilized plot received a total of 150 kg N ha⁻¹ applied in three seasonal applications at a rate of 50 kg N ha⁻¹ each. The PD16 plots were fertilized during June, July and September (DOY 165, 210, and 259) of 2011 and again the following year in May, July and

October (DOY 139, 205 and 303) of 2012. The WD5 plots were fertilized during the same months of 2012 but the first two fertilizations were slightly delayed (DOY 153, 216, and 303). Preceding each fertilizer application, 8-10 mm of irrigation water was applied to the soil to increase fertilizer solubility.

On DOY 174 of 2012, approximately 21 days after the first fertilization to the welldrained rough, golf course management reportedly applied 1.2 m⁻³ ha⁻¹ of composted cattle manure to the WD5 rough (no other experimental sites received compost additions). Organic dairy cattle manure and had a density of 958.7 kg m⁻³, pH of 9.2, EC of 32.8 dS m⁻¹ (saturated paste), 0.65% N with 272 mg NH₄-N kg⁻¹ and 12 mg NO₃-N kg⁻¹, 0.27% P, and 1.44% K.

One year prior to the PD16 fairway and rough plots selection as study sites, golf course turf manager fertilized the fairway and rough with a total of 250 and 175 kg N ha⁻¹ of Polyon®, respectively during May and July of 2010. In May and July of 2011, golf course maintenance fertilized the WD5 fairway and rough using 250 and 175 kg N ha⁻¹ of Polyon ®, on the respective sites, approximately one year prior to selection of experimental WD5 plots w.

Soil Analysis

Whole soil baseline samples were extracted on DOY 122 of 2011 for PD16 fairway, rough, and native sections at incremental depths of 0-5, 5-10, 10-30, 30-60 and 60-90 cm in four replications. Baseline soil samples were collected for the WD5 fairway, rough, and native section on Julian DOY 95 of 2012 using the same procedures. The first soil sample was extracted using a flat bladed shovel by under-cutting a 25 cm³ section from 0-5, 5-10 and 10-30 cm as described by Follett (2009), and the remaining depths were taken with a metal soil core of a known volume. Each collected intact soil sample was immediately and carefully placed into plastic

bags to minimize soil disturbance and moisture loss. Soil samples were transported back to the USDA-ARS-SPNR laboratory facilities, weighed, and at stored 10°C until further processing.

Prior to processing on the 0-5cm depth, each square of soil was carefully placed on a tin tray and verdure was cut away using scissors; then the fairway Perennial ryegrass mat and rough Kentucky bluegrass thatch was removed, accounting for approximately 1.25 and 1.5cm top portion of the sample, respectively. There was no organic layer on the native soil samples, but biomass was removed from the top depth. A 10-15g subsample of moist field soil was taken from each depth, and placed in a 110 O C drying oven overnight to determine gravimetric soil water content. Gravimetric water content values were then used to calculated soil bulk density. Approximately 250- 500g per depth were then further processed through a 2 mm sieve, air dried, and sent to Colorado State University Soil Laboratory and analyzed for pH, soil texture, soil organic matter, and soil mineral nitrate (NO₃⁻). Soil organic matter was converted to soil carbon based on the conversion coefficient of 0.58 (soilquality.org.au).

Trace Gas Collection and Analysis

The measurement of turf- atmosphere CH_4 exchange for this study began on DOY 166 of 2011 and continued through DOY 172, 2013 using the vented chamber method described by Hutchinson and Mosier (1981) and others (Mosier et al., 2006; Parkin and Ventera, 2010). Each chamber consisted of a removable chamber top and an anchor installed into the soil. Chambers tops were constructed with poly-vinyl chloride (PVC) pipe measuring 12.5 cm in height and 21.2 cm in diameter. The PD16 fairway and rough study plots measured 1.5 m² in size, and replications were separated by 60 cm borders. Experimental plots on the WD5 fairway and rough measured 2.25 m² and 1.64 m², respectively, and the three replications were separated by

60 cm borders. Experimental plots at each native site measured 3 m^2 , and three anchors were evenly spaced and installed in the center. Two PVC trace gas anchors were installed into the soil in the center of each plot as duplicate measurements, totaling 18 anchors on fairway and rough.

The original chamber design was modified to avoid interrupting golf course play and turf maintenance would not be interrupted. To do this, anchors were installed level to the ground and the chamber's usual rubber seal was replaced and a 16 gauge stainless steel band was fabricated and bolted to the bottom of the chamber. The steel band over hung the PVC pipe by 2.5 cm and weather filler rod was adhesively applied to the bottom of the PVC pipe to create the necessary airtight seal, allowing the chamber to fit tight on top of the anchor during trace gas sample collection.

On measurement days chambers were placed on anchors and gas samples from inside the chamber were extracted at time intervals of 0-, 15-, and 30- minutes, and gas samples were extracted using 35 mL polypropylene syringes fitted with nylon stopcocks. A total of six gas measurements were taken for every treatment per time interval on fairways and roughs, and three gas samples were taken for each time interval on the native section. Air temperatures were taken at the beginning and at the end of each 30- minute sampling period on all measured sections. Temperatures inside the chambers were assumed equivalent to ambient air temperatures because chambers were covered with highly reflective foil. Along with trace gas samples, soil temperature and volumetric water content was measured at the top 10 cm of the soil profile at each experimental plot using an EC-Tm probe (Decagon Devices In., Pullman, WA).

Upon trace gas collection, samples were transported back to the USDA- ARS-SPNR laboratories and 25 mL of gas sample was injected into evacuated tube exetainers sealed with

butyl rubber septa (Exetainer vial Labco Limited, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, UK) for analysis by gas chromatography (GC). The concentration of CH_4 in the injected exetainer sample was determined using a fully automated gas chromatograph (Varian Model Inc., Palo Alto, CA), equipped with a Poropak and Hayesen N packed column and flame ionization detector for CH_4 (Mosier et al., 1991). Gas flux rates were calculated according to Hutchinson and Mosier (1981) and flux patterns were evaluated according to increases in concentration inside the chamber head space over time (Livingston and Hutchinson, 1995). Flux calculation included adjustments for prevailing air temperature and for an atmospheric pressure of 640 mm mercury (Hg) using the ideal gas law (Delgado and Mosier, 1996).

Trace gas sampling frequency was twice per week throughout the 2011 and 2012 growing seasons were taken between the times of 0900h and 1400h to represent the average temperature of the day. Sampling frequency was three times the week following N fertilizations. During the 2011 and 2012 winter and spring sampling frequency was one to four times per month, although no additional fertilizers were applied at these times.

Soil Water Filled Pore Space

Water filled pore space (WFPS) was calculated as

WFPS =
$$\frac{VSWC}{1 - (\frac{BD}{PD})}$$

where BD is the soil bulk density at each randomized complete block site (fairway, rough and native), and particle density (*PD*) is 2.65 g cm⁻³.

Statistical Analysis

Annual cumulative CH₄ emissions for each treatment plot were calculated for the 2011 and 2012 growing seasons at the poorly-drained sites, and the 2012 growing season at the welldrained sites. Linear interpolations were used to calculate annual emissions between successive sampling days to provide daily flux estimates for non-sampling days. Daily flux rates were calculated by dividing cumulative emissions by the total number of days for each sampling period over the two seasons. Due to an insignificant EENF treatment effect on the fairways and roughs, the mean methane emissions for the three treatments was taken for each replication, totaling eighteen calculated fluxes per sample for the fairway and rough. Adjacent native plots were sampled in conjunction with fairway and rough plots. The three plots (no subplots) on the native sections were each treated as replications and cumulative methane emissions were also calculated using linear interpolation for non-sampling days.

Cumulative emissions for each fairway and rough treatment was treated as a replication (totaling three replications), and cumulative emission from each of the three native plots were treated as a replication. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to test for effects of site (fairway, rough, native), year, and drainage (PD16 and WD5) using the statistical analysis program SAS ® v.9.2 (SAS Institute, 2008, Cary, N.C., USA) PROC MIXED linear model. Contrasts of means were performed using the Satterthwaite option in the fixed effects portion of the model. Site and year were nested within replication in the random variable portion of the model.

Average fluxes for each treatment were used as three replications for daily fluxes on the fairway and rough. Methane flux per sites was correlated with soil WFPS (WFPS is calculated above) and temperature using Pearson's correlation in the SAS ® PROC CORR.

RESULTS

Soil Methane Emissions

Results indicated a weak site effect (P=0.06) between fairway, roughs and native sites, and CH₄ fluxes from turfgrass field sites were dominantly positive for the duration of the study, indicating that soil methanogenesis exceeded oxidation. In 2011, the first year of the study period in 2011, emissions from the poorly-drained (PD16) fairway and rough totaled 0.55 +/- 0.04 and $0.36 +/- 0.04 \text{ kg CH}_4$ -C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Fig.1a, d), and daily fluxes averaged 1.5 +/- 0.11 and 1.1 +/- 0.12 g CH_4 -C ha⁻¹ day⁻¹, respectively. Cumulative emissions from the PD16 native site were similar to the fairway and rough, totaling $0.31 +/- 0.05 \text{ kg CH}_4$ -C ha⁻¹, and daily fluxes averaged $0.8 +/- 0.15 \text{ g CH}_4$ -C ha⁻¹ day⁻¹.

There was a significant year effect (P<0.05) at the poorly-drained golf course experimental sites between 2011 and 2012, with emissions increasing during for 2012. However, emission increased only slightly from the PD16 fairway and restored native sites measuring 0.58 +/- 0.09 and 0.40 ^{+/-} 0.1 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Fig. 1a and 1g); daily fluxes averaged 1.6 +/- 0.09 and 1.2+/- 0.4 g CH₄-C ha⁻¹ day⁻¹, respectively. Methane emission increases were most significant from PD16 rough soil during the 2012 measurement period , totaling 0.76 +/- 0.08 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Fig. 1d), with average annual daily fluxes nearly doubling from the previous year to 2.1 +/-0.2 g CH₄-C ha⁻¹ day⁻¹. However during the growing season of 2012 emission increases from the poorly-drained rough were only slightly greater than the previous year, and it was not until the early spring of 2013 that emissions significantly spiked from the poorly-drained rough. In fact as demonstrated in Figures 1 a, d and g, all field sites during the early spring of 2013 had a spike in methane emissions due to an increase in WFPS and temperature, but were the most significant at the PD16 rough site.

Measurements of soil methane started at the well-drained (WD5) field sites during the spring of 2012. Emissions at the well-drained (WD5) fairway totaled 0.28 +/- 0.02 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ vr⁻¹, and daily fluxes averaged 0.71 +/-0.07 g CH₄-C ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ for the year. The WD5 rough site had the lowest methane emissions (P<0.05) of regularly fertilized and irrigated treatment plots in the study, with cumulative emissions totaling $0.02 \pm 0.05 \text{ kg CH}_4\text{-C}$ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Fig. 1d), and daily flux averages of 0.04 +/- 0.05 g CH₄-C ha⁻¹ day⁻¹, nearly ten times less than poorly-drained field sites. The WD5 rough soil had a weak methane oxidative capacity for several weeks during the onset of the 2012 study, but methane consumption potentials were lost when golf course turf managers reportedly applied $1.2 \text{ m}^{-3} \text{ ha}^{-1}$ of composted cattle manure (derived from alfalfa) on DOY 174 of 2012 (no other treatment sites received compost additions). Upon compost additions, soil immediately changed to a net source, inducing a strong inhibitory effect on soil CH₄ oxidation. Prior to compost additions, WD5 rough soil maintained weak CH₄ oxidation capacity (consuming on average 1.0 g CH_4 -C ha⁻¹ day⁻¹), but the soil quickly changed from a sink to a source, emitting up to 1.0 g CH₄-C ha⁻¹ day⁻¹. The inhibitory effect began to decline throughout the summer, and soil began to regain oxidation capacity, which gradually increased as the season progressed (Fig. 1d). The restored native section at the well-drained site was the only field plot to have net CH₄ consumption, totaling 0.14 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in 2012 (Fig. 1g), with soil oxidation rates averaging 0.39 +/- 0.3 g CH₄-C ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ for the year.

Soil Water Filled Pore Space and Temperature

Correlations between methane flux and soil temperature and WFPS are presented in Figures 2 and Figures 3, respectively. There was a significant and positive correlation between methane flux and soil temperature (Fig. 2a) and WFPS (Fig. 3a) on the poorly-drained fairway in 2011, with 20% of the variation explained for each variable. There were similar correlations at the poorly-drained rough in 2011 between soil temperature (Fig. 2b) and WFPS (Fig. 3b), with 18% of the variation explained for soil temperature and WFPS. In 2011, irrigation water applications were applied to meet 100% ET demand to the fairway and rough. Due to heavy rainfall in the early spring, coupled with irrigation water applications, soil at the poorly-drained (PD16) fairway was near saturation (>70% WFPS) (Fig. 1b). Soil WFPS was typically below 50% on the poorly-drained rough at the beginning of the 2011 season, but increased to 70% in the middle of the summer of 2011(DOY 210) (Fig. 1e)..

In 2012, daily irrigation water was applied to meet 100% of ET demand on golf course fairways, but annual soil WFPS was reduced to 58% at the PD16 fairway (Table 1). However no significant correlations were found between methane flux and temperature or WFPS at the PD16 fairway in 2012. Soil WFPS averaged 33% at the PD16 native in 2012, but only soil temperature (P<0.01) was negatively correlated to methane flux at the PD16 native site in 2012 (Fig. 2f), explaining 25% of the variation in methane flux.

Irrigation was increased to 150% ET demand to golf course roughs during the 2012 growing season. Greater irrigation water applications increased average WFPS at the PD16 rough to an average of 65% during 2012. However, as demonstrated in Figure 1d, emission increases during the 2012 growing season were small when irrigation was applied, and it was not until early spring of 2013 that emissions increased. In fact emissions from all experimental plots

increased during the spring of 2013, and greater methane effluxes correlated with an increase in both soil temperatures and WFPS starting on DOY 400 (see WFPS in Fig.1b, e, and h; soil temperatures in Fig.1 c, f, and i).

Soil bulk density was 20% lower (Table 1) and sand content was 10% greater (Table 2) at the well-drained field sites compared to the poorly-drained location. Differences in soil structure and mineral fraction significantly decreased (P<0.0001) WFPS at the WD5 fairway (50%) compared to poorly drained sites during the 2012 growing season. Irrigation water was also applied at 150% ET to the WD5 rough, but increased drainage and greater rates of plant transpiration further depleted soil WFPS (P<0.0001) to 40% for the year (Table 1). Soil nitrate concentrations are shown in Table 1 for the poorly and well-drained field plots. Soil NO₃-N concentrations at the well-drained plots are less than half of those measured at the poorly-drained plots, indicating that reduced soil water content also slowed N turnover rates at the well-drained field plots.

DISCUSSION

Emissions from the golf course turfgrass plots are in accordance with Groffman and Pouyat (2009) who indicated that turfgrass systems to restricted soil methane oxidation capacity. While there was a degree of variability (P=0.06) at the golf course field sites, turfgrass plots were typically a steady weak source (1.0 g CH₄-C ha⁻¹ day⁻¹) of methane over the course of the two year study, with the strength of the source occasionally increasing or decreasing due to changes in WFPS. Correlations between WFPS and soil temperature to CH₄ flux at each site were only significant for three of the measurement periods (Figures 2a-i and 3a-i). Mosier et al. (1996) helps by clarifying that there are complex interactions and dynamics of soil abiotic factors that

affect GHG emissions throughout space and time, typically making correlations weak for any one variable weak.

As Delgado et al. (1996) and Aronson et al. (2012) found, this study also observed that CH₄ consumption was severely inhibited by high soil water content. Soil water content is often the dominant factor controlling soil methane emissions (Mosier et al., 1997), with soil temperature strongly influencing microbial activity (Shütz et al., 1990). While there are dynamic interactions of soil oxygen levels, soil water and temperature, and nutrient availability control methane flux from soil (Silver, 1999), soil water status is generally regarded as the greatest predictor of methane flux (Aronson et al., 2012). Soil water controls gas diffusivity in the soil profile (Dunfield et al., 1993; Gulledge and Schimel, 1998; Hütsch, 2001). Therefore, soil WFPS is often used as a proxy to gas diffusion rates (van der Weeden, et al., 2012), and is a common and widely used metric to investigate soil GHG emissions (Baggs and Bateman, 2005; del Prado et al., 2006). As gas diffusivity declines methane consumption is restricted, and is often negatively correlated with increasing soil water (Delgado and Mosier, 1997; Keller and Reiners, 1994).

According to these observations, poorly-drained soils at the field sites located on the back nine of the course restricted soil aeration, and thereby inhibited soil CH_4 oxidation. Soil bulk density was 20% lower at the well-drained sites, and while irrigation was applied at equal rates, greater soil drainage potentials significantly decreased (P<0.0001) soil WFPS at the well-drained field plots. Soil structure has a major influence on soil WFPS (Ball, 2013), and WFPS will differ in soils with different bulk densities. Soil properties that effect aeration highly impact soil emissions (Kaye et al., 2005), with well drained soils generally having greater oxidative potentials (Janssen et al., 2009; Phillips et al., 2009). The potential for soil to emit GHG is

greatly affected by soil physical conditions such as bulk density that influence gas diffusivity, porosity, air permeability, and water retention (Ball, 2013), with soil compaction restricting aeration and severely reducing methane oxidation potentials (Ball et al., 1997). Soil water acts as a diffusive barrier to methane consumption (Koschorreck and Conrad, 1993) slowing diffusion rates by 10^4 fold compared to soil air (Kammann et al., 2001).

Furthermore, soil water content plays a significant role in N status of soils (Zhang et al., 2013). As shown in Table 1, soil NO₃-N concentration was two fold greater at the poorly-drained field plots than the well-drained sites, indicating that lower WFPS at the WD5 field sites also affected soil mineral N levels by restricting nitrification rates. As soil water content is decreased, diffusion of ammonium slows, thereby limiting N turnover (mineralization and nitrification) and directly influences soil CH₄ flux potentials (Mosier et al., 1991).

Nitrogen is an important nutrient to sustain turfgrass quality (Hull and Liu, 2005), but soil N additions have been found to inhibit CH₄ oxidation capacity (Mosier et al., 1991; Hütsch et al., 1994; Hütsch, 1998; Baggs and Blum, 2004; Acton and Baggs, 2011) through complex interactions and competitions of nitrifying and oxidizing soil microbes (Hütsch, 1998; Baggs and Blum, 2004). Methane oxidation potentials are negatively correlated to soil mineral N concentrations (Chan and Parkin, 2001) with CH₄ consumption decreasing by up to 90% in cultivated and fertilized cropped soils compared to native grasslands (Mosier et al., 1997).

Additionally, soil methane oxidation was also inhibited at turf control plots (zero fertilizer), where control plots had similar methane effluxes as fertilized plots that received 150 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Nitrifying bacteria that are responsible for the majority of CH₄ uptake may suffer from nitrite toxicity (Schnell and King, 1994), and inhibition may prevail long after the soil NH_4^+ concentrations have declined to levels of unfertilized soils (Mosier, et al., 1991). In general

human alterations to soils are thought to significantly reduce soil methane sink capacity (Ojima, 1993), with fertilization and irrigation water applications causing possible permanent shifts in soil microbial populations (Bedard and Knowles, 1989).

The greatest methane emissions from turf plots occurred during the spring of 2013 following a large precipitation event immediately followed by warm soil temperatures. Soil emissions can be greatly impacted by climate conditions (Kaye et al., 2005; Le Mer and Rogers, 2001). However, poorly-drained sites were much more affected by methane effluxes than welldrained sites. High organic matter in the top portion of the turf-soil profile may have contributed further to methane effluxes from increased anaerobic digestion of soil organic matter (SOM). High soil organic carbon inputs from plant growth directly increase methane production, and thereby indirectly stimulate the methanogen microbial populations that rely upon C as a substrate (Neue, 1993; Denmend et al., 2010).

The WD5 rough site was unique to other fertilized sites in that soil methane oxidation potentials were not completely retarded by either fertilizer or irrigation applications, but instead WD5 rough soil was a weak CH_4 sink for several periods of the year-long study (Fig. 1d). Methane emission from the WD5 rough were comparable to a study by Kammann et al. (2001) which also found that fertilization of up to 400 kg N ha⁻¹ did not inhibit CH_4 oxidation capacities on a German grassland soil with sandy loam over clay, and as soil dried methane oxidation increased.

The well-drained native site was the only study plot at the golf course to maintain stable soil oxidation capacity. However, total CH_4 consumption from the well-drained native soil however was ten times less than oxidation rates of urban turf measured by Kaye et al. (2004), who estimated urban soil to consume up to 1.5 kg CH_4 -C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ on the Front Range of

Colorado, with daily averages of 4.8 g CH₄-C ha⁻¹ day⁻¹. The Kaye et al. (2004) study was kept under home lawn conditions, which typically has less intensive fertilizer and irrigation management inputs than highly managed golf courses. However the WD5 native was a minimally disturbed soil with no fertilizer or irrigation inputs. Typically undisturbed soils tend to absorb more CH₄ than what is produced (Wang and Bettany, 1995). Soil becomes a stronger sink for methane consumption as soils dry (Braun et al., 2013); yet microbial methane consumption also becomes restricted when soil water is a limiting factor (Schnell and King, 1996). Therefore, due to dry condition during the 2012 growing season, soil moisture may have been the limiting factor for methane consumption at the WD5 restored native site since WFPS was typically around 20%.

As several authors (Chan and Parkin, 2001; Le Mar and Rogers, 2001; Halvorson et al., 2011) have reported, agricultural soils may act simultaneously as methane sinks and sources, depending on aeration, environmental variables, and N availability. Theoretically, since soil methane dynamics are closely related to human management inputs, there should also be a certain degree of control over GHG flux from human managed soils (LeMer and Roger, 2001). This too may well be the case for turfgrass systems, since turf-soil management practices can greatly effect soil aeration, N availability, and temperature. Therefore management practices that increase of soil aeration and reduce N fertilizer inputs could contribute substantially to lowering CH₄ emissions from golf course turfgrass.

CONCLUSION

Contrary to the initial hypothesis there was little difference in methane emissions between golf course turfgrass sections managed as fairways, roughs and restored native sections, and turfgrass was typically a steady weak source of methane year around, regardless of management.

Study data suggest that nitrogen fertilization and irrigation applications significantly affect methane production and oxidation potentials on soils managed at golf courses. However, by increasing soil aeration, soil oxidation potentials can be increased, as was observed at welldrained field sites. Regardless, the findings of this study indicate that intensely managed urban grasslands, such as golf courses, may have significantly greater effects on atmospheric methane concentrations than previously considered. The harmful effects of inhibited methane consumption could potentially be mitigated by increasing soil aeration through better irrigation management, especially at poorly-drained locations, and by not exceeding recommended fertilizer rates of cool-season turfgrass.

TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 4.1. Soil properties of the poorly drained and well drained fairway, rough and native experimental sites in the top 10 cm of the soil profile. Average soil water filled pore space (WFPS) is presented for 2011 and 2012. Bulk density, soil organic matter (SOM), nitrate (NO₃-N) were measured from baseline soil samples only, therefor in 2012 these values are presented as NA for poorly drained sites because they were not re-measured

Site	Drainage	Year	Bulk	Soil WFPS	Soil .	NO ₃ -N
			density		organic matter	
			g cm ⁻³	%	g kg ⁻¹ soil	mg kg⁻¹ soil
Fairway	Poorly- drained	2011	1.43	67	16.3	25.6
Rough	Poorly- drained	2011	1.52	58	14.5	37.4
Native	Poorly- drained	2011	1.42	33	1.0	1.0
Fairway	Poorly- drained	2012	NA	60	NA	NA
Rough	Poorly- drained	2012	NA	65	NA	NA
Native	Poorly- drained	2012	NA	40	NA	NA
Fairway	Well- drained	2012	1.10	50	19.5	10.5
Rough	Well- drained	2012	1.09	40	17.2	7.5
Native	Well- drained	2012	1.14	20	0.6	1.1

Table 4.2. Percent sand, silt and clay in the 0-10 cm of the soil profile for the poorly-drained

Site	Sand	Silt	Clay
		%	
PD16 Fairway	46	12	19
PD16 Rough	53	11	13
WD5 Native	45	12	19
WD5 Fairway	61	15	24
WD5 Rough	62	15	23

(PD16) and well-drained (WD5) fairway, rough and native field plots



Figure 4.1. a-i. Daily cumulative methane soil emissions (g per hectare per year) are presented in figures a, d and g from poorly drained (PD16) and well-drained (WD5) fairways, roughs, and native sites, respectively. Presented methane emissions are the mean of three treatments in replication of three. Cumulative methane emission followed by letters are significantly different at P<0.05. Soil water filled pore space (percent %) (b, e and h) and soil temperature (Celsius) (figures c, f, and i) are presented for at the PD16 and WD5 experimental plots during 2011 through 2013. X axis's are in day of year (DOY) and the corresponding month is abbreviated below the Julian day.



Figure 4.2. a-i. Correlations for soil methane flux and soil temperature from the poorly-drained and well-drained fairway, rough and native soils. Soil methane emissions were measured from poorly-drained sites for two consecutive years (2011-2012 and 2012-2013) and one year from well-drained sites (2012-2013). P-values, r-square (r^2), and linear regression are presented at each test site where significance exceeds (P<0.05).



Figure 4.3. a-i. Correlations for soil methane flux and water filled pore space (WFPS) from the poorly-drained and well-drained fairway, rough and native soils. Soil methane emissions were measured from poorly-drained sites for two consecutive years (2011-2012 and 2012-2013) and one year from well-drained sites (2012-2013). P-values, r-square (r^2), and linear regression are presented each test site where significance exceeds (P<0.05).

REFERENCES

- Acton, S.D. and E. M. Baggs. 2011. Interactions between N application rate, CH4 oxidation and N2O production in soil. Biogeochem. 103:15-26.
- Aronson, E.L, D.R. Vann, B.R. Helliker. 2012Methane flux response to nitrogen amendment in and upland pine forest soil riparian zone. J. of Geophys. Res. 117(G03012): 1-10.
- Ball, B.C., K.E. Dobbie, J.P. Parker and K.A. Smith. 1997. The influence of gas transport and porosity on methane oxidation in soils. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 102: 23301-23308.
- Ball, B.C. 2012. Soil structure and greenhouse gas emissions: a synthesis of 20 years of experimentation. European J. Soil Sci. 64: 357-373.
- Bateman, E.J. and E.M. Baggs.2005. Contributions of nitrification and denitrification to N2O emissions from soils at different water filled pore space. Biol. Fertil. Soils. 41:378-388.
- Bedard, C. and R. Knowles. 1989. Physiology, biochemistry, and specific inhibitors of CH4, NH4+, and CO by methanotrophs and nitrifiers. Microbiol. Rev. 53(1):68-84.
- Bridham, S.D., H. Cadillo-Quiroz, J.K Keller and Q. Zhuang. 2013. Methane emissions from wetlands: biochemical, microbial and modeling perspectives from a local to global scale.Global Change Biol. 19: 1325–1346.
- Byrne, K.A., B. Chojnicki, T.R. Christensen, M. Drösler, A. Freibauer, T. Firborg, S. Frolkings,
 A. Lindroth, J. Mailhammer, N. Malmer, P. Selin, J. Turunen, R. Valentini and L.
 Zetterberg. 2004. EU peatlands: current carbon stocks and trace gas fluxes. CarboEurope-GHG, concerted action synthesis of the European greenhouse gas budget. Dept. of Forest Sci and Environ. Viterbo, Italy.

- Chan, A.S.K., Parkin, T.B., 2001. Methane oxidation and production activity in soils from natural and agricultural ecosystems. J. of Environ Qual. 30: 1896–1903.
- Corre, M.D., C. Van Kessel, and D.J. Pennock. 1996. Landscape and seasonal patterns of nitrous oxide emissions in a semiarid region. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. 60:1806-1815.
- del Prado, A., P. Merino, J.M. Estavillo, M. Pinto, and C. González-Murua. 2006. N2O and No emission from different N sources and under a range of soil water contents. Nutrient Cycl. in Agroecosyt. 74:229-243.
- Denmead, O.T., B.C.T Macdonald, G. Bryant, T. Naylor, S. Wilson, D.W.T. Griffith, W.J.Wang, B. Salter, I. White, P.W. Moddy. 2010. Emission of methane and nitrous oxide from Australian sugarcan soil. Agri. And Forest Meteorology, 150(6):748-756.
- Dutaur, L., L.V. Verchot. 2007. A global inventory of the soilCH4 sink. Global Biogeochem. Cycles. 21: GB4013.
- Follett, R.F., G.A.Varvel, J.M. Kimble, and K.P. Vogel. 2009. No-till corn after bromegrass: Effects on soil carbon and soil aggregates. Agron. J. 101: 261-268.
- Forster, P., V. Ramaswamy, P. Artaxo, T. Berntsen, R. Betts, D.W. Fahey, J. Haywood, J. Lean,
 D.C. Lowe, G. Myhre, J. Nganga, R. Prinn, G. Raga, M. Schulz and R. Van Dorland.
 2007. Changes in Atmospheric Constituents and in Radiative Forcing. In: *Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* [Solomon,
 S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M.Tignor and H.L. Miller
 (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY,
 USA.

- Halvorson, A.D., S.J. Del Grosso, and C.P. Jantalia. 2011. Nitrogen source effect on soil nitrous oxide emissions from strip-till corn. J. Environ. Qual. 40: 1775-1786.
- Houghton, J.T., Y. Ding, D.J. Griggs, M. Noguer, P.J. van der Linden, X. Dai, K. Maskell, and C.A. Johnson. 2001. Climate Change 2001: the scientific basis. Cambridge University Press, New York, New York, USA.
- Hull, R.J., and H. Liu. 2005. Turfgrass nitrogen: Physiology and environmental impacts. Int. Turfgrass Soc. Res. J. 10:962–975
- Hütsch, B.W., C.P. Webster, and D.S. Powlson. 1994. Methane oxidation in soil as affectected by use, soil pH, and N fertilization. Soil Biol. and BioChem. 26:1613-1622.
- Hütsch, B.W, 1998. Methane oxidation in arable soils as inhibited by ammonium, nitrate and organic manure with respect to soil pH. Biol. And Fertil. Of Soil. 28:27-35.
- Hütsch, B.W. 2001. Methane oxidation, nitrification, and count methanotrophic bacteria in soils from a long term fertilization experiment. J. of Plant Nutri. and Soil Sci. 164:21-28.
- Groofman, P.M. and R.V. Pouyat. 2009. Methane uptake in urban forests and lawns. Environ. Sci. Technol. 43: 5229--5235
- Gulledge, J., Schimel, J.P., 1998. Moisture control over atmospheric CH4 consumption and CO2 production in diverse Alaskan soils. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 30, 1127–1132.
- Kammann, C., L. Grünhage, H.-J. Jäger and G. Wachinger. 2001. Methane fluxes from differentially managed grassland study plots: the important role of CH4 oxidation in grassland with a hgih potential for CH₄ production. Environ. Poll. 115:261-273.

- Kaye, J.P., R.L. McCulley, and I.C. Burke. 2005. Carbon fluxes, nitrogen cycling, and microbial communities in adjacent urban, native, and agriculture ecosystems. Glob. Change Biol. 11:575-587.
- Keller, M. and W.A. Reiners. 1994. Soil Atmospheric exchange of nitrous oxide, nitric oxide, and methane under secondary succession of pasture to forest in the Atlantic lowlands of Costa Rica. Global Biogeochem. Cycles. 8:399-109.
- Khalil, M.I. and E.M. Baggs. 2005. CH4 oxidation and N2O emissions at varied soil water filled pore spaces and headspace CH4 concentrations. Soil Biol. And Biochem. 37: 1785-1794.
- Koschorreck, M. and R. Conrad. 1993. Oxidation of atmospheric methane in soil: measurements in the field, in soil cores and in soil samples. Global Biogeochem. Cycles. 7:109-121.
- Janssen, I.A., E.D. Schulze, S. Luyssaert, P. Ciais, and A. Freibauer. 2009. Importance of methane and nitorus oxide efor Europe/s terrestrial greenhouse-gas blance. Nat. Geosci. 2:842-850.
- Le Mer, J. and P. Roger. 2001. Production, oxidation, emission and consumption of methane by soils: A review. Eur. J. Soil Biol. 37:25-50.
- Mayer, H.P. and R. Conrad. 1990. Factors influencing the population of methanogenic bacteria and the initiation of methane production upon flooding of paddy soil. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 7:103-112.
- Milesi, C., S. Running, J. Dietz, B. Tuttle and R. Nemani. 2005. Mapping and modeling the biogeochemical cycling of turfgrass in the United States. Eniro. Managmt. 36:426-438.

- Mosier A.R., D. Schimel, D. Valentine, K. Bronson and W.J. parton. 1991. Methane and nitrous oxide in native, fertilized and cultivated grasslands. Nature. 350:330-332.
- Mosier, A.R. and J.A. DelGado. 1997. Methane and nitrous oxide fluxes in grasslands in western Puerto Rico. Chemosphere. 35(9): 2059-2082.
- Mosier, A.R., J.A. Delgado, V.L. Cochran, D.W. Valentine and W.J. Parton. 1997. Impact of agriculture on soil consumption of atmospheric CC
- Neue, H. 1993. Methane emission from rice fields: wetland rice fields may make a major contribution to to global warming. Bio. Science. 43: 466-473.
- Ojima, D., D.W. Valentine, A.R. Mosier, W.J. Parton and D.S. Schimel. 1993. Effect of land use change on methane oxidation in temperate forest and grassland soils. Chemospher.26: 675-685.
- Parkin, T. B. and R. T. Venterea. 2010. Chamber-based trace gas flux measurements. P 3-1-3-9. *In* R.F. Follett (ed) GRACEnet sampling protocols. Available at www.ars.usda.gov/research/GRACEnet (verified 15, January, 2013).
- Phillips, R.L. D.L. Tanaka, D.W. Archer, and J.D. Hanson. 2009. Fertilizer application timing influences greenhouse gas fluxes over a growing season. J. Environ. Qual. 38:1569-1579.
- Rigby, M., R.G. Prinn, P.J. Fraser, P.G. Simmonds, R.L. Langenfelds, J. Huang, D.M. Cunnold,
 L.P. Steele, P.B. Krummel, R.F. Weiss, S. O'Doherty, P.K. Salameh, H.J. Wang, C.M.
 Harth, J. Mühle, L.W. Porter. 2008. Renewed growth of atmospheric methane. Geophys.
 Res. Lett. 35: L22805

- Scheyer, J.M. and K.W. Hipple. 2005. Urban soil primer: United Staes Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, National Soil Survey Center, Lincoln, Nebraska (http://soils.usda.gove/use).
- Schnell, S. and G.M. King. 1996. Responses of methanotrophic activity in soil and cultures to water stress. Appl. Environ. Microbial. 62:3203-3209.
- Schiitz H., W. Seiler, and R. Conrad. 1990. Influence of soil temperature on methane emission from rice paddy fields. Biogeochem. 11: 77-95.
- Silver, W. L., A. E. Lugo, and M. Keller. 1999. Soil oxygen availability and biogeochemistry along rainfall and topographic gradients in upland wet tropical forest soils, Biogeochemistry, 44(3): 301–328
- Smith, K.A. and F. Conen. 2004. Impacts of land management on fluxes of trace greenhouse gases. Soil Use and Management, 20, pp. 255-263.
- Soilquality.org.au. Total organic carbon. <u>http://soilquality.org.au/factsheets/organic-carbon</u>. Viewed on Aug. 28, 2014.
- Steihl-Braun, P.A., A.A. Hartman, E. Kandler, N. Buchmann and P.A. Niklaus. 2011. Interactive effects of drought and N fertilization on the spatial distribution of methane assimilation in grassland soils. Glob. Change Biol. 17:2629-2639.
- Tanner, R.A. and A.C. Gange. 2005. Effects of golf courses on local biodiversity. Landscape Urban Plann. 71:137-146.
- Qian, Y.L., and R.F. Follett. 2002. Assessing soil carbon sequestration in turfgrass system using long term soil term data. Agron. J. 94:930-935.
- Qian, Y.L., R. F. Follett, and J.M. Kimble. 2010. Soil organic input from urban turfgrasses. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 74:366-371.

- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2010. Methane and Nitrous Oxide Emissions from Natural Sources . U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, USA.
- Wang, F.L. and J.R. Bettany, 1995. Methane emissions form a usually well drained prairies soil after snowmelt and precipitation. Can. J. Soil Sci. 75:239-241.

World Health Organization (WHO).2013. Global health Observatory. Urban Population growth.

Viewed July 12, 2013. <u>http://www.who.int/gho/urban_health/situation_trends/urban_</u>population_growth_text/en/

- Van der Weeden, T., F. M. Kelliher, and C.A.M. de Klein. 2012. Indfluence of pore size distribution and soil water content on nitrous oxide emissions. Soil Res. 50: 125-135.
- Zirkle G., R. Lal and B. Augustine. 2011. Modeling carbon sequestration in home lawns. Hort. Sci. 45(5): 808-814.

CHAPTER 5:

SOIL DRAINAGE EFFECTS ON N₂O EMISSIONS FROM A COLORADO GOLF COURSE USING CONTROLLED RELEASED FERTILIZERS

SYNOPSIS

The high potency, recent rapid accumulation in atmospheric concentrations and lack of significant surface sinks, N₂O is one of the most important GHGs of the 21st Century. Turfgrass systems have been quantified as a source of N₂O however fertilizer technologies that use different mechanisms to control the release of N substrate may reduce N₂O emissions. Yet further investigations are needed to test the effectiveness of these products under a variation of conditions. Two fertilizers that use two different mechanisms to control the release of N, UMaxx ® and Polyon ®, were applied at a rate of 150 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ to a golf course fairway and rough in three seasonal applications (50 kg ha⁻¹ each) at a poorly-drained (PD16) and well-drained (WD5) field site. Soil drainage characteristics were based on soil bulk density and water filled pore space (WFPS). Soil WFPS at PD16 fairway and rough often exceeded 60% during the summer producing peak fluxes from UMaxx treatments of 2025 and 995 g N₂O–N g ha⁻¹ day⁻¹, with emissions totaling 20.0 and 14.9 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, respectively. Annual emissions from WD5 fairway and rough UMaxx treatments totaled 8.9 and 2.3 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, respectively. Polyon treatments were more resistant to N₂O fluxes across drainage sites and emissions did not exceed 2.8 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Polyon uses a temperature controlled barrier to diffusion that was more resistant to N₂O losses during conditions that favored denitrification, whereas the nitrification and urease inhibitors formulated for UMaxx were less effective.

INTRODUCTION

Nitrous oxide is a potent greenhouse gas (GHG) that has nearly 300 times the global warming potential as carbon dioxide (CO₂) (Solomon, 2007). Unlike CO₂, and CH₄, there are no significant surface sinks for N₂O; coupled with long atmospheric residence time from slow photo-dissociation, and its associated ozone depletion potential, N₂O is an important GHG of the 21st Century (Ravishankara et al. 2009). While there are significant natural sources of N₂O emissions from soils and oceans, anthropogenic interruption of natural N cycle in soils has caused N₂O emissions to increase (Syakila and Kroeze, 2013). Agricultural expansion has been identified as a primary source of increased atmospheric N₂O concentrations (Syakila and Kroeze, 2011).

Soil microbial nitrification and denitrification processes occur with favorable environmental conditions that include temperature, N substrate availability, and moisture. Nitrification requires aerobic soil conditions, whereas soil anaerobic conditions and a labile source of C are required for denitrification, but both processes can occur simultaneously within soil microsites (Stevens et al., 1997; Mathieu et al., 2006). Soil water filled pore space (WFPS) plays an important role in nitrification and denitrification because it regulates soil aeration (Menéndez et al., 2009), with nitrification being favored in drier soils (Skiba et al., 1992; Bateman and Baggs, 2005), and denitrification in the dominant process under wet soil conditions (WFPS exceeds 60%) (Linn and Doran, 1984; Bateman and Baggs, 2005; Bessou et al., 2010).

Soil structure and porosity influence soil air filled pore space (McTaggart et al., 2002), and soil physical conditions at the surface regulate emissions by influencing gas diffusion rates (Ball et al., 1997). Soil N₂O emissions significantly increase when soil aeration is impaired by compaction, leading to greater rates of denitrification from reduced soil oxygen (Sitaula et al., 2000; Bessou et al., 2010) making it necessary to assess the effects of soil physical properties on N₂O emissions (McTaggart et al., 2002). Soil physical properties such as drainage indirectly mediate soil emissions (Skiba and Ball, 2002) and while GHG production in soils is primarily from biological sources, the soil physical environment influences biological activity through soil water status and temperature (Gregorich et al., 2006; Ball, 2013).

While agriculture is an important source of nitrous oxide, recently it has become more critical to consider the impacts of urban land use on soil emissions. Research suggests that regional GHG budgets that do not include urbanized areas may be underestimating emissions (Townsend-Small and Czimczik, 2010; Kaye et al., 2004). Turfgrass is a common landscape in and around urban areas (Zirkle et al., 2011; Milesi et al., 2005), covering approximately 16 million hectares (Mha) in the United States (Milesi et al., 2005) and along with urbanization will continue to expand (Racitti et al., 2008; Bandaranayake et al., 2003). Improved understanding of the implications of turfgrass management on soil C and N dynamics is needed to better quantify the environmental effects of urbanization (Racitti et al., 2008; Pouyat et al., 2009).

Studies have found that emissions from fertilized turfgrass systems can be substantial (Guilbault and Matthias, 1998; Magiotto et al., 2000). While turfgrass system have been quantified as making contributions to atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO_2) concentration through SOC sequestration (Qian and Follett, 2002) the high global warming potential (GWP) of N₂O, emissions can greatly reduce the benefits of CO_2 sequestration in turf systems (Townsend-Small and Czimick, 2010). Nitrogen is the most limiting nutrient in turfgrass systems, and improving N use efficiency in turfgrass systems is current goal of research (Hull and Liu, 2005).

Advancements in nitrogen fertilizer technologies that modify the reaction of N substrate in the soil environment may lower N₂O emissions by increasing plant nutrient availability (Blaylock, 2008; Olson-Rutz et al., 2009) and decreasing biological nitrification and denitrification. Limiting the amount of reactive components for microbial process could lead to lower N₂O emissions (Granli and Bøckman, 1994). Such mechanisms that control the release of N substrate include nitrification and urease inhibitors, uncoated slow release, and coated N fertilizers (Blaylock, 2008). However, due to the large spatial and temporal variability of N₂O emissions more research is needed to assess the performance of the different N release mechanisms in a variety of ecosystems (Halvorson et al., 2013).

Fertilizer technologies formulated with different mechanisms to regulate the release rate of N are marketed for turfgrass systems. Given the common intensity in which golf course turf is culturally managed and the size and abundance of golf courses, an estimated 2.0 million hectares (Mha) globally(Bartlett and James, 2011). Due to the often high N fertilizer and irrigation management practices, these recreational areas may contribute a substantial portion of local N₂O emissions and could therefore greatly benefit from increased N efficiencies offered by advancements in fertilizer technology. The objective of this research was to evaluate N₂O emissions from two urea fertilizers that use different mechanisms to control the release of N substrate within the soil environment. Fertilizer sources were applied to turfgrass managed as golf course fairways and roughs at two locations that have poorly-drained and well-drained soil characteristics. Our hypotheses include differences in turfgrass management intensity, soil drainage, and N release mechanisms will have significant effects on N₂O emissions. Observing patterns and fluxes over such spatial and seasonal periods should give insight to key abiotic

factors driving N₂O emissions for the controlled N releases mechanisms employed for each fertilizer type.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Site Description and Experimental Design

Historical land use for the field location was a 100 year old alfalfa sheep farm. Golf course construction began in 2005 and the course was opened to golfers in 2007. In 2006 the fairway was seeded with Perennial ryegrass (*Lolium perenne*), and the rough was sodded with Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis*). Fairways are mowed three times per week to a 1.9 cm height, and roughs are mowed one or two times per week to a height of 6.35 cm height during the growing season. In 2012, irrigation was applied daily from March to October at approximately 100 and 150 % evapotranspiration (ET) demand on the fairway and rough, respectively.

Particle size distribution of sand, silt, and clay are presented for each fairway and rough at the poorly and well-drained sites in Table1. During the study period, May 2012 through May 2013, there was a total of 146 mm of precipitation, approximately 100 mm below the 20 year average. Mean annual temperature was 10.2 ^oC, approximately 1.6 ^oC above the 20 year average. The year 2012 was the hottest and driest year in region 4 of Colorado State (NOAA, 2013) of a 118 year record.

In order to compare the effects of drainage on nitrous oxide emissions, two sites at the golf course were chosen with poorly and well-drained soil characteristics. Determination of soil drainage potentials were made by soil bulk density, annual soil water filled pore space, and soil nitrate (NO_3 -N) concentrations in the top 10 cm of the soil profile and are presented in Table 2.

The poorly-drained (PD16) sites were chosen due to its low position on the back nine of the golf course where there was minimal soil disturbance during golf course construction. An adjacent fairway (32.066°N, 57.65°W) and rough (32.064°N, 57.69°W) were selected at the poorly-drained site on day of year (DOY) 122 of 2011. The well-drained site (WD5) was selected on DOY 95 of 2012 on the front nine of the golf course at an adjacent fairway (32.107°N, 56.934°W) and rough (32.105°N, 56.945°W). The well-drained site was selected due to its location on the front-nine of the course where there is a strongly sloping hill that was created during golf course construction.

A randomized complete block was established on each of the poorly and well-drained sites to adjacent fairways and roughs to accommodate three treatments consisting of two fertilizers (UMaxx[®] and Polyon[®]) and one Control (zero fertilizer) in replications of three. UMaxx[®] (47% N) (Koch Agronomic Services, LLC, Wichita, KS) uses two soil enzyme inhibitors for enhanced efficiency that restricts nitrification and urease activity with dicyandiamide (DCD) and thiophosphoric triamide (TPT), respectively. Polyon[®] (Agrium Advanced Technologies, Loveland, CO) (42% N) is a polymer coated EENF technology to control the release of urea fertilizer that regulated through soil temperature.

Three fertilizer treatments were applied to poorly-drained fairway and rough during May, July and October on DOY 139, 205 and 303 of 2012. The well-drained fairway and rough were fertilized at similar times during June, August and October on DOY 153, 216, and 303 of 2012. Each fertilization event was applied at a rate of 50 kg N ha⁻¹, totaling 150 kg N ha⁻¹ of fertilizer applied during the 2012 growing season. Fertilizer was applied by hand in a sand mixture to attain an even distribution of fertilizer. After fertilization 8-10 mm of irrigation water was applied to the soil of each plot.

On DOY 174 of 2012, approximately twenty-one days after the first fertilization to the well-drained rough, golf course management reportedly applied $1.2 \text{ m}^{-3} \text{ ha}^{-1}$ of composted cattle manure to the WD5 rough (no other experimental sites received compost additions). Organic dairy cattle manure had a density of 958.7 kg m⁻³, pH of 9.2, EC of 32.8 dS m⁻¹ (saturated paste), 0.65% N with 272 mg NH₄-N kg⁻¹ and 12 mg NO₃-N kg⁻¹, 0.27% P, and 1.44% K.

Approximately one year prior to project initiation on the poorly-drained fairway and rough, the golf course maintenance personnel fertilized the fairway and rough in May and July of 2010 with a total of 250 and 175 kg N ha⁻¹ of Polyon ®, respectively. In 2011, experimental plots at poorly-drained sites were fertilized with a total of 150 kg N ha⁻¹ of UMaxx and Polyon materials and were applied in three applications of 50 kg N ha⁻¹ during June, July and September. Golf course personnel fertilized the well-drained fairway and rough, one year prior to project initiation in May and July of 2011 using a total of 250 and 175 kg N ha⁻¹ of Polyon ®, on the respective sites.

Soil Analysis

In order to quantify soils characteristics, four replications of intact whole soil samples were extracted from the corner of each randomized complete block at the poorly-drained sites on DOY 122, 2011 at incremental depths of 0-5, 5-10, 10-30, 30-60 and 60-90 cm. Baseline soil samples were collected using the same procedures from well-drained sites on DOY 95, 2012. As described by Follett et al. (2009), the first replication of soil sampled at each field plot was taken using a flat bladed shovel by under-cutting a 25 cm³ section from each 0-5, 5-10 and 10-30 cm depth. The 30-60cm and 60-90cm depths were extracted with an oakfield soil core of a known volume. Only the top 0-5 and 5-10 cm of the three remaining replications were extracted by
undercutting with the flat bladed shovel, and the three lower depths were extracted using soil cores. Upon extraction each intact soil sample was carefully placed in plastic bags to preserve field moisture and soil structure. Soil samples were transported back to the USDA-ARS laboratory facilities where the total weight of each sample was recorded and stored at 10oC.

Soil bulk density was determined on unprocessed soils by determining gravimetric soil water content and calculated based on specific soil core volumes. Two replicates of approximately 12-15g of soil was subsampled from each replicated depth; moist samples were weighed and placed in a 110 $^{\circ}$ C oven overnight to determine total soil moisture content.

Just prior to soil processing, the top 0-5 cm depth of soil was carefully placed on an aluminum tray and the verdure from each sample was removed using a razor blade; separately the fairway mat and rough thatch layers was also removed accounting for the top 1.25cm and 1.5cm of the top portion of sample, respectively. Once the top layer of organic matter was removed, sub-samples of approximately 250-500g of soil per depth were processed through a 2 mm sieve and rock and plant roots were removed. Sieved soils were used to physically separate soil fractions of sand, silt, and clay using sieve sizes of >53 micrometer (μ m), >20 μ m and <20 μ m, respectively. Additionally, another 50g of sieved soil was sent to Colorado State University Soils Laboratory to determine nitrate (NO₃⁻), soil organic matter, pH, and texture. Soil organic matter was converted to soil carbon based on the conversion coefficient of 0.58 (soilquality.org.au).

Trace Gas Collection and Analysis

The measurement of turf-atmosphere N₂O exchange for this study began on DOY 136, 2012 and continued through DOY 172, 2013. The vented chamber method described by

Hutchinson and Mosier (1981) and others (Mosier et al., 2006; Parkin and Ventera, 2010) was employed for trace gas collection. Each chamber consisted of a removable chamber top and a collar that was permanently installed into the soil. Chambers tops were constructed with polyvinyl chloride (PVC) pipe that measured 12.5 cm in height and 21.2 cm in diameter. Fairway and rough 16 study plots measured 1.5 m² in size, and replications were separated by 60 cm borders. Experimental plots at fairway and rough 5 measured 2.25 m² and 1.64 m², respectively, and the three replications were separated by 60 cm borders. Experimental plots at the restored native sites measured 3 m², and three collars were evenly spaced and installed in the center. Two PVC trace gas collars were installed into the soil in the center of each plot as duplicate measurements, totaling 18 collars on the PD16 and WD5 fairways and roughs.

To decrease the interruption of golf course play and turf maintenance, the chamber design was modified so trace gas collars were completely level to the ground. In order for chamber to fit on top of submerged collars, the customary rubber seal of the trace gas chamber was replaced and with a 16 gauge stainless steel band. The band was bolted to the bottom of the chamber and over hung the PVC pipe by 2.5 cm. Weather filler rod was adhesively applied to the bottom of the PVC pipe to create the necessary airtight seal allowing the chamber to fit onto the top of the collar during trace gas sample collection.

Trace gas samples were taken between the times of 0900h and 1400h to represent the average temperature of the day. On measurement days chambers were placed on collars and gas samples from inside the chamber were extracted using 35 mL polypropylene syringes fitted with nylon stopcocks at time intervals of 0, 15, and 30 minutes upon installing the chambers. A total of six gas measurements were taken for every treatment per sampling interval on each fairway and rough. Three trace gas samples were taken per time interval on the restored native sections.

Air temperatures were taken at the beginning and at the end of each 30 minute sampling period on all measured sections. Temperatures inside the chambers were assumed to be equivalent to ambient air temperatures because chambers were covered with highly reflective foil.

Once trace gas samples were collected, samples were transported back to the Fort Collins, CO. USDA-ARS-SPNR laboratories and 25 ml of gas sample was injected into evacuated exetainer vials that were sealed with butyl rubber septa (Exetainer vial Labco Limited, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, UK) for analysis by gas chromatography (GC). The concentration of N₂O in the sample was determined using a fully automated gas chromatograph instrument (Varian Model Inc., Palo Alto, CA), equipped with a Hayesen D packed column and an electron capture detector for N₂O. Gas flux rates were calculated according to Hutchinson and Mosier (1981), and flux patterns were evaluated according to increases in concentration inside the chamber head space over time (Livingston and Hutchinson, 1995). Flux calculations also include adjustments for prevailing air temperature and for an atmospheric pressure of 640 mm mercury (Hg) using the ideal gas law (Delgado and Mosier, 1996).

Sample frequency was at least once per week for each location throughout the study period, and was intensified to three times per week the week following N fertilizations.

Ancillary Variables

Each day that trace gases were collected the top 10 cm of the soil surface temperature and soil volumetric water content were measured (VSWC) using an EC-Tm probe (Decagon Devices In., Pullman, WA). The soil devices were placed directly adjacent to each of the experimental fairway and rough plots and were assumed to represent whole plot soil water content and temperature.

Soil water filled pore space (WFPS) was calculated as:

WFPS =
$$\frac{VSWC}{1 - (\frac{BD}{PD})}$$

soil bulk density (*BD*) is based on measured values on the PD16 fairway and rough (1.52 and 1.42 g cm⁻³, respectively), or the WD5 fairway and rough (1.10 and 109 g/cm⁻³ respectively), and particle density (*PD*) was assumed to be 2.65 g cm⁻³.

Statistical Data Analysis:

Daily average N₂O fluxes for each of the three fertilization periods during the 2012 growing season were calculated by dividing cumulative emissions by the number of days for each study period. Daily flux averages of the three fertilization periods were subject to an analysis of variance (ANOVA) using SAS v.9.2 program (SAS Institute, 2008, Cary, NC, USA) PROC MIXED model, where the effects of drainage (poorly and well-drained) and site (fairway and rough) were nested in the random variable portion of the model statement. A test of LSD was performed to evaluate the effects of site, treatment, fertilization period, drainage, and their corresponding interactions. Significant differences were reported at P<0.05 confidence level. All data were log transformed to meet assumptions of normality.

Cumulative emissions for each treatment were calculated by integrating the measured emission data with linear interpolations between the consecutive sampling times. Linear interpolations for 2012–2013 cumulative N₂O emissions for each treatment plot were used to estimate flux values between successive sampling day, providing daily flux estimates for nonsampling days. An analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to test effects of treatment, site (fairway and rough), drainage (poorly and well-drained), and corresponding interactions using the PROC MIXED linear model from statistic analytical program SAS v.9.2 (SAS Institute, 2008, Cary, NC, USA). Contrasts of LSD were performed using the Satterthwaite option in the fixed effects portion of the model. Location and site were nested within replication and used as random variables.

In order to calculate emission factors for each treatment, the percent of applied N lost through annual N_2O emissions was calculated as the difference of cumulative emission between the Control and each EENF treatments and divided by total kg N applied per hectare. The net value is expressed as a percentage of the N applied to calculate the appropriate fertilizer emission factors.

PROC GLM multiple regression analysis was used to test the relationship between N_2O flux and WFPS and temperature and corresponding interactions. The exponential relationship between N_2O flux and soil temperature was further tested by initially using PROC REG to estimate *a* and *b* parameters for the PROC NLN model. Exponential regression analyses were then used to fit the exact *a* and *b* parameter coefficients used in the regression equation between N_2O fluxes and soil temperature for each fertilizer and Control treatments:

$$Flux_{N2O} = ae^{bT}$$

where T is temperature (Davidson et al., 1998).

RESULTS

N₂O Fluxes from Fertilizer Treatments

Statistical analysis identified a three way interaction between site (fairway and rough), fertilization period, and EENF treatment (P<0.05); and a second three way interaction was identified between site, fertilization period, and soil drainage (PD16 and WD5) (P<0.05).

Upon the first fertilizer additions in the spring peak fluxes of 49 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day ⁻¹ were measured from poorly-drained (PD16) fairway UMaxx treated plots approximately one week following application. Unlike the previous treatment, the application of Polyon EENF to the PD16 fairway did not trigger significant N₂O fluxes (Fig. 1a). Fertilizer additions to the PD16 rough did not significantly increase N₂O fluxes for any one treatment, and fluxes remained low for this period (<10 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day ⁻¹) (Fig. 2a). The WD5 fairway had the greatest fluxes following the first fertilization with fluxes from UMaxx treatments peaking at 200 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day one week following the first fertilization, and Polyon treated plots spiked to 46 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ approximately one month after the fertilization (Fig. 1c). Plots treated with UMaxx at the WD5 rough peaked at 38 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ two weeks following application, but fluxes from WD5 rough plots treated with Polyon remained below 10 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ (Fig. 2c).

Approximately three weeks after the first fertilizer applications were applied; compost derived from cattle manure was applied to the WD5 rough by golf course personnel (no other sites received compost additions). However due to the low concentrations of compost, soil effluxes remained low. Peak fluxes from compost additions were 25, 24, and 13 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day ⁻¹ from WD5 rough UMaxx, Polyon, and Control plots, respectively, less than a week later. After this, fluxes typically remained below 10 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day ⁻¹ for most treatments; that is

except for UMaxx treated plots where fluxes increased a second time to 30 g N_2 O-N ha⁻¹ day ⁻¹ approximately two weeks after compost was applied.

The second fertilization occurred during the summer, approximately sixty days following the first treatment application. Three days following the second fertilization to the PD16 fairway and rough, fluxes from UMaxx treated plots increased to 230 and 135 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day ⁻¹, but peak fluxes were not reached for another week when maximum flux rates of 2025 and 995 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day ⁻¹, respectively (Fig.1a and 2a). Following peak fluxes from PD16 UMaxx treatments, soil efflux returned to background levels. WD5 fairway UMaxx treated plots were also significantly affected by summer fertilizer additions and peaked at 489 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day ⁻¹ three days following the second application (Fig. 1c). Plots treated with Polyon at the PD16 fairway and rough plots however remained fairly low, peaking at 50 and 58 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day ⁻¹ three and thirty days after application, respectively (see Fig. 1a and Fig. 2a). The WD5 fairway and rough Polyon treated plots were the least affected by second fertilization during the summer and peak fluxes only measured 36 and 10 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day ⁻¹, respectively (Fig. 1c, and Fig. 2c).

The final fertilization occurred late in October of 2012 (DOY 303), and soil N₂O fluxes never exceeded 3.6 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day ⁻¹ for any EENF treatment, and emissions from late fall fertilization were significantly lower (P<0.05) than the first two fertilizations. In fact, fluxes were so low following the third fertilization that there was no difference in flux rates from those observed during the subsequent winter. As the fall season progressed into winter PD16 fairway plots treated with Polyon began to exhibit winter injury, but no other plots were affected by the late fertilization. Daily average fluxes were also calculated for the 2012-13 winter and spring periods on the PD16 and WD5 fairways and roughs, although no fertilizers were applied at these times. There were no significant differences among treatments at the fairway and rough sites during the winter and fluxes averaged 2.5 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹. As winter progressed into spring all ENNF daily fluxes increased to an average of 5.0 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ day⁻¹. The study ceased trace gas sampling at the end of May 2013.

Regression Analysis of Soil N₂O Flux and WFPS and Temperature

Soil water filled pore space averaged 60 and 65% at the PD16 fairway and rough, and was significantly greater (P<0.0001) than soil WFPS at the WD5 fairway and rough, that averaged 50 and 40%, respectively. We used regression coefficients (R^2) to test the relationship between N₂O flux, WFPS and soil temperature and interactions for each treatment. Soil WFPS and temperature was significantly (P<0.0001) related to N₂O flux at PD16 fairway and UMaxx treated plots, with respective R^2 values of 0.15 and 0.38. A significant interaction was identified for soil WFPS and temperature PD16 fairway (P<0.0001) and rough (P<0.01) Polyon treatments (R^2 values =0.44 and 0.37, respectively); however WFPS was not a significant variable alone, indicating that WFPS was only significant when temperature was not a limiting factor. A significant interaction between soil WFPS and temperature was also related to N₂O flux at PD16 rough UMaxx treatments (R^2 = 0.35). A significant interaction between soil WFPS and temperature was related to N₂O fluxes at the WD5 fairway and rough UMaxx treated plots (R^2 = 0.2 and 0.44), respectively. Only temperature was significantly (P<0.0001) related to N₂O flux for WD5 fairway and rough Polyon treatments (R^2 = 0.39 and 0.28, respectively. Additionally, there was a significant (P<0.0001) exponential relationship between soil temperature and N₂O emissions for all treatment plots. Golf course N₂O fluxes were log transformed, and values were fitted to an exponential regression against soil temperature for each treatment (Figures 3a-m). In order to increase the goodness of fit to exponential regressions, high N₂O flux measured from poorly drained and well-drained fairways treated with UMaxx materials were excluded in regression analysis (omitted values are presented with different symbols). By omitting such values for UMaxx treatments, values for intercepts and slopes were decreased for regression equations because following rapid losses soil N₂O fluxes returned to background level. Also by omitting high flux values for UMaxx treatments this created a comparable difference in slope and intercept values compared to those of the corresponding Polyon treatments

Cumulative N₂O Emissions

Due to the significant site (fairway and rough) by treatment interaction (P<0.01) and the significant treatment by drainage (poorly and well-drained) interaction (P<0.01), cumulative N_2O emissions are also compared. The greatest annual cumulative emissions were from UMaxx treated plots at the poorly-drained fairway and rough, totaling 20.0 and 14.9 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, equating to annual emission factors of 12.7 and 9.1%, respectively (Fig. 4a-b), respectively. The majority of the N₂O emitted from UMaxx treated plots were induced by the summer fertilization event. Cumulative emissions from the UMaxx treated plots at the well-drained fairway were similar to those treatments applied the PD16 rough, emitting a total of 8.9 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, a loss of 5.2% of total N applied (Fig. 4c).

Cumulative emissions from Polyon treated plots were significantly lower than the previous UMaxx treatments, and were statistically similar across all treatment sites; nor did they differ significantly from Control (zero fertilizer) plots (see Fig. 4a-d). Polyon treatments applied to the PD16 fairway and rough plots and WD5 fairway plots emitted a total of 2.8, 2.8 and 2.1 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, respectively; a 1.2, 1.1, and 0.6, % loss of total annul N applied at the three respective sites (Fig. 4a-c). The difference in emission factors between the PD16 and WD5 Polyon treated plots was from greater emissions (not significant) from PD16 plots, and greater emissions from the WD5 fairway Control plots (zero fertilizer). The Control WD5 plots emitted 1.2 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (last fertilized in 2011), whereas Control PD16 fairway plots had not been fertilized since 2010 and only emitted 0.9 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Cumulative emissions from the WD5 rough UMaxx and Polyon treated plots totaled 2.3 and 1.5 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, a 0.9 and 0.3% loss of total fertilizer applied (Fig. 4d), respectively, and were also statistically similar to other Polyon and Control treatment plots.

DISCUSSION

Soil N₂O Flux, Drainage, and WFPS

Nitrous oxide fluxes from this study responded similarly to other studies, with fluxes increasing upon fertilizer additions (Mosier et al., 1998), typically within days following applications (Goodroad and Keeney 1984; Veldkamp et al 1998; Dobbie et al., 1999; Akiyama et al., 2000; McTaggart et al., 2002), and were especially significant after summer fertilizer applications (Dobbie and Smith, 2002). Furthermore, soil structure and porosity created considerable differences in WFPS and soil nitrate concentrations between the poorly and well-drained sites (See Table 2). Soil drainage potentials as influenced by structure have a great deal

of influence on the soil moisture and soil nitrogen (Skiba and Ball, 2002). Therefore our data suggests that differences in soil drainage at the poorly and well-drained field sites also influenced N₂O emissions. Soil water content plays a significant role in soil N dynamics (Zhang et al., 2013). Lower soil nitrate concentrations at the WD5 sites indicate that low soil WFPS reduced nitrification rates (NH_4^+ to NO_3^-). Decreased soil water content slows N turn over in the soil by lowering ammonium diffusion rates (Mosier et al., 1991), and have important effects on microbial denitrification by limiting N substrate, a critical factor effecting soil N₂O emissions in the upper portion of the soil profile (Conen et al., 2000).

Soil structure has a major influence on soil WFPS and WFPS will differ in soils with different bulk density (Ball, 2013), with differences within soils typically caused by compaction (Bessou et al., 2010). There is a tightly coupled relationship between WFPS and N₂O emissions, and WFPS is one of the most important factors affecting soil N₂O efflux (Smith et al., 1998; Dobbie et al., 1999; Akiyama et al., 2000). Soil WFPS is often used as a proxy to gas diffusion rates (van der Weeden, et al., 2012), and is a common and widely used metric to investigate soil N₂O emissions (Baggs and Bateman, 2005; del Prado et al., 2006). Differences in soil bulk density that affects soil water status may also cause variation in the relationship between WFPS and N₂O emissions (Castellano, et al., 2010). Regression analysis showed there was a significant relationship between WFPS and N₂O flux for several of the golf course fertilizer treatments, but this relationship was typically more significant for UMaxx treatments than for Polyon treatments; this may be due to Polyon materials having a greater response to temperature than to soil water content.

The effects of soil WFPS between poorly and well-drained field sites was much more significant for UMaxx materials than for Polyon treatments, especially following the second

application fertilizer during the summer. During the summer, poorly-drained sites had high soil WFPS (>65%) that contributed to the rapid and episodic N₂O fluxes from UMaxx treatments after fertilizer additions. Nitrous oxide flux trends observed from UMaxx treatments during the summer fertilization period are indicative of denitrification, where large peak fluxes were followed by low background emissions. When soil WFPS reaches 60% soil microbial activity becomes anaerobic due to reduced soil oxygen levels (Linn and Dorn, 1984). Denitrification tends to produced greater but shorter lived N₂O fluxes because N substrate is depleted after large soil emissions (Skiba and Smith, 1999); these emissions typically return to background levels because environmental conditions aiding the denitrification process are not typically sustained for long periods of time (Akiyama et al., 2000; Skiba and Smith, 1999).

Polyon treatments were more resistant to rapid N₂O fluxes following summer fertilization soil WFPS was high and peak fluxes from PD16 Polyon treatments were 25 to 50 times lower compared to UMaxx treatments. Instead of rapid episodic peak fluxes followed by low background emissions, plots treated with Polyon were affected by smaller N₂O fluxes for longer period of time (several weeks), demonstrating a greater resistance to microbial denitrification through a more controlled release of urea. In general Polyon treatments were not significantly affected by soil drainage potentials at the two drainage sites and demonstrated a consistent release rates that reduced N₂O emissions. Our results are contrary to Akiyama et al. (2013), who observed high flux rates from polymer coated urea in an imperfectly drained rice field in Japan that was periodically saturated.

Soil WFPS at the WD5 fairway did not typically exceed 55% during the summer, helping to lower N_2O fluxes from UMaxx treatments by four and two fold compared to PD16 treated sites. Microbial denitrification was most likely negligible at the WD5 rough where soil WFPS

never exceeded 42%. In sufficiently aerated soils microbial nitrification is the dominant process (Robertson 1989; Mathieu et al., 2006). The WD5 rough was the one site where UMaxx and Polyon materials had comparable flux rates throughout the season. Low soil water content at the WD5 rough diminished peak fluxes from UMaxx treatments by 95% during summer fertilization compared to the poorly-drained rough. Our emission reduction calculations are double of those reported by Akiyama et al. (2000) who calculated a 54% reduction when soil WFPS at field plots was maintained at 35-50%. Compost applications to the WD5 rough increased emission from WD5 rough plots, but emissions were relatively low. As found by Oenema et al. (1997) manure additions create a non-limiting factor of soil mineral N once excreta is transformed to NH_4^+ , generating soil N₂O emissions.

Nitrous oxide emissions were very low for all treatments sites following the third fertilization in the fall of 2012, and as indicated by the low soil temperatures (below 10°C) turf was going into dormancy. Late fall application of Polyon materials to the PD16 fairway caused winter injury from this materials slow rate of diffusion, causing damage to tender green turf during winter conditions. UMaxx treated plots at this site were not damaged following the late fertilization timing and greater solubility likely prevented winter injury. The biggest concern regarding late fall fertilization to turfgrass is the increased risk of winter injury (Wilkinson and Diff, 1972). Miltner et al. (2004) and others (Koski and Street, 2010) recommend using a more soluble or quickly available form of fertilizer in the fall. Therefore it may be best to apply Polyon materials during early fall conditions. Furthermore, Baer et al. (2012) notes an importance difference between late fall and dormant fertilization, where late fall applications are intended for autumn turfgrass utilization, while dormant fertilization is meant for winter hardiness and spring green up. Therefore the final fall fertilization in this study may have been more effective in increasing winter hardiness, making UMaxx EENF a far better product for this application timing.

Cumulative N₂O emissions

Cumulative emissions from Polyon treated plots and fertilizer treatments applied to the WD5 rough are similar to N₂O emissions of 1.6 to 2.5 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ from other turfgrass studies (Kaye et al., 2004; Bremer, 2006; Groffman et al., 2009; Townsend-Small and Czimczik, 2010). Cumulative emissions from WD5 fairway UMaxx treatments are also similar to emissions reported by Guilbault and Matthias (1998) who measured 6.4 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ from a golf course fairway in Arizona after applying effluent water treatments. Cumulative emissions from poorly-drained UMaxx treatments far exceed those from other turfgrass N₂O emission studies. However the nearly 80% of total emissions following the spring and fall fertilizations were not markedly different from other treatments. Unlike, Dobbie and Smith (2002) who reported significant decreases in N₂O emissions from urea treatments that used nitrification and ureases inhibitors from grasslands that had high soil WPFS, golf course UMaxx treatments applied to nearly saturated soils were subject to rapid losses.

CONCLUSION

Our study demonstrates turfgrass systems managed at golf courses contribute to global N₂O emissions; however by applying fertilizer during cool periods or by increasing soil aeration during warm periods, N₂O emissions can be greatly decreased. We also found that soil drainage affected WFPS, soil nitrate concentration and therefore annual N₂O emissions. The greatest difference in emissions between poorly and well-drained sites was observed following summer

fertilization using UMaxx materials. Our research suggests that Polyon is a superior turfgrass product that restricts N_2O emissions during warm periods particularly when conditions favor microbial denitrification. Oppositely, UMaxx treatments were highly susceptible to losses during periods when soil was warm and wet, and may be a more appropriate fertilizer to apply during the late fall season when turf is going into dormancy, helping to promote spring green up and reduced risk of winter injury. In conclusion we emphasize the importance of selecting the most appropriate type of fertilizer to inhibit losses and maintain turf quality. Cultural management of turf that increases soil aeration, particularly irrigation management, is an important strategy to mitigate N_2O emissions, especially in poorly-drained areas of golf courses.

TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 5.1. Percent sand, silt and clay in the 0-10 cm of the soil profile for the poorly-drained (PD16) and well-drained (WD5) fairway, rough and native field plots.

Site	Sand	Silt	Clay
		%	
PD16	46	12	19
Fairway			
PD16 Rough	53	11	13
WD5	61	15	24
Fairway			
WD5 Rough	62	15	23

Table 5.2. Soil bulk density, pH, organic matter (OM), annual water filled pore space (WFPS), and soil nitrate (NO_3 -N) concentrations for the poorly-drained (PD16) and well-drained (WD5) fairway, rough and native field plots in the top 0-10cm of the soil profile.

Site	Bulk density	pН	SOC	WFPS	NO ₃ -N
	g cm ⁻³	paste	g kg ⁻¹ soil	%	mg kg ⁻¹
PD16	1.43	7.7	16.3	60	25.6
Fairway					
PD16 Rough	1.52	7.8	14.5	65	37.4
WD5 Fairway	1.10	7.1	19.5	50	10.5
WD5 Rough	1.09	7.2	17.2	40	7.5



Figure 5.1.a-d. Measured nitrous oxide fluxes from poorly drained (PD16) and well-drained (WD5) fairways from three treatments, UMaxx, Polyon, and the Control (zero fertilizer). Notice the scale difference and the breaks in scale on the vertical axis for N₂O flux in figures a and c. Soil nitrous oxide flux presented for each treatment is the average of three replications. Three fertilization dates (PD1, PD2, and PD3 and WD1, WD2 and WD3) are presented according to the day of year (DOY) in which they were applied. Soil water filled pore (WFPS) (left axis) and soil temperature (right axis) are presented for each day that soil N₂O flux was sampled.



Figure 5.2.a-d. Seasonal nitrous oxide fluxes from three treatments, UMaxx, Polyon, and the Control (zero fertilizer) from the PD16 and WD5 roughs. Notice the difference in scale and the break in scale on the vertical axis for N₂O in figure a. Soil nitrous oxide flux presented for each treatment is the average of three replications. Three fertilization dates (PD1, PD2, and PD3 and WD1, WD2 and WD3) are presented according to the day of year (DOY) in which they were applied. Soil water filled pore (WFPS) (left axis) and soil temperature (right axis) are presented for each day that N₂O fluxes were sampled.



Figure 5.3.a-m. Exponential regressions for nitrous oxide and soil temperature for UMaxx, Polyon and Control treatments from poorly- drained (PD16) and well-drained (WD5) fairways and roughs. Exponential equations for each treatment are presented for each treatment and temperature (T) is the independent variable. P-values are <0.0001 for all treatments presented. Notice the break in scale on fairway and PD16 UMaxx treatments. Values represented by open crosshairs circles were not used in the regression analysis but presented with data.



Figure 5.4. a-d. Annual cumulative nitrous oxide emissions in 2012-2013 from a poorly drained (PD16) and a well-drained (WD5) fairway and rough with two EENFs, UMaxx and Polyon, and one Control treatments. The three fertilizer applications (PD1, PD2, and PD3 or WD1, WD2, and WD3) to fairways and roughs are indicated by vertical dash lines. Percent of total fertilizer applied is presented for each treatment and letters indicate significant differences at P<0.05.

REFERENCES

- Akiyama, H., H. Tsuruta, and T. Watanabe. 2000. N₂O and NO emissions from soils after the application of different chemical fertilizers. Chemospher-Global Change Sci. 2:313-320.
- Akiyama, H., S. Morimoto, M. Hayatsu, A. Hayakawa, A. Sudo, and K. Yagi. 2012.
 Nitrification, ammonia oxidizing communities, and N₂O and CH₄ fluxes in an imperfectly drained agricultural file
- Ball, B.C., K.E. Dobbie, J.P. Parker and K.A. Smith. 1997. The influence of gas transport and porosity on methane oxidation in soils. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 102: 23301-23308.
- Ball, B.C., I. Crichton and G.W. Horgan. 2008. Dynamics of upward and downward N₂O and CO2 fluxes in ploughed or no-tilled soils in relation to water-filled pore space, compaction and crop presence. Soil and Tillage Res. 101: 20–30.
- Ball, B.C. 2013. Soil structure and greenhouse gas emissions: a synthesis of 20 years of experimentation. Euro. J. Soil Sci. 64: 357-373.
- Bandaranayake, W., Y.Qian, W.J. Parton, D.S. Ojima, and R.F. Follett. 2003. Estimation of soil organic carbon changes in turfgrass systems using the CENTURY model. Agron. J. 95: 558-563.
- Bartlett, M.D. and I.T. James. 2011. A model of greenhouse gas emission from the management of turf on two golf courses. Sci. of Total Environ. 409:1357-1367.
- Bateman, E.J. and E.M. Baggs.2005. Contributions of nitrification and denitrification to N2O emissions from soils at different water filled pore space. Biol. Fertil. Soils. 41:378-388.

- Bauer, S., D. Lloyd, B.P. Horgan and D.J. Soldat. 2012 Agronomic and physiological response of cool-season turfgrass to fall applied nitrogen. Crop Sci. 52:1-10.
- Beard, J.B. 1973. Turfgrass:Sceince and culture. Prentice Hall. Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- Bessou, C., B. Mary, J. Leonard, M Roussel, E. Gréhan, and B. Grabrielle. 2010. Modeling soil compaction impacts on nitrous oxide emission in arable fields. European J. of Soil Sci. 61:348-363.

Biran, I., B. Bravado, I. Bushkin-Harav, and E. Rawitz. 1981. Water consumption and growth rate of 11 turfgrasses as affected by mowing height, irrigation frequency, and soil moisture. Agron. J. 73:85-90.

- Blaylock, A.D. 2008. La Visión de las Empresas: Enhanced Efficiency Nitrogen Fertilizers. I Simposio de Nitrógeno. QUO VADIS - XVI Congreso de AAPRESID. 12-15 August 2008. Rosario, Argentina. p. 133-139.
- Bowman, D.C., J.L. paul, W.B. Davis and S.H. Nelson. 1989. Rapid depletion of nitrogen applied to Kentucky bluegrass turf. J. Am. Soc. Hortic. Sci. 144: 229-233.
- Bremer, D. 2006. Nitrous Oxide fluxes in turfgrass: Effects of nitrogen fertilization rates and types. J. of Environ. Qual. 35(5): 1678-1685.
- Bremer, D.J., J.M. Ham, C.E. Owensby, and A.K. Knapp. 1998. Response of soil respiration to clipping and grazing in a tallgrass prairie. J. Environ. Qual. 27, 1539–1548.
- Butterbach-Bahl, K., E.M. Baggs, M. Dannenmann, R. Kiese, and S. Zechmeister-Boltenstern. Nitrous oxide emissions from soils: how well do we understand the processes and their controls? Phil. Tans. R. Soc. B. 368.

- Castellano M.J., Schmidt J.P., Kaye J.P., C. Walker, Graham CB, Lin H, Dell CJ. 2010. Hydrological and biogeochemical controls on the timing and magnitude of nitrous oxide flux across an agricultural landscape. Global Change Biology 16: 2711–2720.
- Chapuis-Lardy, L., N. Wrage, A. Metay, J.-L. Chotte, and M. Bernoux. 2007. Soils, a sink for N₂O? A review. Glob Change Biol. 13:1-17.
- Clayton, H., I. McTaggart, J. Parker, L. Swan, and K. Smith. 1997. Nitrous oxide emissions form fertilized grasslands: A 2 year study on the effects of fertilizer form and environmental conditions. Biol. Fertil. Soils. 25:252-260.
- Conen, F., K.E. Dobbie, K.A. Smith. 2000. Predicting N2O emissions from agricultural land through related soil parameters. Global Change Biology. 6:417-426.
- Davidson, E.A. 1991. Fluxes of nitrous oxide and nitric oxide from terrestrial ecosystems. p.
 219–235. In: J.E. Rogers et al. (ed.) *Microbial production and consumption of* greenhouse gases: Methane, nitrogen oxides, and halomethanes. American Society of Microbiology, Washington, 219–235.
- Delgado, J. A. and A. R. Mosier. 1996. Mitigation alternatives to decrease nitrous oxide emissions and urea nitrogen loss and their effect on methane. J. Environ. Qual. 25: 1105-1111.
- Del Grosso, S.J., A. R. Mosier, W. J. Parton, and D. S. Ojima. 2005. DAYCENT model analysis of past and contemporary soil N2O and net greenhouse gas flux for major crops in the USA. Soil and Tillage. 83:9-24.

del Prado, A., P. Merino, J.M. Estavillo, M. Pinto, and C. González-Murua. 2006. N2O and No emission from different N sources and under a range of soil water contents. Nutrient Cycl. in Agroecosyt. 74:229-243.

Dernoeden, P.H., and J.D. Butler. 1978. Drought resistance of Kentucky bluegrass

cultivars. Hort. Sci. 13:667-668.

- Dobbie, K. E., I.P. McTaggart, and K.A. Smith. 1999. Nitrous oxide from intensive agricultural systems: variation between crops and seasons, key driving variables, and mean emission factors. J. Geophys. Res. 104(D21):26891-26899.
- Engelsjord, M.E., B.E. Branham and B.P. Horgan. 2004. The fate of nitrogen-15 ammonium sulfate applied to Kentucky bluegrass and perennial ryegrass. Crop Sci. 44:1341-1347.
- Follett, R.F., G.A.Varvel, J.M. Kimble, and K.P. Vogel. 2009. No-till corn after bromegrass: Effects on soil carbon and soil aggregates. Agron. J. 101: 261-268.
- Frank, A.B., M.A. Liebig, and J.D. Hanson. 2002. Soil carbon dioxide fluxes in northern semiarid grasslands. Soil Biol. And Biochem. 34: 1235-1241.
- Goodroad, L.L., and D.R. Keeney. 1984. Nitrous oxide emissions from soils during thawings. Can J. Soil Sci. 64: 187-194.
- Granli, T. and O.C. Bøckman. 1994. Nitrous oxide emissions from agriculture. Norwegian J. of Ag. Sci. 12:7-28.

- Gregorich, E.G., P. Rochette, D.W. Hopkins, U.F. McKim, and P. St-Georges. 2006. Tillageinduced environmental conditions in soil and substrate limitation determine biogenic gas production. Soil Biol. and Biochem. 38: 2614–2628.
- Groffman, P.M., 1991. Ecology of nitrification and denitrification in soil evaluated at scales relevant to atmospheric chemistry. In: Rogers, J.E., Whitman, W.B. (Eds.), Microbial Production and Consumption of Greenhouse Gases: Methane, Nitrogen Oxides and Halomethanes. Am. Soc. Microbiol., Washington, DC, pp. 201-217.
- Groffman, P., C.O. Willimas, R.V. Pouyat, L.E. Band, and I.D. Yesilonis. 2009. Nitrate leaching and nitrous oxide flux in urban forests and grasslands. J. Environ. Qual. 38: 1848-1860.
- Halvorson AD, S.J. Del Grosso, and F. Alluvione. 2010b. Tillage and inorganic nitrogen source effects on nitrous oxide emissions from irrigated cropping systems Soil Science Soc.
 America J. 74 2 436-45
- Halvorson, A.D., S.J. Del Grosso, and C.A. Reule. 2008. Nitrogen, tillage, and crop rotation effects on nitrous oxide emissions from irrigated cropping systems. J. Environ. Qual. 37:1337-1344.
- Horgan B.P., B.E. Braham, and R.L. Mulvaney. 2002. Mass balance of (15)N applied to Kentucky bluegrass including direct measurement of denitrification. Crop Sci.42(5): 1595-1601.

Huang, B. and J.D. Fry. 2008. Turfgrass evapotranspiration. J. Crop Production. 2(2): 317-333.

- Hull, R.J. and H. Liu. 2005. Turfgrass nitrogen: Physiology and environmental impacts. Int. Turfgrass Soc. Res. J. 10:962–975.
- Hutchinson, G.L. and A.R. Mosier. 1981. Improved soil cover and method for field measurements of nitrous oxide fluxes. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 45: 311-316

- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). 2006. In: Eggleston, H.S., L. Buendia, K. Miwa, T. Ngara, K. Tanabe (Eds.), 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, IGES, Hayama, Japan Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme.
- Kaye, J., I. Burke, A. Mosier, and J. Guerschman. 2004. Methane and nitrous oxide emissions form urban soils to the atmosphere. Ecolog. Apps. 14(4): 975-981
- Koski, A.J. and J.R. Street. 2010. Benefits of late fall. P. 1-2. *In* Turf Path. Progr. The Ohio State Univ., Columbus. 22 Oct, 2010. <u>http://turfdisease.osu.edu/turf-disease-updates/benefits-</u>late-fall-fertilization (verified 16 May, 2014).
- Leibig, M.A., J.R. Gross, S.L. Kronberg, R.L. Phillips, and J.D. Hanson. 2010. Grazing management contribution to net global warming potential: A long term evaluation in the northern Great Plains. J. Environ. Qual. 39: 799-809.
- Linn, D.M, and J.W. Doran. Effect of water-filled pore space on carbion dioxide and nitrous oxide production in tilled and nontilled soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 48:1267-1272.
- Livingston, G.P. and G.L. Hutchinson. 1995. Enclosure based measurements of trace gas exchange: Applications and sources of error. P. 14-51. *ln*. P.A. Matson and R.C. Harriss (ed) Biogenic trace gas emissions form soil and water. Blackwell Science, London.
- Maggiotto, S.R., J.A. Webb, C. Wagner-Riddle, and G.W. Thurtell. 2000. Nitrous and nitrogen oxide fro turfgrass receiving different forms of nitrogen fertilizer. J. of Environ. Qual. 19:621-630.

- Mathieu, O., C. Hénault, J. Lévêque, E. Baujard, M.-J. Milloux, F. Andreux. 2006. Quantifying the contribution of nitrification and denitrification to the nitrous oxide flux using ¹⁵N tracers. Environ. Poll. 144: 933-940.
- McTaggart, I.P., H. Akiyama, H. Tsuruta, B.C. Ba;; 2002. Influence of soil physical properties, fertilizer type and moisture tension on N2O and NO emissions fro mnearly saturated Japanese upland soils. Nutr. Cycleing Agroecost. 63: 207-217.
- Menéndez, S., P. Merino, M. Pinto, C. Gonazalez-Mura, and J.M, Estavillo. 2009. Effect of N-(n-butyl) thiophosphoric triamide and 3,4 dimethylpyrazole phosphate on gaseous emissions from grasslands under different soil water contents. J. Environ. Qual. 38:27-35.
- Milesi, C., S. Running, J. Dietz, B. Tuttle and R. Nemani. 2005. Mapping and modeling the biogeochemical cycling of turfgrass in the United States. Environ. Magmt. 36:426-438
- Miltner, E.D., G.K. Stahnke, W.J. Johnston, and C.T. Golob. 2004. Late fall and winter nitrogen fertilization of turfgrass in two Northwest locations. Hort. Sci. 39(7): 1745-1749.
- Mosier A.R., D. Schimel, D. Valentine, K. Bronson and W.J. parton. 1991. Methane and nitrous oxide in native, fertilized and cultivated grasslands. Nature. 350:330-332.
- Mosier, A. R., D.W. Valentine, W. J. Parton, D.S. Ojima, D.S. Schimel, and J.A. Delgado.1996 CH4 and N2O fluxes in the Colorado shortgrass steppe: I. Impact of landscape and nitrogen addition, Global Biogeochem. Cycles, 10: 387–399.
- Mosier, A.R., C. Kroeze, C. Nevison, O. Oneama, S. Seitzinger, and O. van Kleemput. 1998. Closing the global atmospheric N2O budget: Nitrou oxide emissions through the agriculture nitrogen cycle. Nutr. Cycling Agroecossyt. 52:225-248.

- Mosier, A.R., Halvorson A.D., A.D. Reule, and X.J. Liu. 2006. Net global warming potential and greenhouse gas intensity in irrigated cropping systems in northeastern Colorado. J. Environ. 35: 1584-1598.
- Muñoz, C., L. Paulino, C. Monreal, and E. Zagal. 2010. Greenhouse gas (CO2 and N2O) emissions from soils: a review. Chilean J. Ag. Res. 70(3):485-497.
- Olson-Kruz, K., C. Jones and C. Dinkins. 2009. Enhanced efficiency fertilizers. EB0188. Montana, State Univ. Extension, Bozeman.
- Parkin, T. B. and R. T. Venterea. 2010. Chamber-based trace gas flux measurements. P 3-1-3-9. *In* R.F. Follett (ed) GRACEnet sampling protocols. Available at <u>www.ars.usda.gov/research/GRACEnet</u> (verified 15, January, 2013).
- Petrovic, A.M. 1990. The fate of nitrogenous fertilizers applied to turfgrass. J. Environ. Qual. 19:124-130.
- Pouyat, R.V., I.D. Yesilonis, and N.E. Golubweiski. 2009. A comparison of soil organic carbon stocks between residential turfgrass and native soils. Urban Ecosyst. 12:45-62.
- Qian Y. and R. F Follett. 2002. Assessing the carbon sequestration in turfgrass systems using long term soil testing data. Agron. J. 94: 930-935.
- Racitti, S.M., P.M Groffman, and T.J. Faye. 2008. Nitrogen in urban lawns and forests. Ecological Apps. 18(7): 1615-1625.
- Raich, J.W. and W.H. Schlesinger. 1992. The global carbon dioxide flux in sil respiration and it relationship to vegetation and climate. Tellus. 44B: 81-99.

- Ravishankara A.R., J.S. Daniel and R.W. Portmann. 2009. Nitrous oxide (N2O): the dominant ozone-depleting substance emitted in the 21st century. Science 326: 123–25.
- Ryan, M.G. and B.E. Law. 2005. Interpreting, measuring, and modeling soil respiration. Biogeochemistry. 73:3-27.
- Skiba and Ball. 2002. The effect of soil texture and soil drainage on emission of nitric oxide and nitrous oxide. Soil use and Managemnt. 18: 56-60.
- Skiba U. and Smith, K. 2000. The control of nitrous oxide emissions from agriculture and natural sources. Chemosphere- Global Change Science 2. 379-386.
- Sitaula, B.K., S. Hansen, J.I.B. Sitaula, and L.R. bakken. 2000. Effects of soil compaction on N2O emission in agricultural soil. Chemosphere-Global Change Si. 2:367-371.
- Smith, K.A., P.E. Thomas, H. Clayton, I.P. McTaggart, F. Conen. 1998. Effect of temperature, water content and nitrogen fertilization on emissions of nitrous oxides by soils. Atmo. Environ. 30(19): 3301-3309.
- Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Avery, M. Tignor, and H.L.
 Miller (eds) (2007) Climate Change 2007: The physical science basis, contribution of working group I to the fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, accessed at www.ipcc.ch

Soilquality.org.au. Total organic carbon. http://soilquality.org.au/factsheets/organic-carbon. Viewed on Aug. 28, 2014.

- Stevens, R.J., R.J Laughlin, L.C. Burns, R.R.M. Arah, R.C. Hood. 1997. Measuring the contributions of nitrification and denitrification to the flux of nitrous oxide from the soil.Soil Biiol. Biochem. 29:139-151
- Syakila A. and C. Koeze. 2011. The global nitrous oxide budget revisited. Greenhouse gas Measurement and Mgmt. 1: 17-26. doi:10.3763/ghgmm.2010.0007
- Townsend-Small, A. and C.I. Czimczik. 2010. Carbon sequestration and greenhouse gas emissions in urban turf. Geophys. Res. Letter. 37:1-5.
- U.S. EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency). 2011. Inventory of US greenhouse gas emission and sinks: 1990-2009. Washington, DC,: US EPA.
 www.Epa.gov/climatechange/emissions/usinventory report.html. Viewed February 2013
- Qian Y. and R.F. Follett. 2002. Assessing the carbon sequestration in turfgrass systems using long term soil testing data. Agron. J. 94: 930-935
- Wilkinson, J.F. and D.T. Duff. 1972. Effects of fall fertilization on cold resistance, color and growth of Kentucky blugrass. Agron. J. 64:345-348.
- Van der Weeden, T., F. M. Kelliher, and C.A.M. de Klein. 2012. Indfluence of pore size distribution and soil water content on nitrous oxide emissions. Soil Res. 50: 125-135.
- Veldkamp E, M. Keller, M. Nuñez. 1998 .Effects of pasture management on N₂O and NO emissions from soils in the humid tropics of Costa Rica. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 12: 7 1–7 9.
- Velhof, G.L., J.W. van Groenigen, G. Gebauer, S. Pietrzak, S.C. Jarvis, M. Pinto, M. Corré, O. Oenema. 2000. Temproral stability of spatial patterns of nitrogen oxide fluxes from sloping grassland. J. Environ. Qual. 29:1397-1407.

- Zhang, Y., Y. Qian, B. Mecham and W.J. Parton. 2013. Development of best turfgrass management practices using the DAYCENT model. Agron. J. 105(4):1151-1159.
- Zirkle, G., L. Rattan and B. Augustin. 2011 Modeling carbon sequestration in home lawns. Hort Sci. 46(5): 808-814.